André-Quillen Homology of Global Power Functors and Ultra-Commutative Ring Spectra

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

> vorgelegt von MICHAEL STAHLHAUER

> > aus Coesfeld

Bonn, Oktober 2022

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Stefan Schwede Gutachter: Ass. Prof. Dr. Markus Hausmann

Tag der Promotion: 21.12.2022 Erscheinungsjahr: 2023

Abstract

In this dissertation, we study multiplications in globally equivariant stable homotopy theory. Concretely, this means studying ultra-commutative ring spectra, which encode a rich multiplicative structure on a family of compatible equivariant homotopy types for all compact Lie groups. The associated algebraic structure is that of a global power functor. This structure formalizes a collection of compatible G-Tambara functors for all compact Lie groups G, encoding the norms present in the homotopy groups of an ultra-commutative ring spectrum. These norms are alternatively encoded as power operations, facilitating the calculations.

The main tool we introduce to study these multiplicative structures is globally equivariant André-Quillen theory. This is a generalization of the cohomology theory introduced independently by André and Quillen in 1967 for commutative rings, and the corresponding topological André-Quillen cohomology for commutative ring spectra by Basterra. This cohomology theory is well-adapted to the study of multiplicative structures, and it is able to detect interesting properties of commutative algebras, like smoothness and étaleness. Moreover, the topological André-Quillen theory has proven to be very useful in the construction of obstruction theories for commutative ring spectra.

In the construction of the globally equivariant generalization of algebraic André-Quillen cohomology, a main aspect is the handling of the power operations. This is mainly done by considering the power operations as a twisted version of the usual power $x \mapsto x^n$, and adapting the classical formulas accordingly. As the André-Quillen cohomology is a non-abelian derived functor of derivations, and the homology is a derived functor of the Kähler differentials, we first introduce derivations and Kähler differentials of global power algebras. Moreover, we study the related notion of square-zero extensions. For the derivations, the new aspect is a twisted version of the Leibniz rule for the derivation of a power operation.

From the definition of derivation and Kähler differentials, we obtain André-Quillen cohomology and homology by resolving global power algebras by simplicial polynomial algebras, and applying the described functors. We observe that also this global version of André-Quillen cohomology is well-suited to detect properties like smoothness and étaleness of global power algebras, and can be used to study extensions. The low-dimensional groups can efficiently be calculated by a short naive cotangent complex. However, the categories of global functors and modules over a global power functor exhibit homological anomalies, such as the phenomenon that projective objects do not need to be flat. This leads to the failure of a long exact cohomology sequence beyond degree n = 1.

We emphasize which kind of modules we use for this thesis: Classically, the definitions of modules as objects with an action or as abelian group objects in a category of augmented algebras coincide. However, Strickland has shown that these two notions define different structures in an equivariant setting by defining an abelian group object that does not come from a module. We study an example of this phenomenon extended to the globally equivariant context, and show that it arises as a free abelian group object. Moreover, we discuss an approach followed by Hill to resolve this discrepancy by studying global functor objects instead of abelian group objects. For the main part of this thesis, we use the usual definition of modules as global functors with an action by the global power functor. This definition in fact does not depend on the power operations of the global power functor.

Finally, we also consider topological André-Quillen homology and cohomology for ultracommutative ring spectra. This is an interesting topic, as we expect this to give rise to an obstruction theory for such ring spectra. As an ultra-commutative ring spectrum is a very rich type of structure, this obstruction theory would be desirable to provide more examples. We lay the foundation for such a theory by providing an André-Quillen homology and cohomology. This starts by a technical consideration of model categories of modules, algebras and non-unital algebras over such ultra-commutative algebras. We show that the commutative monoid axiom of White allows one to put a model category structure on non-unital commutative monoids in a general model category, and then use this as an intermediate step to build topological André-Quillen objects in general model categories.

When we specialize to ultra-commutative ring spectra, we obtain a generalization of the topological André-Quillen cohomology for commutative ring spectra of Basterra. We show that this comes equipped with a transitivity long exact sequence, which distinguishes the topological from the algebraic situation, where such a sequence does not exist. Moreover, as a first step into a usage of this theory for obstruction theory, we build Postnikov towers of ultra-commutative ring spectra using André-Quillen cohomology.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my advisor Stefan Schwede for providing guidance and support throughout my academic life. I had the privilege to learn from and work with him for many years, and I profited greatly from his advice. He introduced me into the realm of equivariant homotopy theory and suggested the fascinating world of commutative ring spectra as a research topic, which stayed with me since my Master's thesis. Finally, I greatly appreciate the freedom I had in my research, which allowed me to make this project my project.

Moreover, I would like to thank our working group at the university. The many discussions and talks helped understanding all the details of my project, and the interest and the critical questions created a perfect atmosphere. Special thanks to Bastiaan Cnossen for organizing our research seminar and bringing us back together after a period of isolation. Furthermore, I thank Markus Hausmann for always being interested in my research, being supportive, taking time for valuable discussions, and agreeing to be part of the thesis committee.

Many thanks to J.D. Quigley and David Mehrle for organizing the eCHT-seminar on Equivariant Algebra in the Spring 2021 (together with Sarah Petersen) and for our collaboration that originated there. I took a lot of inspiration from our discussions for my own algebraic research, and enjoy being part of this collaboration. I also thank Tobias Lenz for our collaboration on global stabilization, which links our projects together and provided the framework for many interesting discussions.

I am grateful for the many comments and suggestions made by Bastiaan Chossen, Sil Linskens and Simon Stahlhauer after proofreading my thesis. Many a clarifying remark owes its existence to their effort.

My research was financially supported by the DFG under the SPP 1786 "Homotopy Theory and Algebraic Geometry" and by the Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik Bonn. During my time as a PhD-student, I was Associate Member of the Hausdorff Center for Mathematics at the University of Bonn.

Finally I thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement. This dissertation would not have been possible without them. Most of all, I thank Anna for always being there for me and believing in me.

Contents

Contents 7					
Introduction 9					
1	And	lré-Quillen (Co-)Homology of Global Power Functors	17		
	1.1	Global Functors, Global Power Functors, Modules and Algebras	18		
		1.1.a Recollections on Global Functors and Global Power Functors	19		
		1.1.b Modules and Algebras over Global Power Functors	27		
	1.2	Square-Zero Extensions, Derivations and Kähler Differentials	30		
		1.2.a Square-Zero Extensions of Global Power Functors	31		
		1.2.b Derivations of Global Power Functors	37		
		1.2.c Kähler Differentials of Global Power Functors	39		
		1.2.d Base Change and Transitivity	46		
	1.3	The Comparison to Beck Modules	48		
		1.3.a Abelian Group Objects that are not Modules	49		
		1.3.b Modules as Global Functor Objects	55		
	1.4	Extensions of Global Power Algebras	62		
		1.4.a Infinitesimal Extensions of Global Power Algebras	62		
		1.4.b Characterizing Smooth, Unramified and Étale Global Power Algebras	70		
	1.5	André-Quillen (Co-)Homology	72		
		1.5.a Definition of the (Co-)Homology	73		
		1.5.b Identification of the Low-Degree Terms	76		
		1.5.c The Naive Cotangent Complex	80		
		1.5.d Failure of Transitivity and Base Change	84		
2	ological André-Quillen (Co-)Homology of Ultra-Commutative Ring Spec-				
	\mathbf{tra}		91		
	2.1	André-Quillen Homology in Abstract Model Categories	92		
		2.1.a Construction of the Cotangent Complex	92		
		2.1.b The Transitivity Sequence	98		
	2.2	Topological André-Quillen Homology for Ultra-Commutative Ring Spectra	101		
		2.2.a Construction and Basic Properties of Topological André-Quillen Homology	101		
		2.2.b A Hurewicz Theorem for Topological André-Quillen Homology	102		
		2.2.c Postnikov Towers of Ultra-Commutative Ring Spectra	103		
\mathbf{A}	Syn	nmetric Groups and Wreath Products	107		
	A.1	Definition of the Wreath Product	107		
	A.2	Polynomial Global Power Functors and Conjugacy Classes in Wreath Products .	109		

CONTENTS

\mathbf{B}	Model Categories of Non-Unital Commutative Monoids	113
	B.1 The Commutative Monoid Axiom and General Lifting Results	113
	B.2 Non-Unital Commutative Monoids	115
Bi	Bibliography	

Introduction

Motivation In algebraic topology, we exploit algebraic invariants of topological objects in order to extract more information of the objects of study. Classical invariants are homology and cohomology theories as well as homotopy groups. An invariant is more useful the more structure it comes endowed with. One of the first instances of such an additional structure is the cup product on singular cohomology with ring coefficients, which allows to distinguish more spaces (like $\mathbb{C}P^2$ and $S^2 \vee S^4$, leading to the conclusion that the Hopf map $\eta: S^3 \to S^2$ is not null-homotopic). This also allows to formulate structural results like Poincaré duality. When we endow singular cohomology with even more structure, it becomes an even more useful invariant. For example, the Steenrod squares on singular cohomology with \mathbb{F}_2 -coefficients can be used to show that even the suspension of the Hopf map is not null-homotopic, yielding the calculation of the first stable homotopy group of spheres as $\pi_1^{\text{stable}}(\mathbb{S}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2$. Furthermore, calculations over the Steenrod algebra are a key part in analyzing the Adams spectral sequence.

Both the cup product and the Steenrod operations come from a multiplicative structure on the representing spectrum $H\mathbb{F}_2$ for singular cohomology. Such multiplicative structures come in different variants and strengths. The weakest multiplicative structure is that of a commutative ring spectrum in the homotopy category of spectra. Such a structure induces a multiplication on the represented cohomology, but no further structure. The richest structure is that of an E_{∞} -ring spectrum. Those spectra support power operations on the represented cohomology and also on their homotopy groups. In modern homotopy theory, E_{∞} -ring spectra have become an important object of study, and hence it is important to be able to detect such structures and endow spectra with E_{∞} -multiplications.

In some cases, putting a structured multiplication on spectra is easy, for example Eilenberg-MacLane spectra for rings carry E_{∞} -multiplications obtained by their functoriality. In other cases, the existence of multiplications can be a subtle question. For instance on Moore spectra, the observations that S/2 does not support a unital multiplication, S/3 does not support an associative multiplication and more generally, S/p supports an A_p , but not an A_{p+1} -multiplication, emphasize that structured multiplications can be hard to come by. The non-existence of a unital multiplication on S/2 can be shown by analyzing Steenrod squares [4, Theorem 1.1], and for the multiplications on S/p for $p \geq 3$ one uses (generalized) Toda brackets [3, Example 3.3]. Further non-existence results can be obtained by studying the power operations induced by hypothetical E_{∞} -ring structures. This approach is utilized by Lawson and Senger to show that the Brown-Peterson spectra BP do not support E_{∞} -structures [40, 57].

In order to endow spectra with structured multiplication, a useful tool is obstruction theory. The idea of obstruction theory is to start with a multiplicative structure on an algebraic invariant associated to a spectrum, and then to lift this structure to a multiplication of the spectrum itself. This process aims to iteratively construct approximations to the spectrum in question, with these approximations carrying the desired structure. Whether the construction of the next approximation from the last is possible is governed by an obstruction, an element in an algebraically defined obstruction group, which has to vanish in order to perform the new approximation step. If all obstructions vanish, then the spectrum can be endowed with the desired structure. For commutative ring spectra, the first such obstruction theory was introduced in unpublished work by Kriz [39], who tried to use Postnikov towers of ring spectra in order to show that BP is a commutative ring spectrum. This approach was later carried out formally by Basterra and Mandell in [12], who show that BP can be given an E_4 -multiplication. Another successful obstruction theory was introduced by Goerss and Hopkins [26], who utilized this theory to show that the Morava E-theory spectra carry a unique E_{∞} -ring structure. This obstruction theory was also successfully generalized to other contexts, most recently by Patchkoria and Pstragowski [51, 50] in order to prove Franke's algebraicity conjecture, and by Burklund [20] to show that Moore spectra \mathbb{S}/p^k indeed posses E_n -structures for sufficiently large k. Thus, we see that obstruction theory is an important tool for studying commutative ring spectra.

Another branch of homotopy theory that recently receives attention is equivariant homotopy theory. Equivariant homotopy theory aims at incorporating symmetries of topological objects into their study. These symmetries are encoded as group actions. Many homotopy theoretic objects come equipped with natural group actions, which makes equivariant methods an important topic of research. Also for non-equivariant problems, taking an equivariant perspective can prove fruitful. This has been illustrated most prominently in the solution of the Kervaire invariant one problem by Hill-Hopkins-Ravenel [29]. In that work, equivariant commutative ring spectra are used, which posses a very rich structure. In addition to the usual multiplication, they also come endowed with so-called norm maps, which can be thought of as products twisted by the group action.

Often, equivariant phenomena occur not only for one fixed group, but work uniformly for a whole family of groups. Such phenomena are studied by global homotopy theory. This approach has been formalized recently by Schwede [55], using orthogonal spectra to model global homotopy types. The approach to study different group actions simultaneously can lead to better structural properties of the involved objects and hence simplify the analysis considerably. For example, Hausmann [28] was able to use this global perspective to solve a long-standing conjecture about an equivariant generalization of Quillen's theorem, identifying equivariant complex bordism with the equivariant Lazard ring, which carries the universal formal group law.

One aim of this dissertation is to bring together these fields of homotopy theory and to study globally equivariant commutative ring spectra. These are a very rich type of structured ring spectra, coming endowed with norm maps for all groups simultaneously. To emphasize this rich structure, Schwede calls these "ultra-commutative ring spectra" in [55], and we follow that terminology here. In particular, we want to be able to put such commutative ring spectrum structures on global spectra. In [55], Schwede constructs global versions of K-theory and Thom spectra and studies ultra-commutative ring structures on these. This can be done by exhibiting explicit models of these as orthogonal spectra and specifying point-set multiplications. On the other hand, in previous work [61], I studied G_{∞} -multiplications on global Moore spectra. A G_{∞} -structure is an up-to-homotopy version of an ultra-commutative ring spectrum that also induces power operations on the homotopy groups of such a ring spectrum. It is a global version of the notion of H_{∞} -ring spectra as studied in [19]. I identified G_{∞} -ring structures on Moore spectra with the presence of power operations on the underlying commutative ring, and related this algebraic structure to that of a β -ring. In particular, this shows that classical examples like S/2 or S[i], the Moore spectra for $\mathbb{Z}/2$ and the Gaussian integers $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ respectively, do not support G_{∞} -ring structures, whereas for example the Moore spectrum for $\mathbb{Z}[i, \frac{1}{2}]$ does posses a G_{∞} -structure.

To further understand the structure of ultra-commutative ring spectra, and to exhibit more examples, an obstruction theory for ultra-commutative ring spectra is desirable. A main step in

INTRODUCTION

building an obstruction theory for any topological structure is to choose an appropriate cohomology theory for the obstructions to take values in. This cohomology theory should reflect the type of structure we are trying to detect. Classically, in the case of commutative ring spectra, the cohomology theory of choice is topological André-Quillen cohomology. As mentioned before, this cohomology theory was used by Basterra-Mandell [12] and Goerss-Hopkins [26] to construct multiplications on BP and Morava E-theory, respectively.

Topological André-Quillen cohomology has its origins in (algebraic) André-Quillen cohomology, a cohomology theory for commutative rings. The latter was introduced and studied independently by André and Quillen [1, 2, 52, 53]. This cohomology theory can detect useful properties of commutative rings, like being smooth or étale, and classifies extensions of commutative algebras. This makes it an apt choice for a cohomology theory for commutative rings. For this reason, our first objective in this dissertation is to generalize André-Quillen cohomology to global power functors, which are the globally equivariant analogues of commutative rings. As mentioned, the homotopy groups and cohomology groups arising from an ultra-commutative ring spectrum come equipped with norms, equivalently encoded as power operations, and the algebraic structure encoding such power operations is called a global power functor. After studying this André-Quillen cohomology for global power functors, we introduce topological André-Quillen cohomology for ultra-commutative ring spectra, and use it to build Postnikov towers of ultra-commutative ring spectra.

Results In the first part of the dissertation, we study algebraic André-Quillen cohomology of global power functors. Global power functors are the analogue of commutative rings in the context of globally equivariant algebra, incorporating power operations. They are a generalization of Tambara functors introduced in [63] for a fixed group G, and were considered in different forms in [65, 18, 24, 55]. An interesting feature that distinguishes the theory of global power functors (and similarly the theory of Tambara functors) from the situation for commutative rings is that they are not monoid objects for a symmetric monoidal structure on the category of global functors, the global analogue of abelian groups. The difference is exactly described by the presence of power operations. Hence, a sensible generalization of André-Quillen cohomology specifically needs to take these power operations into account.

André-Quillen cohomology is a non-abelian derived functor of derivations, and the corresponding homology theory is a derived functor of Kähler differentials. Hence, the first step to generalize these theories to global power functors is to define derivations and Kähler differentials in this context. Both of these notions are moreover closely connected to square-zero extensions of a global power functor R by an R-module M. In defining these notions, we mimic the classical definitions from the case of commutative rings, and additionally have to handle the power operations. We generally work relatively to a base global power functor, introducing the notion of global power algebras and augmented global power algebras.

Definition (Construction 1.2.1 and Definitions 1.2.8 and 1.2.12). Let R be a global power functor, S be a global R-algebra and M be an S-module. The square-zero extension $S \ltimes M$ is a global power functor with power operations defined by

$$P^m(s,m) = (P^m(s), \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{m-1} \wr G) \times G}^{\Sigma_m \wr G}(P^{m-1}(s) \times m)).$$

This is a global R-algebra with an augmentation map to S.

An *R*-derivation is a morphism $d: S \to M$ of *R*-modules satisfying the usual Leibniz rule as well as the twisted Leibniz rule

$$d(P^m(s)) = \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{m-1} \wr G) \times G}^{\Sigma_m \wr G}(P^{m-1}(s) \times d(s))$$

for power operations. This forms a functor Der: $Mod_S \to Ab$.

The module of Kähler differentials Ω^1 is a representing module for the functor Der, is *R*-linear derivations from *S* to *M* correspond to morphisms $\Omega^1_{S/R} \to M$ of *S*-modules.

These constructions are linked in the usual way.

Theorem (Theorems 1.2.7 and 1.2.11). Let R be a global power functor, S be an R-algebra and M be an S-module. There is a chain of natural isomorphisms

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(\Omega^{1}_{S/R}, M) \cong \operatorname{Der}_{R}(S, M) \cong \operatorname{Alg}_{R}/S(S, S \ltimes M)$

In the theory of commutative rings, a key observation for the definition of André-Quillen homology is that R-modules can be identified as abelian group objects in the category of augmented R-algebras. In this way, André-Quillen homology is an instance of the slogan "Homology is a derived abelianization" that also applies to singular homology and can be seen in [52, Chapter II.5]. Strickland [62] gives an example that this is no longer the case for $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -Tambara functors. In this work, we upgrade this to an example of an abelian group object in augmented global power algebras that does not arise from a square-zero extension of a module. This can be detected from the non-vanishing of the power operations on the kernel of the augmentation map. Our example improves upon Strickland's example in a number of ways: we show that it is freely generated by a single element as an abelian group object, our example is defined over the Burnside ring global power functor \mathbb{A} instead of the constant global power functor \mathbb{Z} , and this example persists after rationalization.

Example (Proposition 1.3.4). A naive module of Kähler differentials for a polynomial algebra $R[x_G]$ defines the free abelian group object in augmented *R*-algebras. This abelian group object has non-trivial norms on the kernel of the augmentation ideal and hence does not arise as the square-zero extension of an *R*-module.

Based on work of Hill [30], we conjecture an alternative description of modules via global functor objects in augmented algebras. The definition of global functor objects is given in Definition 1.3.18.

Conjecture (Conjecture 1.3.21). Let S be a global power functor. Then the square-zero extension functor

$$S \ltimes _: \operatorname{Mod}_S \to \mathcal{GF}(\operatorname{Alg}_S / S)$$

is an equivalence between S-modules and global functor objects in augmented S-power algebras.

Having defined derivations and Kähler differentials, we derive these functors in order to define André-Quillen homology and cohomology groups. This can be done since the category of global power functors satisfies the properties needed in order to admit well-behaved non-abelian derived functors, as exhibited by Quillen in [52, 53]. This derivation procedure works by using polynomial resolutions of global power algebras.

Definition (Definition 1.5.6). Let R be a global power functor and S be a global R-power algebra. A simplicial polynomial resolution of S as an R-power algebra is a simplicial R-power algebra P_{\bullet} with an augmentation $\varepsilon \colon P_{\bullet} \to S$, such that ε is a weak equivalence of simplicial R-power algebras, each P_n is a polynomial R-algebra and the degeneracies send generators to generators.

Let now $P_{\bullet} \to S$ be a simplicial polynomial resolution of S over R and M be an S-module. The André-Quillen cohomology of S over R is defined as $D^q(S, R, M) = H^q(\text{Der}_R(P_{\bullet}, M))$.

The André-Quillen homology of S over R is defined as $D_q(S, R, M) = H_q(S \square_{P_{\bullet}} \Omega^1_{P_{\bullet}/R}).$

INTRODUCTION

This cohomology in fact can detect properties of global power algebras.

Theorem (Proposition 1.5.14 and Definition 1.4.1). Let R be a global power functor and S be a global R-power algebra, and let M be an S-module. Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$D^1(S, R, M) \cong \operatorname{Exalcomm}_R(S, M),$$

where $\operatorname{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$ classifies R-power algebra extensions of S by M, ie exact sequences $0 \to M \to E \to S \to 0$, where M is square-zero in E.

The term Exalcomm was introduced by Grothendieck in [27, §18] and is an abbreviation for the french "Extensions des algèbres commutatives".

Theorem (Proposition 1.4.15). Let R be a global power functor and S be a global R-power algebra. Then S is formally smooth over R if and only if for all S-modules M, the first cohomology $D^1(S, R, M)$ vanishes. Moreover, S is formally unramified over R if and only if for all S-modules M, the zeroth cohomology $S^0(S, R, M)$ vanishes, and it is formally étale if and only if both the zeroth and the first cohomology with arbitrary coefficients vanish.

In fact, the low-dimensional terms can be computed explicitly by means of a naive cotangent complex, constructed in Construction 1.5.17. For a global power functor R and an R-power algebra S, this takes the form

$$\mathbb{L}_{S/P/R}^{\text{naive}} = I/I^{\geq 2} \to \Omega_{P/R}^{1} \Box_{P} S_{2}$$

where $P \to S$ is a surjection of global *R*-power algebras with *P* a polynomial *R*-power algebra, and where $I = \ker(P \to S)$. The choice of *P* does not influence the (co-)homology of this complex up to isomorphism.

Theorem (Proposition 1.5.21). Let R be a global power functor and S be a global R-power algebra. Then the cohomology groups $D^0(S, R, M)$ and $D^1(S, R, M)$ can be calculated as

$$D^0(S, R, M) \cong H^0(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/R}^{\text{naive}})$$
 and $D^1(S, R, M) \cong H^1(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/R}^{\text{naive}}).$

These results suggest that this global André-Quillen cohomology is a useful theory for the study of global power functors. However, homological anomalies present in the category of global functors and inherited by *R*-modules, as explained in [44], imply that the transitivity and base change results for classical André-Quillen cohomology do not carry over to the global setting.

Proposition (Theorem 1.5.27). Global André-Quillen cohomology does not satisfy base change, and the transitivity sequence is not exact for general global power algebras.

This result is obtained from explicit calculations using the naive cotangent complex, further highlighting the utility of an explicit calculational tool.

After setting up the algebraic André-Quillen theory, we pass to topological André-Quillen homology, a theory for ultra-commutative ring spectra. We follow the approach by Basterra in [10] and define this homology theory as the derived functor of Kähler differentials, mimicking the algebraic construction. In order to make the derived functors precise, we use model categorical techniques. For this, we use the (positive) global model categories on orthogonal spectra and orthogonal commutative ring spectra introduced in [55], and extend this by a model structure on non-unital ultra-commutative ring spectra. We denote the category of non-unital S-algebras by Alg_S^+ . The definition proceeds in the following steps:

Proposition (Propositions 2.1.3 and 2.1.6). Let R be an ultra-commutative ring spectrum, and S be an R-algebra spectrum. The sequence

$$\operatorname{Alg}_R/S \xleftarrow{S \wedge_R}{} \operatorname{Alg}_S/S \xleftarrow{K}{} \operatorname{Alg}_S^+ \xleftarrow{Q}{} \operatorname{Mod}_S$$

consists of Quillen adjunctions, with left adjoints on the top. Here, I assigns to an augmented S-algebra the fibre of the augmentation morphism, and K takes a non-unital S-algebra M to the extension $S \vee M$. The functor Q takes the module of indecomposables, by forming the cofiber of the multiplication map $N \wedge_S N \to N$ for a non-unital commutative S-algebra N, and Z endows a module with the zero-multiplication.

Definition (Definitions 2.1.7, 2.1.9 and 2.2.2). Let R be an ultra-commutative ring spectrum and S be a commutative R-algebra. We define the cotangent complex of S over R to be

$$\Omega_{S/R} = (\mathbf{L}Q)(\mathbf{R}I)(S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} S).$$

We call the homology and cohomology theories represented by this S-module spectrum topological André-Quillen (co-)homology.

This definition comes with the desirable properties of a cohomology theory, in that it has cofiber sequences and also satisfies base change. We highlight the transitivity cofiber sequence here.

Theorem (Theorem 2.1.20). Let $R \to S \to T$ be a sequence of ultra-commutative ring spectra. Then we have a cofibre sequence

$$\Omega_{S/R} \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T \to \Omega_{T/R} \to \Omega_{T/S}$$

of T-module spectra.

These properties are not satisfied by the algebraic theory, as highlighted before. This suggests that we might also study topological André-Quillen cohomology for global power functors by considering Eilenberg-MacLane ring spectra. This may give a better-behaved theory, in exchange for more complicated calculations.

We end this dissertation by giving a first application of our global topological André-Quillen cohomology and construct Postnikov towers for ultra-commutative ring spectra.

Theorem (Theorem 2.2.9). Let R be a connective ultra-commutative ring spectrum. Then there is a sequence R_0, \ldots, R_n, \ldots of commutative R-algebras, equipped with maps $R_{n+1} \to R_n$ of commutative R-algebras, and elements $k_n \in TAQ_e^{n+2}(R_n, R; H_{\underline{\pi}_{n+1}}(R))$, such that the following properties are satisfied:

- i) $R_0 \cong H\underline{\pi}_0(R)$, and R_n is extended from R_{n-1} using k_{n-1} ,
- ii) $\underline{\pi}_k(R_n) = 0$ for k > n,
- iii) the unit maps $\eta_n \colon R \to R_n$ are (n+1)-equivalences.

The k-invariants k_n are lifts of the k-invariants for the Postnikov tower of R as a global spectrum.

INTRODUCTION

Organization This dissertation is organized in two parts: in Chapter 1, we study the algebraic André-Quillen homology and cohomology of global power functors. We start in Section 1.1 with a recollection of the notions of global functors and global power functors, and discuss which notion of R-modules for a global power functor R we consider. We also introduce global power algebras here, and define polynomial algebras. After this, we introduce square-zero extensions, derivations and Kähler differentials for global power algebras in Section 1.2. In Section 1.3, we dive into more details regarding our notion of modules, and show that they cannot be described as abelian group objects in augmented global power algebras. Instead, we conjecture a description in terms of global functor objects. The next section, Section 1.4, studies extensions of global power algebras by modules, and uses these to extend the exact sequence of derivations. Moreover, in this section we show that formally smooth, unramified and étale global power algebras can be detected by considering derivations and extensions. Finally, in Section 1.5 we introduce André-Quillen homology and cohomology of global power algebras. We identify the low-degree terms with derivations, Kähler differentials and extensions, and exhibit the naive cotangent complex as a calculational tool for these low-degree terms. We finish this section with an explicit calculation of some first homology groups, which shows that the transitivity sequence fails to be exact in this global context.

The second part of this dissertation in Chapter 2 is concerned with topological André-Quillen homology and cohomology of ultra-commutative ring spectra. In Section 2.1, we study the definition of (topological) André-Quillen homology in a general model category, and show that this general construction comes equipped with a transitivity cofibre sequence and a base-change result. We use this theory in Section 2.2 for ultra-commutative ring spectra, modelled as commutative orthogonal ring spectra with the positive global model structure, and thus obtain a topological André-Quillen theory for these. We then exhibit a Hurewicz theorem for this homology theory, and use it to construct Postnikov towers of ultra-commutative ring spectra.

In the appendix, we include a discussion of two ingredients for the main body of this work. In Appendix A, we recall the definition of the wreath product $\Sigma_m \wr G$, needed in the formulation of the power operations of a global power functor. We moreover explicitly describe polynomial global power functors, using a classification of conjugacy classes in such wreath products. In Appendix B, we show that the commutative monoid axiom allows to lift a model structure on a symmetric monoidal model category to the category of non-unital commutative monoids. This is an ingredient in the construction of topological André-Quillen homology and cohomology in Section 2.1.

Chapter 1

André-Quillen (Co-)Homology of Global Power Functors

In this first part of the dissertation, we generalize algebraic André-Quillen cohomology to the context of globally equivariant stable homotopy theory. In this globally equivariant algebraic context, we are concerned with global functors and global power functors. These are generalizations of abelian groups and commutative rings. The connection to globally equivariant stable homotopy theory lies in the fact that these algebraic structures describe the structure present in the homotopy groups of globally equivariant spectra and ultra-commutative ring spectra, respectively. They are also generalizations of the notions of Mackey and Tambara functors for a fixed group G. The generalization consists of considering all (finite or compact Lie) groups simultaneously, instead of only subgroups of a fixed group G. The idea of considering global (power) functors originated in relation to the study of Mackey and Tambara functors, for example Webb defines a notion of globally defined Mackey functors in [65]. In his study of homological properties of Mackey functors in [44], Lewis also considers globally defined Mackey functors and shows that they exhibit some homological anomalies, for example that projectivity does not imply flatness in this context. This observation has implications on the cohomology theory we introduce in this work. Also global power functors have been considered in various places, for example by Ganter |24| in the study of λ -rings. On a related note, the author of this dissertation has shown that global power functors exhibit a close relation to β -rings in previous work [61].

In order to define André-Quillen cohomology for global power functors, we first define the notions of square-zero extensions, derivations and Kähler differentials for global power functors in Section 1.2. These notions are well-known for commutative rings. When adapting them to global power functors, we take additional care regarding the behaviour of power operations. We show that our definitions are compatible with the definitions given by Strickland [62] and Hill [30] in terms of norms. In my opinion, however, the formulation in terms of power operations is considerably clearer and easier to work with.

We observe that Kähler differentials define a left adjoint to the square-zero extension functor from modules to augmented algebras, see Theorem 1.2.13. This adjunction is classically used to interpret Kähler differentials as an abelianization functor, since R-modules for a commutative ring are equivalent to abelian group objects in augmented R-algebras. In the case of $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -Tambara functors, Strickland [62] gives an example that the analogous statement is no longer true. We upgrade this example to an abelian group object in augmented global power algebras over the Burnside ring global power functor in Section 1.3.a. The presence of power operations on this example shows that also for global power functors, modules and abelian group objects in augmented algebras are different objects. We expect that modules can instead be described as global functor objects in augmented global power functors, transferring the result of Hill [30, Corollary 3.23] to the global context. We give the background to this conjecture in Section 1.3.b.

For a triple of global power functors $R \to S \to T$, and a *T*-module *M*, we obtain exact sequences

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_S(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M)$$

and

$$T\square_S \Omega^1_{S/R} \to \Omega^1_{T/R} \to \Omega^1_{T/S} \to 0$$

for derivations and Kähler differentials. One goal of defining André-Quillen (co-)homology is to extend these sequences indefinitely into long exact sequences. A first step into this direction can be made by using extensions of global power algebras, generalizing Grothendieck's functor Exalcomm [27] to global power functors. We give the details in Section 1.4.a. Moreover, this functor of global power algebra extensions can be used to classify formally smooth global power algebras, defined by a lifting property, as we show in Section 1.4.b. All in all, this shows that the theory of derivations and global power algebra extensions nicely generalizes from classical commutative algebra to the globally equivariant algebra of global power functors.

Finally, in Section 1.5, we define and study André-Quillen homology and cohomology for global power algebras. The homology is defined as a non-abelian derived functor of Kähler differentials, and the cohomology as a non-abelian derived functor of derivations. These derived functors are defined using simplicial resolutions of global power algebras by polynomial algebras. We are able to identify the low-dimensional terms of this cohomology theory in terms of derivations and global power algebra extensions, and exhibit the naive cotangent complex as a calculational tool for the low-degree terms. However, we also show by an explicit calculation of the first André-Quillen homology group of an example that this theory does not come with a long exact sequence extending the sequence of Kähler differentials. In fact, this example shows that it is not possible to extend the six-term exact sequence of derivations and global power algebra extensions to a long exact sequence. This defect is caused by the homological anomalies of the category of global functors exhibited by Lewis in [44], namely that projectivity does not imply flatness.

Nevertheless, the fact that the low-degree terms of this theory detect interesting properties of global power algebras makes this an interesting object of study. Furthermore, the topological André-Quillen theory for ultra-commutative ring spectra does not suffer from the same problem, but indeed comes equipped with a transitivity long exact sequence. Hence, studying the interplay between these theories could also provide valuable insights.

1.1 Global Functors, Global Power Functors, Modules and Algebras

This chapter introduces the basic notions we use throughout the algebraic part of this work. Concretely, we first recall the definitions of global functors and global power functors from [55]. Moreover, we introduce the notions of modules and (augmented) algebras over a global power functor R. These are necessary for the definition of André-Quillen (co-)homology, since this is best described as a relative theory for morphisms of global power functors $R \to S$, and it takes coefficients in S-modules M. Of particular interest is the definition of R-modules, since there are two possible definitions: either as modules over the underlying Green functor of R, or as Beck modules, ie abelian group objects in augmented R-algebras. These notions are indeed different, as first observed by Strickland for $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -Tambara functors in [62]. We go into more detail on this difference in Section 1.3.a. For our work, we use the definition as modules over the underlying Green functor of R, and explain this choice in Remark 1.1.26.

1.1.a Recollections on Global Functors and Global Power Functors

In this section, we review the theory of global functors and global power functors needed throughout this dissertation. We follow the definitions given by Schwede in [55]. We assume the basics of global orthogonal spectra and equivariant homotopy groups as known, in particular for the description of the indexing category for global functors in Definition 1.1.1 and the justification of our definition of modules in Remark 1.1.26. The algebraically inclined reader can, however, work with the description of the Burnside category in Remark 1.1.2 and follow the remaining exposition without in-depth knowledge of global orthogonal spectra.

Global Functors We start by introducing the indexing category on which we define global functors.

Definition 1.1.1. The global Burnside category \mathbb{A} has as objects all compact Lie groups, and as morphisms from G to K we set

$$\mathbb{A}(G, K) = \operatorname{Nat}(\pi_0^G, \pi_0^K).$$

This is the abelian group of natural transformations of equivariant homotopy group functors π_0^G to π_0^K from orthogonal spectra to sets. Composition in \mathbb{A} is given as composition of natural transformations.

This definition is topological in nature. However, the relevant set of natural transformations between equivariant homotopy group functors can be described explicitly, as is demonstrated in [55, Theorem 4.2.6]. We summarize the results:

Remark 1.1.2. The morphism sets in the global Burnside category can be described as follows: For compact Lie groups G and K, the morphism group $\mathbb{A}(G, K)$ is free abelian on $(K \times G)$ conjugacy classes of pairs (L, α) , where $L \leq K$ is a closed subgroup of K with finite Weyl group $W_K L$, and $\alpha: L \to G$ is a continuous homomorphism.

We write the transformation indexed by a pair (L, α) as $\operatorname{tr}_{L}^{K} \circ \alpha^{*}$ and call $\operatorname{tr}_{L}^{K}$ the transfer from L to K, and α^{*} the restriction along α . If α is surjective, we also call restriction along α an inflation. Hence, we see that all morphisms in the global Burnside category can be described by transfers and restrictions. The composition is governed by the following rules (as explained after [55, Theorem 4.2.6]):

- i) restriction maps are contravariantly functorial,
- ii) transfers are covariantly functorial,
- iii) transfers along inclusions of subgroups with infinite Weyl group vanish,
- iv) restrictions along inner automorphisms are the identity,
- v) transfers commute with inflations, in the following sense: Let $H \leq G$ be a closed subgroup and $\alpha: K \to G$ be a surjective continuous homomorphism. Let $L = \alpha^{-1}(H) \leq K$. Then $\alpha^* \circ \operatorname{tr}_H^G = \operatorname{tr}_L^K \circ (\alpha_{|L})^*$.
- vi) transfers and restrictions along subgroup inclusions compose according to the double coset formula. For general compact Lie groups, the double coset formula is formulated in [55, Theorem 3.4.9]. For transfers along codimension 0 inclusions, the double coset formula takes the usual form, which agrees with the double coset formula for Mackey functors: Let H, K < G be two closed subgroups of G such that H has codimension 0 in G (or

equivalently, finite index). Then the homogeneous space G/H is discrete and K acts on it by left translation. We consider the double coset space, ie the space of K-orbits in G/H, denoted by $K \setminus G/H$. Then

$$\operatorname{res}_{K}^{G} \circ \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G} = \sum_{[g] \in K \setminus G/H} \operatorname{tr}_{K \cap gHg^{-1}}^{K} \circ g_{*} \operatorname{res}_{g^{-1}Kg \cap H}^{H}.$$

Here g_* denotes the restriction along the conjugation with g as a morphism $g^{-1}Kg \cap H \to K \cap gHg^{-1}$.

Definition 1.1.3. A global functor is an additive functor $\mathbb{A} \to Ab$. The category of global functors is the additive functor category $\mathcal{GF} = \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{add}}(\mathbb{A}, Ab)$. Explicitly, a morphism of global functors is a natural transformation.

Remark 1.1.4. By Remark 1.1.2, the structure of a global functor F is equivalent to the datum of an abelian group F(G) for any compact Lie group G, restriction maps $\alpha^* \colon F(G) \to F(K)$ for any continuous homomorphism $\alpha \colon K \to G$ of compact Lie groups, and transfers $\operatorname{tr}_H^G \colon F(H) \to F(G)$ for any inclusion $H \leq G$ of a closed subgroup. These morphisms have to satisfy the relations explained in Remark 1.1.2.

Remark 1.1.5. In the case of a fixed finite group G, the category of G-Mackey functors can be described in multiple ways. The definition of global functors via the Burnside category used above is akin to the definition of Mackey functors using the G-equivariant stable homotopy category, where transformations between the equivariant homotopy groups may be used for an indexing category for Mackey functors. The description given in Remark 1.1.4 is equivalent to the definition of G-Mackey functors using explicit formulas for restriction and transfers.

There is another way to package the information in a G-Mackey functor, by using an indexing category built from spans of finite G-sets. A similar description can be given for global functors (for the family of finite groups). One way to generalize from a given finite group G to a global setting is by identifying a finite G-set with its translation groupoid. Using this point of view, one observes that an adequate way to formalize actions by arbitrary finite groups on finite sets is by considering all finite groupoids. This approach is for example carried out in [24]. Global functors for the family of finite groups can also be formalized as so-called biset functors, as explained in [18].

Example 1.1.6. The easiest example of a global functor is a represented global functor. In particular, we consider the Burnside ring global functor $\mathbb{A} := \mathbb{A}(e, _)$, whose value $\mathbb{A}(G)$ at a finite group G can be identified with the Burnside ring of finite G-sets for any finite group G. A general represented global functor $\mathbb{A}(K, _)$ is a free global functor, in the sense that evaluation at the identity is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{GF}}(\mathbb{A}(K,\underline{}),F)\xrightarrow{\simeq} F(K)$$

for any global functor F.

Monoidal Structure and Global Green Functors Since we are interested in multiplicative structures in equivariant homotopy theory, we now study analogues of commutative rings in the category of global functors. A possible generalization of commutative rings is obtained by introducing a symmetric monoidal structure on the category \mathcal{GF} , generalizing the tensor product of abelian groups, and considering commutative monoids for this monoidal structure. This leads to the notion of global Green functors, which we introduce in this section.

Global functors are defined as a functor category, and hence come equipped with a Day convolution product [21], which we call the box product.

Construction 1.1.7. Recall that the category of global functors is $\mathcal{GF} = \operatorname{Fun}^{\operatorname{add}}(\mathbb{A}, \operatorname{Ab})$. The category Ab of abelian groups carries a symmetric monoidal structure given by the tensor product. The category \mathbb{A} carries a symmetric monoidal structure described in [55, Theorem 4.2.15]. It takes two compact Lie groups G and G' to the cartesian product $G \times G'$, and morphisms $\operatorname{tr}_{L}^{K} \circ \alpha^{*}$ and $\operatorname{tr}_{L'}^{K'} \circ (\alpha')^{*}$ to $\operatorname{tr}_{L \times L'}^{K \times K'} \circ (\alpha \times \alpha')^{*}$.

From these two symmetric monoidal structures, we obtain the box product of global functors as a Day convolution product [21]. Its value $F \Box F'$ on global functors F and F' can be described as an Ab-enriched left Kan extension



Proposition 1.1.8 ([21, Theorem C.10, Remark C.12]). The box product $\Box: \mathcal{GF} \times \mathcal{GF} \to \mathcal{GF}$ is part of a closed symmetric monoidal structure on the category of global functors.

We denote the internal hom-global functor by <u>Hom</u>.

Remark 1.1.9. The box product comes with a bimorphism $(F, F') \to F \Box F'$, which at compact Lie groups G and G' is given as a morphism $\boxtimes : F(G) \otimes F'(G') \to (F \Box F')(G \times G')$. In particular, we obtain elements $x \boxtimes y \in (F \Box F')(G \times G')$ for elements $x \in F(G)$ and $y \in F'(G')$. We call the morphism \boxtimes an external product.

The Day convolution product of F and F' can be described as a coequalizer of

$$\bigoplus_{K,K',G,G'} \mathbb{A}(K \times K',_) \otimes \mathbb{A}(G,K) \otimes \mathbb{A}(G',K') \otimes F(G) \otimes F(G') \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{G,G'} \mathbb{A}(G \times G',_) \otimes F(G) \otimes F(G').$$

From this description, we observe that as a global functor, the box product is in fact generated by elements of the form $x \boxtimes y \in (F \square F')(G \times G')$ as described above.

Definition 1.1.10. A global Green functor is a commutative monoid for the box product. The category of global Green functors is defined to be the category of commutative monoids in \mathcal{GF} .

Remark 1.1.11. The structure of a global Green functor can be made explicit in a number of equivalent ways. The Day convolution product is universal for bimorphisms, so the multiplication $R \Box R \to R$ required for a global Green functor is equivalent to multiplication morphisms $\times : R(G) \otimes R(K) \to R(G \times K)$ for all compact Lie groups G and K, satisfying unitality, associativity, commutativity, and compatibility with restrictions and transfers.

Another way to describe the multiplication of a global Green functor is by diagonal products. These are of the form $_ \cdot _: R(G) \otimes R(G) \to R(G)$ for all compact Lie groups G. They have to turn each R(G) into a unital, associative and commutative ring such that the restrictions are ring homomorphisms and transfers satisfy the Frobenius reciprocity relation

$$\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(x \cdot \operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}(y)) = \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(x) \cdot y \tag{1.1.12}$$

for $x \in R(H)$ and $y \in R(G)$, where $H \leq G$ is a closed subgroup.

The relation between the two products is as follows. Given the product \times , we recover the diagonal product by restricting along the diagonal $\Delta: G \to G \times G$, as $x \cdot y = \Delta^*(x \times y)$ for $x, y \in R(G)$. Conversely, from the diagonal product we obtain the usual product by using the projections $G \xleftarrow{\operatorname{pr}_G} G \times K \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_K} K$. Concretely, $x \times y = \operatorname{pr}_G^*(x) \cdot \operatorname{pr}_K^*(y)$ for $x \in R(G)$ and $y \in R(K)$. This correspondence is explained in [55, Remark 4.2.20]

Remark 1.1.13. Using this translation between diagonal and usual products, we also can give an alternative set of generators for the box product, similar to the one given in Remark 1.1.9. For this, we consider for all compact Lie groups G the morphism

$$:: F(G) \otimes F'(G) \xrightarrow{\boxtimes} (F \Box F')(G \times G) \xrightarrow{\Delta^*} (F \Box F')(G).$$

Then $F \Box F'$ is generated as a global functor by the elements $x \boxdot y \in (F \Box F')(G)$ for $x \in F(G)$ and $y \in F'(G)$. In fact, the previous set of generators can be recovered as $x \boxtimes y = \operatorname{pr}_{G}^{*}(x) \boxdot \operatorname{pr}_{G'}^{*}(y)$ for $x \in F(G)$ and $y \in F'(G')$.

We also describe the internal homomorphism global functor explicitly, by using shifts of global functors.

Definition 1.1.14. Let F be a global functor and G be a compact Lie group. We define F[G] to be the global functor with $F[G](K) = F(K \times G)$, where the structure maps are defined via

$$\mathbb{A}(K_1, K_2) \otimes F(K_1 \times G) \xrightarrow{(_ \times G) \otimes F(K_1 \times G)} \mathbb{A}(K_1 \times G, K_2 \times G) \otimes F(K_1 \times G) \to F(K_2 \times G).$$

Lemma 1.1.15. Let F be a global functor and G be a compact Lie group. Then we have an isomorphism

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\mathbb{A}(G,\underline{}),F)\cong F[G]$$

of global functors.

Proof. This is a consequence of a formal manipulation, using the Yoneda Lemma and the tensorhom adjunction in a closed monoidal category, and that the convolution product of representables is representable. For any compact Lie group K, we have the chain

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\mathbb{A}(G, _), F)(K) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{A}(K, _), \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\mathbb{A}(G, _), F))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{A}(K, _)\Box\mathbb{A}(G, _), F)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{A}(K \times G, _), F)$$
$$\cong F(K \times G) \cong F[G](K)$$

of isomorphisms. These are natural in K, hence these assemble into isomorphisms of global functors.

As a result of this statement, we see that any $\theta \in \mathbb{A}(G, K)$ induces a morphism $\theta_* \colon F[G] \to F[K]$ of global functors in a functorial way by precomposition with $\theta^* \colon \mathbb{A}(K, _) \to \mathbb{A}(G, _)$. We can also define these operations directly, by defining for $\theta \in \mathbb{A}(G, K)$ and any compact Lie group H the map

$$R[\theta](H) \colon F[G](H) = F(H \times G) \xrightarrow{F(H \times \theta)} F(H \times K) = F[K](H).$$

That these definitions agree follows by the above chain of isomorphisms.

Proposition 1.1.16. Let E and F be global functors and G be a compact Lie group. Then there is an isomorphism

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)(G) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(E,F[G]).$$

Proof. This is a similar formal manipulation as in the previous lemma:

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)(G) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{A}(G,_),\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{A}(G,_)\Box E,F)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(E,\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\mathbb{A}(G,_),F))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(E,F[G])$$

Remark 1.1.17. The above description of the internal Hom object for global functors is analogous to the description of the Hom object for G-Mackey functors for a finite group G given in [43, Definitions 1.2 and 1.3]. Also the description of F[G] as a Hom object from a representable global functor is analogous to the corresponding statement given in [43, Lemma 1.6]. The reader familiar with the theory of G-Mackey functors should be aware, however, that the other descriptions of the shift F[G] via a box product with a representable functor given in the same lemma are not valid in the context of global functors. This comes from the fact that the indexing category A of global functors is not self-dual under exchanging transfers and restrictions, unlike the G-Burnside category. This comes from the additional presence of inflation morphisms.

Global Power Functors In Definition 1.1.10, we define commutative monoids for the box product of global functors. However, it is well-known that a completely equivariant analogue of commutative rings should come equipped with more structure, namely with power operations or norms. These can be thought of as twisted versions of products, just as transfers can be thought of as twisted versions of sums. This can nicely be observed in the fixed point Mackey functor \underline{R} of a ring R with an action of a finite group G. The value of \underline{R} at a subgroup H are the fixed points R^{H} . Here, the total transfer $\underline{R}(e) \to \underline{R}(G)$ takes the form

$$\operatorname{tr}_e^G(x) = \sum_{g \in G} gx.$$

We also can define a norm map

$$N_e^G(x) = \prod_{g \in G} gx.$$

A G-Green functor for a (finite) group G equipped with this additional structure is called a G-Tambara functor. For a thorough treatment of Tambara functors, see for example the original source [63] or the survey article [62]. We call the global analogue a global power functor, emphasizing that we choose to formalize this additional structure by power operations rather than by norms. We elaborate on the differences in Remark 1.1.20. This chapter closely follows the discussion of global power functors in [55, Chapter 5.1].

The following definition is given in [55, Definition 5.1.6]. The wreath product $\Sigma_m \wr G$ as well as the various comparison morphisms $\Phi_{i,j}$, $\Psi_{k,m}$ and Δ_m are defined in Appendix A.

Definition 1.1.18. A global power functor is a global Green functor R together with maps $P^m \colon R(G) \to R(\Sigma_m \wr G)$ for all $m \ge 1$ and all compact Lie groups G, satisfying the following properties:

- i) $P^m(1) = 1$ for the unit $1 \in R(e)$.
- $ii) \ P^1 = \text{Id as maps } R(G) \to R(\Sigma_1 \wr G) \cong R(G) \text{ under the identification } G \cong \Sigma_1 \wr G, \ g \mapsto (1;g).$
- iii) For every continuous homomorphism $\alpha \colon K \to G$ between compact Lie groups and all $m \geq 1$, we have

$$P^m \circ \alpha^* = (\Sigma_m \wr \alpha)^* \circ P^m$$

as maps $R(G) \to R(\Sigma_m \wr K)$.

iv) For all compact Lie groups G and all $m \ge 1$, and all $x, y \in R(G)$, we have

$$P^m(x \cdot y) = P^m(x) \cdot P^m(y)$$

in $R(\Sigma_m \wr G)$.

v) For all compact Lie groups G, all $i, j \ge 1$ and all $x \in R(G)$, we have

$$\Phi_{i,j}^*(P^{i+j}(x)) = P^i(x) \times P^j(x)$$

in $R((\Sigma_i \wr G) \times (\Sigma_j \wr G)).$

vi) For all compact Lie groups G, all $k, m \ge 1$ and all $x \in R(G)$, we have

$$\Psi_{k,m}^{*}(P^{km}(x)) = P^{k}(P^{m}(x))$$

in $R(\Sigma_k \wr (\Sigma_m \wr G))$.

vii) For all compact Lie groups G, all $m \ge 1$ and all $x, y \in R(G)$, we have

$$P^{m}(x+y) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{k,m-k}(P^{k}(x) \times P^{m-k}(y))$$

in $R(\Sigma_m \wr G)$, where $\operatorname{tr}_{k,m-k} = \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_k \wr G) \times (\Sigma_{m-k} \wr G)}^{\Sigma_m \wr G}$ is the transfer associated to the inclusion $\Phi_{k,m-k} \colon (\Sigma_k \wr G) \times (\Sigma_{m-k} \wr G) \to \Sigma_m \wr G$, and $P^0(x) = 1$ is the multiplicative unit.

viii) For every closed subgroup $H \subset G$ of a compact Lie group and for every $m \ge 1$, we have

$$P^m \circ \operatorname{tr}_H^G = \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_m \wr H}^{\Sigma_m \wr G} \circ P^m$$

as maps $R(H) \to R(\Sigma_m \wr G)$.

A morphism of global power functors is a morphism of global Green functors that also commutes with the power operations.

Remark 1.1.19. In the above definition of power operations, the multiplicativity relation 1.1.18 iv) is expressed in terms of the diagonal product. We can reformulate it in terms of the product $\times : R(G) \otimes R(K) \to R(G \times K)$ as follows: For all compact Lie groups G and K, $m \ge 1$ and elements $x \in R(G)$ and $y \in R(K)$, the relation

$$P^m(x \times y) = \Delta_m^*(P^m(x) \times P^m(y))$$

holds in $R(\Sigma_m \wr (G \times K))$, where $\Delta_m \colon \Sigma_m \wr (G \times K) \to (\Sigma_m \wr G) \times (\Sigma_m \wr K)$ is defined via the diagonal on Σ_m . This can be concluded by a straight-forward calculation from the relation for the diagonal product, using the relations explained in Remark 1.1.11. This is also explained in [60, Remark 2.31].

Remark 1.1.20. Classically, a G-Tambara functor is defined as a G-Green functor R together with norm maps $N_H^K : R(H) \to R(K)$ for subgroups $H \leq K \leq G$. These have to satisfy functoriality, unitality and multiplicativity, and the composition of norm and restriction is governed by a multiplicative double coset formula. Finally, the norm of a transfer is calculated by a distributivity law involving analysis of a so-called exponential diagram. This formalization was originally given in [63]. In my opinion, this distributivity law is quite complicated, making proofs in the realm of Tambara functors often rather involved. As an example, the additivity relation considered in [31, Theorem 2.4 – Corollary 2.9] is rather complicated and inexplicit. In comparison, the axioms for the power operations are easy to use, since the compatibility with transfers is straightforward and the additivity is a generalization of the binomial formula. Also in the context of André-Quillen homology and cohomology, a comparison of this dissertation with the work of Leeman [42, eg Lemma 3.3.6 and Proposition 3.3.8] shows that the possibility to work with power operations simplifies calculations considerably. However, since the G-equivariant framework is restricted to working with subgroups of G, it is not possible to formalize Tambara functors in terms of power operations. Thus the presence of power operations is a major advantage of the global setting

In fact, the formulation of a global power functor is equivalent to a formulation in terms of norms satisfying the above-mentioned axioms. The comparison is explained in [55, Remark 5.1.7] and works as follows:

Suppose we are given power operations $P^m \colon R(G) \to R(\Sigma_m \wr G)$ for all compact Lie groups G. We construct norm maps $N_H^G \colon R(H) \to R(G)$ for all subgroups $H \leq G$ of finite index. Suppose H has index m in G. We choose an ordered H-basis $\Gamma = (g_1, \ldots, g_m)$ of G, ie an H-equivariant bijection $\prod_{i=1}^m H \to G$ (for the right H-actions), and observe that $\Sigma_m \wr H$ acts freely and transitively on the set of such bases from the right by multiplication and permutation. Moreover, G acts freely on the left on Γ by multiplication, and this defines an injective homomorphism $\Psi_{\Gamma} \colon G \to \Sigma_m \wr H$ by sending $g \in G$ to the element $(\sigma; h_1, \ldots, h_m)$ such that $g\Gamma = \Gamma \cdot (\sigma; h_1, \ldots, h_m)$. We then define the norm N_H^G as the composite

$$R(H) \xrightarrow{P^m} R(\Sigma_m \wr H) \xrightarrow{\Psi_{\Gamma}^*} R(G).$$

We observe that another choice of basis Γ' changes Ψ only by a conjugation, and since conjugated homomorphisms induce the same restrictions by Remark 1.1.2 *iv*), the definition of the norm does not depend on this choice of basis.

In the other direction, we can recover the power operations from the norms as follows: For a compact Lie group G, we observe that the power operation $P^m \colon R(G) \to R(\Sigma_m \wr G)$ is given as the composite

$$R(G) \xrightarrow{q^*} R((\Sigma_{m-1} \wr G) \times G) \xrightarrow{N_{(\Sigma_{m-1} \wr G) \times G}^{\Sigma_m \wr G}} R(\Sigma_m \wr G).$$

Here, $q: (\Sigma_{m-1} \wr G) \times G \to G$ is the projection to the second factor. It is a straight-forward calculation to see that these are inverse constructions.

We use this translation between norms and power operations in Remark 1.2.6 to relate our constructions of square-zero extensions and derivations for global power functors to the constructions proposed by Strickland [62] and Hill [30] for G-Tambara functors for fixed G.

Example 1.1.21. The Burnside ring global functor A has the structure of a global power functor, and this structure can be made very explicit in the case of finite groups. We already noticed that the values $\mathbb{A}(G)$ are rings, which are the Burnside rings of finite *G*-sets for finite groups *G*. These ring structures make A into a global Green functor. We also describe the power operations in terms of finite *G*-sets for finite groups *G*: If *X* is a finite *G*-set, then the *m*-th power operation on *X* is $P^m(X) = X^m$, with the natural $\Sigma_m \wr G$ -action. This definition can be extended by additivity to the entirety of $\mathbb{A}(G)$.

The Burnside ring global power functor is the initial global power functor. This can for example be seen by using that global power functors are comonadic over global Green functors by [55, Section 5.2], and hence the initial global Green functor is also initial as a global power functor. The Burnside ring global functor is initial as a global Green functor, since it is the unit for the box product.

Polynomial Power Functors An important class of global power functors are polynomial global power functor, also called free global power functor in [55, Example 5.1.19]. We recall their definition here.

Definition 1.1.22. Let R be a global power functor and K be a compact Lie group. The polynomial algebra over R generated by an indeterminate x in degree K is

$$R[x_K] = \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} R \Box \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_n \wr K, _).$$

The multiplication and power operations are described in [55, Example 5.1.19]. The map $R \to R[x_K]$ is the inclusion as the summand indexed by n = 0, and the *n*-th summand is a free *R*-module on $P^n(x_K)$ in degree $\Sigma_n \wr K$, where by x_K we denote the identity in $\mathbb{A}(K, K)$. The power operation $P^n(x_K)$ is then represented by the identity in $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_n \wr K, \Sigma_n \wr K)$. This polynomial algebra has the usual universal property, in that

$$\operatorname{Alg}_{R}(R[x_{K}], S) \xrightarrow{\cong} S(K), f \mapsto f(x_{K})$$
 (1.1.23)

is a bijection for any R-algebra S. This follows from [55, Proposition 5.2.6 (ii)] and the extension of scalars adjunction.

Remark 1.1.24. The category of global power functors can also be described as the category of algebras for a multi-sorted algebraic theory. The basic notion of an algebraic theory was introduced by Lawvere [41] as a means to formalize varying algebraic structures. Such an algebraic theory consists of a category \mathbb{T} with finite products together with a distinguished object t such that any other object s of T is a finite power of t, ie $s = t^{\times n}$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A model, or algebra, for such a theory in a category \mathcal{C} with finite products is then a product-preserving functor $T: \mathbb{T} \to \mathcal{C}$. Examples for such algebraic theories include the theories of groups, abelian groups, (commutative) rings and modules over a fixed ring, and for any of these theories, the models in sets are exactly the given objects. For such theories, the category \mathbb{T} can be interpreted as the full subcategory of free objects on finitely many generators.

A multisorted theory generalizes the above structure to incorporate distinguishable types of structure. A multisorted theory over a set S of sorts is a category \mathbb{T} with finite products containing a set $\{x_s \mid s \in S\}$ of distinguished objects, such that any object of \mathbb{T} is isomorphic to a finite product of such distinguished elements. Again, a model, or algebra, of \mathbb{T} in a category \mathcal{C} with finite products is a product-preserving functor $\mathbb{T} \to \mathcal{C}$. A classical example is the category of (commutative) rings and modules over these, which can be represented as a category of algebras for an algebraic theory with two sorts. Multisorted algebraic theories are introduced in [16, Definition 2.3] and studied for example in [14].

Global functors, global Green functors and global power functors can all be formalized by multisorted algebraic theories. The sorts in this case are (isomorphism classes of) compact Lie groups, and we take algebras in the category of global sets, ie collections of sets indexed by (isomorphism classes of) compact Lie groups. The morphisms between the free objects encode the group and ring structures of F(G), the restrictions, transfers and power operations, as well as the various relations between compositions of these. This formalization allows one to use general results for algebras over algebraic theories, such as completeness and cocompleteness of these categories, that limits and certain colimits are calculated underlying, and that effective epimorphisms are detected on underlying sets. For such results, we refer to [17, Chapter 3].

1.1.b Modules and Algebras over Global Power Functors

In Section 1.1.a, we recall the basic algebraic notions we use in this dissertation, as formulated by Schwede in [55]. This includes global functors and global power functors, which act as our generalizations of abelian groups and commutative rings. These notions are sufficient to perform the equivariant algebra relative to the Burnside ring global power functor, which is initial as a global power functor. However, we mainly work relative to an arbitrary base global power functor R in this thesis, and thus we introduce the notions of modules and algebras over a given global power functor. These notions have already been considered in the context of G-Mackey and Tambara functors, for example in [62, 30]. We follow these definitions and transfer them to the context of global equivariant algebra. One point that deserves special attention is the definition of an R-module for a global power functor R. Since a global power functor comes equipped with power operations, the question arises whether an R-module M should itself have some flavour of power operations, and how these should interact with those of R if they are defined. After being introduced by Strickland [62, Chapter 14], the names genuine and naive modules have persisted in the literature on G-Tambara functors for modules with and without power operations, respectively. As we show in Section 1.3.a, this distinction is also necessary for modules over a global power functor. We are mostly concerned with the so-called "naive" modules in this dissertation, is modules that do not come equipped with power operations. This is compatible with the work of Hill in [30], and we elaborate on the reasons for this choice in Remark 1.1.26.

In addition to the definitions of modules and algebras, we also introduce ideals of global power algebras in Definition 1.1.30. This definition as a non-unital sub-global power functor is analogous to the definition of an ideal in a G-Tambara functor given by Nakaoka in [48]. It is used to describe the module of Kähler differentials in Section 1.2.c and the naive cotangent complex in Section 1.5.c.

Definition 1.1.25. Let R be a global power functor. Then an R-module is a module over the underlying global Green functor of R in the category of global functors. Morphisms of R-modules are morphisms of modules for the global Green functor R.

Explicitly, this definition says that an *R*-module *M* is a global functor *M* together with an action map $\alpha \colon R \Box M \to M$, satisfying the usual unitality and associativity relations. The category of *R*-modules is the categories of modules over a commutative monoid in the symmetric monoidal category \mathcal{GF} with the box product.

Remark 1.1.26. As mentioned in the introduction to this section, there is another feasible definition of an R-module: The definition given above makes no mention of the power operations on R, and in particular, M is not required to have any additional structure of power operations. It would be possible to give a definition of an R-module that encompasses power operations on M and a compatibility with the power operations of R. A way to formalize this is by considering what is classically called a Beck module after its usage in [13, Definition 5], and is called a genuine module by Strickland [62, Chapter 14] in the context of G-Tambara functors. A Beck module is an abelian group object in the category of augmented R-algebras, as defined in our context in Definition 1.1.29. Classically, such a Beck module for a commutative ring R is equivalent to a usual R-module, as is shown in [13, Example 8]. In the context of G-Tambara functors, Strickland proves that this equivalence no longer holds, and that a Beck module is more data than a (Green) module [62, Proposition 14.7]. The same is true for modules over global power functors, as we show in Section 1.3.a.

Since we have two possible choices of a notion of R-modules, we are faced with choosing one of these notions. As described in Definition 1.1.25, we choose to work with modules over

the underlying Green functor, is without power operations on the module. In my opinion, this definition has several advantages over the definition as Beck modules:

- *i*) It recovers global functors as \mathbb{A} -modules. This is due to the fact that \mathbb{A} is the initial global Green (and hence also global power) functor. It is desirable to have this property, since this means we work with the classical notions when we take \mathbb{A} as the base global power functor.
- ii) It mirrors the topological notion. When we consider an ultra-commutative (orthogonal) ring spectrum R, the category of R-modules is defined as the category of modules over R for the wedge product. The homotopy groups $\underline{\pi}_0(R)$ form a global power functor, and for an R-module M, the global functor $\underline{\pi}_0(M)$ comes equipped with the structure of an R-Green module. However, there are no power operations present on this module. This hold, since the power operations are induced from the multiplications $R^{\wedge m} \to R$. Such products do not exist for M, and hence no power operations are induced.

This point also links back to the first point, since in the context of global spectra, S-modules are equivalent to global spectra.

- iii) Since power operations are twisted versions of classical powers, we should not expect an R-module M to have power operations, since on M, there are no products or powers.
- iv) Even though the notions of derivations and Kähler differentials need to be adjusted to account for power operations, the definitions for our chosen notion of modules are clean generalizations of the classical definitions, and much of the theory can be developed in parallel to the classical theory. In other words, it is convenient to work with Green modules.

Also in the work by Hill [30], where derivations and Kähler differentials for G-Tambara functors are defined, the notion of Green modules is used. In that work, it is also shown that these "naive" modules can still be interpreted appropriately as *equivariant* Beck modules: Hill shows that R-Green modules are equivalent to Mackey functor objects in the category of augmented algebras over R. This gives further evidence that the notion of Green modules is the correct one to work with, since it also properly generalizes the notion of a Beck module to an equivariant context. We expect that a similar interpretation of R-modules for R a global power functor as *global* Beck modules is possible, and explain the necessary constructions in Section 1.3.b.

In the above discussion, we focussed on the question whether a module M should be equipped with power operations. This is the main question when we consider working with Beck modules. Since power operations are unary operations, power operations on an augmented R-algebra are determined by power operations on R and on the augmentation ideal, which corresponds to the module. However, when posing the question of how to define a module over a global power functor R, another conceivable approach would be to symmetrize expressions of the type $r \times \ldots \times r \times m$ for $r \in R$ and $m \in M$. However, since the M-factor is distinguishable from the R-factors, the maximal symmetry group of such an expression is $\Sigma_{k-1} \times \Sigma_1$, and symmetrization with respect to this group should yield $P^{k-1}(r) \times m$. This is already determined by the power operations on R and the Green-module structure of M. This shows that our definition above is reasonable also under this perspective.

We note that as a category of modules over a commutative monoid R in the symmetric monoidal category \mathcal{GF} , the category of R-modules inherits a closed symmetric monoidal structure via the relative box product \Box_R . This is defined for R-modules M and N as a coequalizer

$$M \square R \square N \Longrightarrow M \square N \dashrightarrow M \square_R N. \tag{1.1.27}$$

A proof that this relative tensor product (together with the appropriately defined internal Hom object of *R*-linear morphisms) defines a closed symmetric monoidal structure can be found in [37, 38]. These references study the more general case of algebras over a commutative monad in a closed symmetric monoidal category, and we use the monad $R\Box_{-}$ on \mathcal{GF} here.

We now define the notion of global power algebras.

Definition 1.1.28. Let R be a global power functor. Then a global R-power algebra is a global power functor S together with a morphism $\eta: R \to S$ of global power functors. The morphism η is called the unit map of the R-power algebra S. We denote the category of R-power algebras by Alg_R.

As usual, the notion of global power algebras can equivalently be described as a global power functor based in the category of R-modules. The category of R-modules is symmetric monoidal for the relative box product \Box_R , and commutative monoids for this structure are global Green algebras over R, without power operations. A global power algebra S then needs additional power operations, satisfying the axioms specified in Definition 1.1.18. Additionally, the compatibility axiom $P^m(r \cdot s) = P^m(r) \cdot P^m(s)$ for $r \in R(G)$, $s \in S(G)$ needs to be satisfied.

At various points, we need to consider *augmented* algebras.

Definition 1.1.29. Let R be a global power functor and let T be a global R-power algebra. Then a global R-power algebra S augmented to T is a global R-power algebra S together with a morphism $\varepsilon \colon S \to T$ of global R-power algebras, called the augmentation. The category of R-power algebras augmented to T is denoted Alg_R/T , since it is an over-category.

In the case R = T, with unit map given by the identity, we call S an augmented R-power algebra. The category of augmented R-algebras is denoted Alg_R/R .

Finally, we also introduce the notion of a global power ideal, analogous to the definition of an ideal in a G-Tambara functor in [48]. For completeness, we also mention the corresponding notion of a Green ideal.

Definition 1.1.30. Let R be a global power functor. Then a global power ideal in R is a nonunital global power subfunctor. Explicitly, it is a sub-global functor $I \subset R$ that is closed under the product with elements of R and power operations of R.

A global Green ideal is a non-unital global Green subfunctor.

Hence, a global Green ideal does not need to be closed under power operations.

Example 1.1.31. Let R be a global power functor, G be a compact Lie group, and $f \in R(G)$ be an element of R. Then we denote the smallest global power ideal of R containing f by $\langle f \rangle$. We observe that the value of this ideal at a compact Lie group K takes the form

$$\langle f \rangle(K) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{tr}_{L_{i}}^{K} \alpha_{i}^{*}(r_{i} \times P^{m_{i}}(f)) \right\}.$$

Here, n is any natural number, which is allowed to vary for different elements of this set, $L_i \leq K$ are closed subgroups, $\alpha_i \colon G_i \times (\Sigma_{m_i} \wr G) \to L_i$ are continuous homomorphisms, and $r_i \in R(G_i)$ for compact Lie groups G_i . The fact that this set is closed under addition, transfer and restriction, multiplication with elements in R and power operations is a straight-forward application of the relations present in a global power functor.

As for ideals in commutative rings, it is possible to take the quotient of a global power functor by a global power ideal. **Proposition 1.1.32.** Let R be a global power functor and $I \subset R$ be a global power ideal. Then the quotient R/I uniquely inherits the structure of a global power functor from R such that the quotient map $R \to R/I$ is a morphism of global power functors.

Proof. We focus on the power operations here, since the multiplication works completely analogous to the case of commutative rings.

Since $R \to R/I$ is surjective, we have to define the power operations on R/I via $P^m([r]) = [P^m(r)]$. We check that this is well-defined. For this, let $r \in R(G)$ and $i \in I(G)$ for a compact Lie group G. Then we calculate

$$P^{m}(r+i) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{m-k,k}(P^{m-k}(r) \times P^{k}(i)) = P^{m}(r) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{m-k,k}(P^{m-k}(r) \times P^{k}(i)).$$

In the last expression, the entire second sum is contained in $I(\Sigma_m \wr G)$, since I is a global power ideal. Hence, the power operations are well-defined. The properties of these power operations are easily deduced from those for R.

Conversely, any kernel of a morphism of global power functors is a global power ideal.

Lemma 1.1.33. Let R and S be global power functors and $f: R \to S$ be a map of global power functors. Then the kernel ker(f) is a power ideal of R.

Proof. The kernel of any map of global functors is again a global functor. As f is a map of global Green functors, for any compact Lie group G the map $f: R(G) \to S(G)$ is a map of rings, and hence the kernel is an ideal in R(G). Thus ker(f) is a Green ideal in R. Moreover, for $x \in \text{ker}(f)$, $f(P^k(x)) = P^k(f(x)) = 0$, thus ker(f) is closed under power operations. Thus, it is a power ideal.

1.2 Square-Zero Extensions, Derivations and Kähler Differentials

In algebraic geometry, a main objective is to use algebraic techniques to study geometric phenomena of varieties. One important geometric property is smoothness of an algebraic variety. Translating this to the algebraic side, an important property of a commutative algebra is being (formally) smooth. In order to formulate this property, one first needs to consider square-zero extensions, derivations and Kähler differentials. All these notions are intimately linked by various adjunctions and representability results, and they constitute a theory of infinitesimal deformations of commutative rings. These constructions also are the first steps towards constructing André-Quillen (co-)homology, which is defined as a derived functor of Kähler differentials or derivations, respectively.

In this section, we introduce the notions of square-zero extensions, Kähler differentials and derivations for global power functors. In these definitions, we are required to specify how to handle the additional power operations present in a global power functor. The underlying idea is to consider the power operations as a twisted version of the multiplication. The newly defined concepts of square-zero extension, derivation and Kähler differentials satisfy the same relations as the classical notions, and this facilitates calculations on some easy global power functors such as polynomial global power functors. Later, when studying exact sequences related to derivations and Kähler differentials, we also are able to calculate Kähler differentials for quotients of polynomial global power functors.

The definitions in this section are related to the definitions for G-Tambara functors for fixed finite groups G, defined by Strickland [62, Definition 14.8] in the case of square-zero extensions

and by Hill [30, Definitions 4.1 and 5.4] in the case of derivations and Kähler differentials. We show that our definitions in terms of power operations recover the definitions by Strickland and Hill in terms of norms, but emphasize that the definitions for the power operations are formulated more concisely and hence are easier to work with. Moreover, our definition is compatible with the additional functoriality present in a global power functor in the form of inflations, and also works for compact Lie groups.

1.2.a Square-Zero Extensions of Global Power Functors

We define a square-zero extension of a global power functor R by an R-module M.

Construction 1.2.1. Let R be a global power functor and M be a module over R. Then we define the global power functor $R \ltimes M$ as follows: As a global functor, we set $R \ltimes M = R \oplus M$. Explicitly, for every compact Lie group G the value of $R \ltimes M$ at G is given as $(R \ltimes M)(G) = R(G) \oplus M(G)$, for any homomorphism $\alpha \colon K \to G$ of compact Lie groups, the restriction map takes the form

$$\alpha^* \colon (R \ltimes M)(G) \to (R \ltimes M)(K), \ \alpha^*(r,m) = (\alpha^* r, \alpha^* m),$$

and for any closed subgroup $H \subset G$, we have the transfer

$$\mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G} \colon (R \ltimes M)(H) \to (R \ltimes M)(G), \, \mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}(r,m) = (\mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}\,r,\mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}\,m).$$

Then, we endow this global functor with a unit map

$$\mathbb{A} \to R \ltimes M$$

using the unit map of R and the zero-map on M. This is equivalent to defining the unit element of $R \ltimes M$ to be (1,0), where 1 is the unit in R. Moreover, we define a product by

$$(R \ltimes M) \Box (R \ltimes M) \cong (R \Box R) \oplus (R \Box M) \oplus (M \Box R) \oplus (M \Box M) \to R \oplus M = R \ltimes M,$$

where the middle map is the multiplication of R on the first summand, the module structure of M on the second and third summand and the zero-map on the fourth summand. Explicitly, for every compact Lie group G, the multiplication is given via

$$(r,m) \cdot (r',m') = (rr',rm'+r'm) \tag{1.2.2}$$

for $(r,m), (r',m') \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. This is equivalent to the external multiplication being given for elements $(r,m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G), (r',m') \in (R \ltimes M)(K)$ by

$$(r,m) \times (r',m') = (r \times r', r \times m' + r' \times m).$$
 (1.2.3)

Finally, we define power operations on $R \ltimes M$ by the formula

$$P^{k}(r,m) = \left(P^{k}(r), \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr G}(P^{k-1}(r)\times m)\right)$$
(1.2.4)

for $(r,m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. For notational ease, we write $\operatorname{tr}_{i,j}^G = \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_i \wr G) \times (\Sigma_j \wr G)}^{\Sigma_{i+j} \wr G}$, which is the transfer along the inclusion $\Phi_{i,j}$ from Remark A.1.3 *i*). Then, the transfer in the above formula is $\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G$.

Remark 1.2.5. We offer some context for the above formula: We think about the pair (r, m) as a sum r + m of elements $r \in R(G)$ and $m \in M(G)$, and assume that the multiplication of any two elements in M vanishes. Now, the power operations are a Σ_k -equivariant version of the map $x \mapsto x^k$, so we compare the above formula to the calculation

$$(r+m)^k = r^k + kr^{k-1}m$$

obtained in a non-equivariant square-zero extension by the binomial formula. The equivariant version of this binomial formula is the additivity relation for a global power functor given in Definition 1.1.18 vii). If we set $P^k(m) = 0$ for $m \in M(G)$, $k \ge 2$, motivated by the definition that modules are not equipped with power operations, then this additivity relation recovers the above definition, as

$$P^{k}(r+m) = P^{k}(r) + \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m).$$

Remark 1.2.6. The definition of the power operations on the square-zero extension is analogous to the definition used by Strickland for a square-zero extension of a Tambara functor in [62, Definition 14.8]. The relation to our definition can be made precise by the translation between power functors and Tambara functors explained in Remark 1.1.20. We restrict to finite groups G here, since this is the context in which Strickland works. We first show how our formula for the power operations is obtained from the formula for the norm:

Let G be a finite group, and $(r,m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$ be an element of the square-zero extension. Then by the translation between norms and power operations, we have $P^k(r,m) = N_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}q^*(r,m)$, where $q: (\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G \to G$ is the projection to the second factor. By the formula for the norm on a square-zero extension given by Strickland in [62, Definition 14.8], we thus have

$$P^{k}(r,m) = (N_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr G}(q^{*}r), \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr G}((N_{\operatorname{pr}_{1}}\operatorname{res}_{\operatorname{pr}_{2}}(q^{*}r))\cdot q^{*}m)).$$

In this formula, the two projections pr_1 and pr_2 are those from the $\Sigma_k \wr G$ -set $(\Sigma_k \wr G/((\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G)) \land (\Sigma_k \wr G/((\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G)) \land \Delta$, where Δ denotes the diagonal. We now observe that this $\Sigma_k \wr G$ -set is isomorphic to $\Sigma_k \wr G/(G \times (\Sigma_{k-2} \wr G) \times G))$, and the two projections are associated to the two inclusions $G \times (\Sigma_{k-2} \wr G) \times G \subset (\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G$ using either the left two or the right two factors. Moreover, the first entry in the description of $P^k(r, m)$ is equal to $P^k(r)$, thus we only need to consider the second component. In the following calculation, we denote with $q_i: (\Sigma_{i-1} \wr G) \times G \to G$ the projection to the second factor, and by $p_i: (\Sigma_{i-1} \wr G) \times G \to \Sigma_{i-1} \wr G$ the projection to the first factor. We have

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}((N_{\operatorname{pr}_1}\operatorname{res}_{\operatorname{pr}_2}(q_k^*r))\cdot q_k^*m) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}((N_{G\times(\Sigma_{k-2}\wr G)\times G}^{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}\operatorname{res}_{G\times(\Sigma_{k-2}\wr G)\times G}^{G\times(\Sigma_{k-2}\wr G)\times G}q_k^*r)\cdot q_k^*m) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}((N_{G\times(\Sigma_{k-2}\wr G)\times G}^{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}(G\times p_{k-1})^*q_{k-1}^*r)\cdot q_k^*m) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}((p_k^*N_{G\times(\Sigma_{k-2}\wr G)}^{\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G}q_{k-1}^*r)\cdot q_k^*m) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}((N_{G\times(\Sigma_{k-2}\wr G)}^{\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G}q_{k-1}^*r)\times m) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}(P^{k-1}(r)\times m). \end{split}$$

Hence, we exactly recover our definition of the power operations.

Conversely, we show how to obtain the definition of the norm on the square-zero extension from our formulation of the power operations. For a compact Lie group G and a closed subgroup H of index k, we choose an ordered H-basis $\Gamma = (\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_k)$ of G. We assume that $\gamma_k = e$ is the trivial element of G. As explained in Remark 1.1.20, this defines a monomorphism $\Psi_{\Gamma} : G \to \Sigma_k \wr H$. We have for any element $(r, m) \in (R \ltimes M)(H)$ the formula

$$N_{H}^{G}(r,m) = \Psi_{\Gamma}^{*}(P^{k}(r,m)) = \Psi_{\Gamma}^{*}(P^{k}(r), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{H}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m)).$$

The first entry in this exactly recovers the norm $N_H^G(r)$, hence we focus on the *M*-component of this term. First, we calculate the composition $\Psi_{\Gamma}^* \circ \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^H$ by a double coset formula. For this, we observe that the coset space $(\Sigma_k \wr H)/((\Sigma_{k-1} \wr H) \times H)$ is in bijection to $\{1, \ldots, k\}$ by identifying $[(\sigma; h_1, \ldots, h_k)]$ with $\sigma(k)$. As left multiplication by *G* is transitive on *G/H* and Γ identifies $G/H \cong \{1, \ldots, k\}$, we observe that *G* acts transitively on $(\Sigma_k \wr H)/((\Sigma_{k-1} \wr H) \times H)$ through Ψ_{Γ} , and hence the double coset formula consists of a single summand. Moreover, the corresponding stabilizer occurring in the double coset formula is given as $H \subset G$, by the choice of taking $\gamma_k = e$ in Γ . Equivalently, $(\Psi_{\Gamma})|_H \colon H \to \Sigma_k \wr H$ takes values in $(\Sigma_{k-1} \wr H) \times H$ and exhibits *H* as the preimage of this subgroup. Thus, we calculate

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{\Gamma}^{*}(\mathrm{tr}_{k-1,1}^{H}(P^{k-1}(r)\times m)) &= \mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}((\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H}^{*}(P^{k-1}\times m)) \\ &= \mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}((\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H}^{*}(p_{k}^{*}(P^{k-1})\cdot q_{k}^{*}(m))) \\ &= \mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}((p_{k}\circ(\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H})^{*}(P^{k-1})\cdot (q_{k}\circ(\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H})^{*}(m)) \end{split}$$

In this last line, we observe that $q_k \circ (\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H} = id_H$ is the identity on H, and hence the second factor evaluates to m. On the other hand, to calculate $(p_k \circ (\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H})^* (P^{k-1})$, we have to understand $p_k \circ (\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H}$. This depends on the left action of H on $(G/H) \setminus \{eH\}$. We decompose this set into H-orbits. For each of these H-orbits, which we index by j, we obtain the corresponding sub-basis Γ_j consisting of those γ_i in Γ such that $\gamma_i H$ is part of this specific H-orbit. The stabilizer inside H for this orbit can be written as $H \cap g_j H g_j^{-1}$ for some $g_j \in G$, and we fix a g_j for each orbit. Then, performing the right multiplication $\Gamma_j^H \coloneqq \Gamma_j g_j^{-1}$ defines an ordered $(H \cap g_j H g_j^{-1})$ -basis for H. Finally, we denote by k_j the order of this orbit. Using this, we observe that we can factor $p_k \circ (\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H}$ via

$$H \xrightarrow{\times \Psi_{\Gamma_j^H}} X \Sigma_{k_j} \wr (H \cap g_j H g_j^{-1}) \subset X \Sigma_{k_j} \wr H \xrightarrow{\Phi_{(k_j)}} \Sigma_{k-1} \wr H.$$

Applying the restriction along this composition to the power operation $P^{k-1}(r)$, we obtain

$$(p_k \circ (\Psi_{\Gamma})_{|H})^* (P^{k-1}) = \prod \Psi_{\Gamma_j^H}^* (\operatorname{res}_{\Sigma_{k_j} \wr (H \cap g_j H g_j^{-1})}^{\Sigma_{k_j} \wr H} (P^{k_j}(r))) = \prod N_{H \cap g_j H g_j^{-1}}^H (\operatorname{res}_{H \cap g_j H g_j^{-1}}^H(r)).$$

Finally, we observe that this *H*-orbit decomposition of $(G/H) \setminus \{eH\}$ is equivalent to the *G*-orbit decomposition in $(G/H) \times (G/H) \setminus \Delta$, the *G*-set used by Strickland. Hence, this product of norms of restrictions is exactly $N_{\text{pr}_2} \operatorname{res}_{\text{pr}_1}(r)$, which recovers the formula for the norm in the square-zero extension from our formula for the power operations.

In my opinion, the description of the square-zero extension is another case in which the power operations simplify exposition and calculations compared to the norms. In particular, as explained in Remark 1.2.5, the formula for the power operations in $R \ltimes M$ is a direct generalization of the binomial formula, and benefits from the easy additivity relation of the power operations. In comparison, the norms have to utilize the $\Sigma_k \wr G$ -set $(\Sigma_k \wr G/((\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G)) \times (\Sigma_k \wr G/((\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G)) \setminus \Delta$, which makes the new norms hard to work with. This is a consequence of the inexplicit additivity formula for general norms.

In addition to the structure required for a global power functor, $R \ltimes M$ comes equipped with maps $\eta: R \to R \ltimes M, r \mapsto (r, 0)$ and $\varepsilon: R \ltimes M \to R, (r, m) \mapsto r$.

Theorem 1.2.7. Let R be a global power functor and M be an R-module. Then the square-zero extension $R \ltimes M$, endowed with multiplication and power operations as in Construction 1.2.1, and endowed with the maps $\eta \colon R \to R \ltimes M$ and $\varepsilon \colon R \ltimes M \to R$ defined above, is an augmented R-power algebra. Moreover, for a morphism $f \colon M \to N$ of R-modules, the induced morphism $R \ltimes f \colon R \ltimes M \to R \ltimes N$ is a morphism of augmented R-power algebras.

We obtain a functor

$$R \ltimes (_): \operatorname{Mod}_R \to \operatorname{Alg}_R / R$$

from the category of R-modules into the category of augmented R-algebras.

When we consider a global power functor R, an R-power algebra S and an S-module M, we can also consider $S \ltimes M$ as an R-power algebra augmented to S via the functor $\operatorname{Alg}_S / S \to \operatorname{Alg}_R / S$ that composes the unit map of an S-algebra with the unit map $R \to S$ of the R-algebra S.

Proof. By definition as a direct sum of two global functors, $R \ltimes M$ is a global functor. To check that $R \ltimes M$ is a global Green functor, we need to show that for any compact Lie group G, $(R \ltimes M)(G)$ is a commutative ring such that restrictions are ring homomorphisms and transfers satisfy reciprocity, as explained in Remark 1.1.11. By the definition of multiplication in (1.2.2) and the usual arguments in algebra, $(R \ltimes M)(G)$ is a commutative ring. We then calculate for any homomorphism $\alpha \colon K \to G$ and $(r, m), (r', m') \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^*((r,m)(r',m')) = & (\alpha^*(rr'), \alpha^*(rm'+r'm)) \\ = & (\alpha^*(r)\alpha^*(r'), \alpha^*(r)\alpha^*(m') + \alpha^*(r')\alpha^*(m)) = \alpha^*(r,m)\alpha^*(r',m') \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, for a closed subgroup $H \subset G$ and $(r,m) \in (R \ltimes M)(H), (r',m') \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}((r,m)\cdot\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}(r',m')) =& (\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(r\cdot\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}(r')), \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(r\cdot\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}(m')) + \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}(r')\cdot m)) \\ =& (\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(r)r', \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(r)m' + r'\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(m)) = \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(r,m)(r',m'). \end{aligned}$$

This shows that $R \ltimes M$ is a global Green functor.

Now we check the properties for the power operations given in Definition 1.1.18. In the following, $k \ge 1$ and G is a compact Lie group.

i) The unit in $(R \ltimes M)(G)$ is (1,0). We calculate

$$P^{k}(1,0) = (P^{k}(1), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(1) \times 0)) = (1,0).$$

ii) For any compact Lie group G and $(r, m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$, we have

$$P^{1}(r,m) = (P^{1}(r), \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_{0}\wr G \times G}^{\Sigma_{1}\wr G}(P^{0}(r) \times m)) = (r,m),$$

where the transfer is the identity under the identification $\Sigma_1 \wr G \cong G \cong \Sigma_0 \wr G \times G$, and $P^0(r) = 1$ by definition.

iii) Let $\alpha \colon K \to G$ be a homomorphism of compact Lie groups, and $(r,m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} P^{k}(\alpha^{*}(r,m)) &= \left(P^{k}(\alpha^{*}r), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{K}(P^{k-1}(\alpha^{*}r) \times \alpha^{*}(m))\right) \\ &= \left(\left(\Sigma_{k} \wr \alpha\right)^{*}P^{k}(r), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{K}(\left(\left(\Sigma_{k-1} \wr \alpha\right) \times \alpha\right)^{*}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m))\right) \\ &= \left(\left(\Sigma_{k} \wr \alpha\right)^{*}P^{k}(r), \left(\Sigma_{k} \wr \alpha\right)^{*}(\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m))\right) = \left(\Sigma_{k} \wr \alpha\right)^{*}P^{k}(r,m). \end{aligned}$$

Here, to obtain the last line, we use that in this specific case, transfer and restriction commute. This is proved in [55, 5.2.9].

1.2. SQUARE-ZERO EXTENSIONS, DERIVATIONS AND KÄHLER DIFFERENTIALS

iv) Let $(r, m), (r', m') \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. Then we calculate

$$\begin{split} P^k((r,m)\cdot(r',m')) &= (P^k(r\cdot r'), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(r\cdot r')\times(r\cdot m'+r'\cdot m))) \\ &= (P^k(r)\cdot P^k(r'), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G((P^{k-1}(r)\cdot P^{k-1}(r'))\times(r\cdot m') + \\ (P^{k-1}(r)\cdot P^{k-1}(r'))\times(r'\cdot m))) \\ &= (P^k(r)\cdot P^k(r'), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G((P^{k-1}(r)\times r)\cdot(P^{k-1}(r')\times m') + \\ (P^{k-1}(r')\times r')\cdot(P^{k-1}(r)\times m))) \\ &= (P^k(r)\cdot P^k(r'), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(\Phi^*_{k-1,1}P^k(r)\cdot(P^{k-1}(r')\times m')) + \\ \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(\Phi^*_{k-1,1}P^k(r')\cdot(P^{k-1}(r)\times m))) \\ &= (P^k(r)\cdot P^k(r'), P^k(r)\cdot\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(r')\times m') + \\ P^k(r')\cdot\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(r)\times m)) \\ &= (P^k(r,m)\cdot P^k(r',m'). \end{split}$$

Here, in the third line, we used an exchange property between the interior product \cdot and the exterior product \times for a global Green functor. This is explicitly stated and proved in [60, Diagram 2.22]. Here, we also have a Green module M in the formula, but the arguments work exactly the same. In the fourth line, the map $\Phi_{k-1,1}: (\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G \to \Sigma_k \wr G$ is the one from Remark A.1.3 *i*), along which $\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G$ is the transfer. Thus, the next equation follows by reciprocity.

v) Let $i, j \ge 1$ such that i + j = k, and let $(r, m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. Then

$$\Phi_{i,j}^*(P^k(r,m)) = (\Phi_{i,j}^*(P^k(r)), \Phi_{i,j}^*(\mathrm{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(r)\times m))).$$

To commute the restriction $\Phi_{i,j}^*$ past the transfer $\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G$, we need to apply the double coset formula. The double cosets are calculated in Lemma A.1.4 *i*). Hence, for the double coset formula, we get

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{i,j}^{*}(\mathrm{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(r)\times m)) &= \\ &= \sum_{\varepsilon=0,1} \mathrm{tr}_{i-\varepsilon,\varepsilon,j-1+\varepsilon,1-\varepsilon}^{i,j,G}(\chi(\varepsilon)_{\star}(\Phi_{i-\varepsilon,j-1+\varepsilon}^{*}P^{k-1}(r)\times\Phi_{\varepsilon,1-\varepsilon}^{*}(m))) \\ &= \mathrm{tr}_{i,0,j-1,1}^{i,j,G}(P^{i}(r)\times P^{j-1}(r)\times m) + \mathrm{tr}_{i-1,1,j,0}^{i,j,G}(P^{i-1}(r)\times m\times P^{j}(r)) \\ &= P^{i}(r)\times\mathrm{tr}_{j-1,1}^{G}(P^{j-1}(r)\times m) + P^{j}(r)\times\mathrm{tr}_{i-1,1}^{G}(P^{i-1}(r)\times m). \end{split}$$

Here, we abbreviated

$$\operatorname{tr}_{i-\varepsilon,\varepsilon,j-1+\varepsilon,1-\varepsilon}^{i,j,G} = \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{i-\varepsilon}\backslash G)\times(\Sigma_{\varepsilon}\backslash G)\times(\Sigma_{\varepsilon}\backslash G)\times(\Sigma_{j-1+\varepsilon}\backslash G)\times(\Sigma_{1-\varepsilon}\backslash G)}^{(\Sigma_{i}\wr G)\times(\Sigma_{j}\wr G)}$$

Then, the total expression can be written as

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{i,j}^*(P^k(r,m)) &= (\Phi_{i,j}^*(P^k(r)), \Phi_{i,j}^*(\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(r) \times m))) \\ &= (P^i(r) \times P^j(r), P^i(r) \times \operatorname{tr}_{j-1,1}^G(P^{j-1}(r) \times m) + P^j(r) \times \operatorname{tr}_{i-1,1}^G(P^{i-1}(r) \times m)) \\ &= (P^i(r), \operatorname{tr}_{i-1,1}^G(P^{i-1}(r) \times m)) \times (P^j(r), \operatorname{tr}_{j-1,1}^G(P^{j-1}(r) \times m)) \\ &= P^i(r,m) \times P^j(r,m). \end{split}$$

vi) Let $k, l \ge 1$ and $(r, m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. Then we need to calculate

$$\Psi_{k,l}^*(P^{kl}(r,m)) = (\Psi_{k,l}^*P^{kl}(r), \Psi_{k,l}^*\operatorname{tr}_{kl-1,1}^G(P^{kl-1}(r) \times m)).$$

Again, to switch the order of restriction and transfer, we need to apply the double coset formula, this time for the subgroups $\Sigma_k \wr (\Sigma_l \wr G)$ and $(\Sigma_{kl-1} \wr G) \times (\Sigma_1 \wr G)$ in $\Sigma_{kl} \wr G$. There is a single double coset, as described in Lemma A.1.4 *ii*), and the double coset formula takes the form

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{k,l}^*(\operatorname{tr}_{kl-1,1}^G(P^{kl-1}(r)\times m)) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(\Sigma_l\wr G))\times(\Sigma_{l-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr(\Sigma_l\wr G)}(\operatorname{res}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(\Sigma_l\wr G))\times(\Sigma_{l-1}\wr G)\times G}^{(\Sigma_{kl-1}\wr G)\times G}(P^{kl-1}(r)\times m)) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(\Sigma_l\wr G))\times(\Sigma_l\wr G)}^{\Sigma_k\wr G}(P^{k-1}(P^l(r))\times\operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{l-1}\wr G)\times G}^{\Sigma_l\wr G}(P^{l-1}(r)\times m)). \end{split}$$

Here, in the last line, we used that transfers are transitive and compatible with \times and that

$$\operatorname{res}_{(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(G))\times(\Sigma_{1}\wr(\Sigma_{l-1}\wr G))}^{\Sigma_{kl-1}\wr G} P^{kl-1}(r) = P^{k-1}(P^{l}(r)) \times P^{1}(P^{l-1}(r)).$$

Thus, we calculate

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{k,l}^*(P^{kl}(r,m)) &= (\Psi_{k,l}^*P^{kl}(r), \Psi_{k,l}^*\operatorname{tr}_{kl-1,1}^G(P^{kl-1}(r)\times m)) \\ &= (P^k(P^l(r)), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{\Sigma_l\wr G}(P^{k-1}(P^l(r))\times \operatorname{tr}_{l-1,1}^G(P^{l-1}(r)\times m))) \\ &= P^k(P^l(r), \operatorname{tr}_{l-1,1}^G(P^{l-1}(r)\times m)) = P^k(P^l(r,m)). \end{split}$$

vii) Let $(r,m), (r',m') \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$. Then

$$\begin{split} P^k((r,m) + (r',m')) &= \left(P^k(r+r'), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(r+r') \times (m+m'))\right) \\ &= \left(\sum_{i=0}^k \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^G(P^i(r) \times P^{k-i}(r')), \\ & \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr}_{j,k-j-1}(P^j(r) \times P^{k-j-1}(r')) \times (m+m'))\right) \\ &= \left(\sum_{i=0}^k \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^G(P^i(r) \times P^{k-i}(r')), \\ & \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(\operatorname{tr}_{j,k-j-1}^G(P^j(r) \times P^{k-j-1}(r')) \times m) + \\ & \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(\operatorname{tr}_{j,k-j-1}^G(P^j(r) \times P^{k-j-1}(r')) \times m')\right) \\ &= \left(\sum_{i=0}^k \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^G(P^i(r) \times P^{k-i}(r')), \\ & \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr}_{j+1,k-j-1}^G(\operatorname{tr}_{j,1}^G(P^j(r) \times m) \times P^{k-j-1}(r')) + \\ & \operatorname{tr}_{j,k-j}^G(P^j(r) \times \operatorname{tr}_{k-j-1,1}^G(P^{k-j-1}(r') \times m'))\right) \end{split}$$
$$= \left(\sum_{i=0}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^{G}(P^{i}(r) \times P^{k-i}(r')), \\ \sum_{i=0}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^{G}(\operatorname{tr}_{i-1,1}^{G}(P^{i-1}(r) \times m) \times P^{k-i}(r')) + \\ \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^{G}(P^{i}(r) \times \operatorname{tr}_{k-i-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-i-1}(r') \times m'))\right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{i,k-i}^{G}(P^{i}(r,m) \times P^{k-i}(r',m')).$$

Here, in the passage to the penultimate line, we applied an index shift to the first half of the sum. Moreover, observe that in this reindexed sum, we have added two terms. However, both of these evaluate to 0. Hence, we have shown additivity.

viii) Let $H \subset G$ be a closed subgroup and $(r, m) \in (R \ltimes M)(H)$. Then

$$\begin{split} P^{k}(\mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}(r,m)) = & (P^{k}(\mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}(r)), \mathrm{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(\mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}(r)) \times \mathrm{tr}_{H}^{G}(m))) \\ = & (\mathrm{tr}_{\Sigma_{k} \wr H}^{\Sigma_{k} \wr G}(P^{k}(r)), \mathrm{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(\mathrm{tr}_{(\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G}^{(\Sigma_{k-1} \wr G) \times G}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m))) \\ = & (\mathrm{tr}_{\Sigma_{k} \wr H}^{\Sigma_{k} \wr G}(P^{k}(r)), \mathrm{tr}_{\Sigma_{k} \wr H}^{\Sigma_{k} \wr G}(\mathrm{tr}_{k-1,1}^{H}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m))) = \mathrm{tr}_{\Sigma_{k} \wr H}^{\Sigma_{k} \wr G}P^{k}(r,m). \end{split}$$

Here, in the last line, we used the transitivity of the transfer to commute the two transfers.

That the maps $\eta: R \to R \ltimes M$ and $\varepsilon: R \ltimes M \to R$ are morphisms of global power functors is an easy calculation. Thus $R \ltimes M$ is an augmented *R*-algebra.

We now check functoriality. Let $f: M \to N$ be a morphism of R-modules, we need to show that $R \ltimes f$ is a morphism of augmented R-algebras. First, we check that $R \ltimes f$ is a map of global functors. This is clear, since additively, $R \ltimes f = R \oplus f$, which is a morphism of global functors. It is a map of global Green functors, since we have $(R \ltimes f)(1,0) = (1,0)$, and for $(r,m), (r',m') \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$, we calculate

$$(R \ltimes f)((r,m) \cdot (r',m')) = (rr', f(rm' + r'm)) = (rr', rf(m') + r'f(m)) = (R \ltimes f)(r,m) \cdot (R \ltimes f)(r',m').$$

Moreover, $R \ltimes f$ commutes with the power operations, since for $(r, m) \in (R \ltimes M)(G)$,

$$(R \ltimes f)(P^{k}(r,m)) = (P^{k}(r), f(\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(r) \times m))) = (P^{k}(r), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(r) \times f(m)))$$
$$= P^{k}((R \ltimes f)(r,m)).$$

Finally, $R \ltimes f$ also commutes with the unit η and the augmentation ε , since it is the identity on the *R*-summand. Thus $R \ltimes f$ is a morphism of augmented *R*-algebras. Functoriality is then clear.

1.2.b Derivations of Global Power Functors

Definition 1.2.8. Let R be a global power functor, S be an R-algebra with unit map $\eta: R \to S$ and let M be an S-module. Then, an R-derivation of S with values in M is a map $d: S \to M$ of global functors such that the following properties are satisfied:

i) For all compact Lie groups G and $s, s' \in S(G)$,

$$d(ss') = sd(s') + s'd(s).$$

ii) For all compact Lie groups G and $s \in S(G)$,

$$d(P^{k}(s)) = \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(P^{k-1}(s) \times d(s)).$$

iii) The composition $d \circ \eta = 0$ vanishes.

We denote the set of *R*-derivations of *S* with values in *M* by $\text{Der}_R(S, M)$. This is an abelian group by addition of morphisms of global functors.

Remark 1.2.9. As for derivations of commutative rings, the property in Definition 1.2.8 *iii*) is equivalent to d being R-linear. Indeed, if $r \in R(G)$ and $s \in S(G)$, then we calculate

$$d(\eta(r)s) = \eta(r)d(s) + d(\eta(r))s = \eta(r)d(s).$$

Conversely, if d is R-linear, using the Leibniz-rule for $\eta(r) \cdot 1$ for any $r \in R(G)$ gives $d \circ \eta = 0$.

Moreover, the Leibniz rule in Definition 1.2.8 i) is formulated in terms of the internal product of a global Green functor. It can equivalently be given using the external product, and then takes the form

$$d(s \times s') = s \times d(s') + d(s) \times s'$$

for $s \in S(G)$ and $s' \in S(K)$.

Remark 1.2.10. The formula given in Definition 1.2.8 *ii*) for the behaviour of a derivation on a power operation can be thought of as a twisted version of the classical Leibniz rule. On a usual power, a derivation satisfies $d(x^k) = kx^{k-1}d(x)$. The power operations are an equivariant refinement of the usual powers in a commutative ring. The index of $(\sum_{k=1} i G) \times G$ in $\sum_k i G$ is k, and hence the transfer $\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G$ can be considered as an equivariantly twisted version of multiplication by k. In particular, for a constant global power algebra \underline{S} over \underline{R} for an R-algebra S, the above notion of a derivation recovers the usual notion of a derivation on a commutative algebra.

Moreover, this formula for the twisted Leibniz rule is a generalization of the formula for derivations of G-Tambara functors present implicitly in Strickland's definition of square-zero extensions in [62, Definition 14.8] and made explicit by Hill in [30, Definition 4.1]. This formula is

$$d(N_H^K(s)) = \operatorname{tr}_H^K(N_{\operatorname{pr}_1}\operatorname{res}_{\operatorname{pr}_2}(s) \cdot d(s))$$

for $s \in S(K)$ and $K \leq H \leq G$ a sequence of subgroups in G. This definition can be translated into our context of power operations using Remark 1.1.20, and the calculations are exactly the same as in Remark 1.2.6.

The main property of derivations is that they control maps into square-zero extensions.

Theorem 1.2.11. Let R be a global power functor, S and T be R-algebras and $f: T \to S$ be a map of R-algebras, making T into an R-algebra augmented over S. Let M be an S-module, considered as a T-module via f. Then, the map

$$\operatorname{Der}_R(T,M) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/S}(T,S \ltimes M)$$
$$d \mapsto f \ltimes d$$

is bijective.

Proof. We first prove that for an *R*-derivation $d: T \to M$, the map $f \ltimes d$ is indeed a map of *R*-algebras augmented to *S*. It is a map of global functors as the direct sum of two maps of global functors. Moreover, for a compact Lie group *G* and $t, t' \in T(G)$, we have

$$(f \ltimes d)(t \cdot t') = (f(tt'), d(tt')) = (f(t)f(t'), f(t)d(t') + f(t')d(t)) = (f \ltimes d)(t) \cdot (f \ltimes d)(t'),$$

where in the second equation, we note that the *T*-module structure on *M* is via the map $f: T \to S$. Together with $(f \ltimes d)(1) = (f(1), 0) = (1, 0)$, this proves that $f \ltimes d$ is a map of global Green functors.

Let now G be again a compact Lie group, $t \in T(G)$ and $k \ge 1$. Then

$$(f \ltimes d)(P^{k}(t)) = (f(P^{k}(t)), d(P^{k}(t))) = (P^{k}(f(t)), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^{G}(f(P^{k-1}(t)) \times d(t))) = P^{k}(f(t), d(t)),$$

thus $f \ltimes d$ is a map of global power functors. Moreover, if $\eta \colon R \to T$ is the unit of the *R*-algebra *T*, we have the identity

$$(f \ltimes d)(\eta(r)) = (f(\eta(r)), d(\eta(r))) = (f(\eta(r)), 0)$$

for any compact Lie group G and $r \in R(G)$, since $d \circ \eta = 0$ by the property that d is an R-derivation. Thus, by definition of the algebra structure of $S \ltimes M$, we see that $f \ltimes d$ is a map of R-algebras. As the map $f \ltimes d$ agrees with f on the S-summand and the augmentation of $S \ltimes M$ is the projection onto S, we see that $f \ltimes d$ is a map of R-algebras augmented to S.

Now let $g: T \to S \ltimes M$ be a map of *R*-algebras augmented to *S*. We denote the two projections of *g* to *S* and *M* by $g_S = \pi_S \circ g$ and $g_M = \pi_M \circ g$, such that $g(t) = (g_S(t), g_M(t))$. As *g* commutes with the augmentations and the augmentation on $S \ltimes M$ is π_S , we see that $g_S = f$. We now show that $g_M: T \to M$ is an *R*-derivation. As both *g* and π_M are morphisms of global functors, also g_M is a morphism of global functors. Let *G* be a compact Lie group and $t, t' \in T(G)$. Then,

$$g_M(tt') = \pi_M(g(tt')) = \pi_M(g(t) \cdot g(t')) = \pi_M(f(t)f(t'), f(t)g_M(t') + f(t')g_M(t))$$

= $f(t)g_M(t') + f(t')g_M(t)$

and for any $k \ge 1$, we have

$$g_M(P^k(t)) = \pi_M(g(P^k(t))) = \pi_M(P^k(g(t))) = \pi_M((P^k(f(t)), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(f(t)) \times g_M(t))))$$

= $\operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}^G(P^{k-1}(f(t)) \times g_M(t)).$

Lastly, for any $r \in R(G)$, we have $g_M(\eta(r)) = \pi_M(g(\eta(r))) = \pi_M(f(\eta(r)), 0) = 0$, since g is a map of R-algebras. Hence, g_M is indeed an R-derivation. Then we consider the assignment

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/S}(T, S \ltimes M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M), g \mapsto g_M.$$

Since for any $g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/S}(T, S \ltimes M)$, we have $g_S = f$, we see that $g = f \ltimes g_M$, and for any R-derivation $d: T \to M$, we have $d = (f \ltimes d)_M$. Thus, these assignments are inverse to each other.

1.2.c Kähler Differentials of Global Power Functors

Theorem 1.2.11 shows that morphisms into a square-zero extension are characterized by derivations. In the case of commutative rings, the functor of derivations is representable. The same statement is also true for the functor $\text{Der}_R(S, _)$: $\text{Mod}_S \to \text{Ab}$, where S is a global power functor. We call the representing object the module of Kähler differentials. Most of the relevant properties of this S-module can be deduced purely from this description, and we follow this line of thought in order to give proofs that follow the classical ones without needing to explicitly handle the power operations. We show the existence of the module of Kähler differentials by considering the multiplication map $S \square_R S \to S$ of an *R*-power algebra *S*. Here, the classical recipe of taking the kernel *I* of the multiplication and forming the indecomposables I/I^2 has to be slightly modified to account for the power operations. In the case of a fixed group *G*, this has already been carried out for Tambara functors by Hill in [30, Chapter 5]. The construction used here also becomes useful when studying the naive cotangent complex as a means to calculate the low-degree André-Quillen (co-)homology in Section 1.5.c.

Definition 1.2.12. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-power algebra. Suppose the functor

$$\operatorname{Der}_R(S,_)\colon \operatorname{Mod}_S \to \operatorname{Ab}$$

is representable. Then we denote a representing object by $(\Omega^1_{S/R}, d)$ and call $\Omega^1_{S/R}$ the module of Kähler differentials. The *R*-derivation $d: S \to \Omega^1_{S/R}$ is called the universal derivation.

From this, we directly observe that if these modules of Kähler differentials exist for every R-power algebra S, they are automatically functorial in the R-algebra S. Since $\Omega_{S/R}^1$ is naturally an S-module for any R-power algebra S, a natural target for a functor of Kähler differentials is $\mathcal{M}od^R$, the category of pairs of an R-power algebra and modules over it, which arises as the Grothendieck construction from the 2-functor $\operatorname{Alg}_R \to \operatorname{Cat}, S \mapsto \operatorname{Mod}_S$. However, we do not need this formulation here and hence do not provide any details on this construction. We only need the resulting functor

$$R\square_{()}\Omega^1_{()/R}$$
: $\operatorname{Alg}_R/R \to \operatorname{Mod}_R$

and the relative version

$$S\square_{()}\Omega^1_{()/R}$$
: $\operatorname{Alg}_R/S \to \operatorname{Mod}_S$

for a fixed R-power algebra S.

This functoriality is also compatible with a change in the base global power functor R. Explicitly, if we are given a commutative square



of global power functors, then we obtain an induced morphism $\Omega^1_{S/R} \to \Omega^1_{S'/R'}$ of S-modules, or equivalently by extension of scalars, a morphism $S' \Box_S \Omega^1_{S/R} \to \Omega^1_{S'/R'}$ of S'-modules.

We prove the existence of Kähler differentials for any global power functor R and R-power algebra S in Theorem 1.2.24. This existence allows us to formulate the following adjunction, which is a consequence from the definition of Kähler differentials and Theorem 1.2.11:

Theorem 1.2.13. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra. Then the functor

$$S\square_{()}\Omega^1_{()/R}$$
: Alg_R/S \rightarrow Mod_S

is left adjoint to

$$S \ltimes (_) \colon \operatorname{Mod}_S \to \operatorname{Alg}_R / S.$$

Proof. Let M be an S-module and T be an R-algebra augmented to S. Then we can consider M as a T-module via the map $\varepsilon: T \to S$. Then we have the chain

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/S}(T, S \ltimes M) \cong \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_T(\Omega^1_{T/R}, M)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_S(S \Box_T \Omega^1_{T/R}, M)$$

of bijections. This proves that the functors are adjoint.

Example 1.2.14. As an example, we calculate the global functor of Kähler differentials on a polynomial global power functor from Definition 1.1.22. Let R be a global power functor and $R[x_K]$ be a polynomial R-power algebra on a generator at level K. We claim that

$$\Omega^1_{R[x_K]/R} \cong R[x_K] \{ dx_K \} \coloneqq R[x_K] \Box \mathbb{A}(K, _)$$

is a free $R[x_K]$ -module on one generator in degree K, which we call dx_K . For the proof, we show that this satisfies the universal property of the module of Kähler-differentials: Let M be any $R[x_K]$ -module. Then we have the chain

$$\operatorname{Der}_{R}(R[x_{K}], M) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_{R}/R[x_{K}]}(R[x_{K}], R[x_{K}] \ltimes M) \cong M(K) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{R[x_{K}]}(R[x_{K}] \Box \mathbb{A}(K, _), M)$$

of bijections, where the second bijection uses $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R}(R[x_K], R[x_K] \ltimes M) \cong (R[x_K] \ltimes M)(K)$, and that such a morphism is a morphism over $R[x_K]$ iff the first component is x_K . The composite bijection above exhibits the universal property of $\Omega^1_{R[x_K]/R}$, thus we have shown that we have $\Omega^1_{R[x_K]/R} \cong R[x_K]\{dx_K\}.$

We can also describe the universal derivation in this context, using the above isomorphism to translate the identity on the right side into a derivation $d: R[x_K] \to R[x_K] \Box \mathbb{A}(K, _)$. This yields $d(x_K) = 1 \Box id_K$, which justifies the name $R[x_K] \{dx_K\}$ for this module. Generally, a power $P^n(x_K)$ satisfies

$$d(P^n(x_K)) = \operatorname{tr}_{n-1,1}^K (P^{n-1}x_K \times dx_K).$$

By the same representability arguments or using Proposition 1.2.30 (at least for finitely many generators), we get the following result for general polynomial algebras:

Proposition 1.2.15. Let R be a global power functor and K_i be (not necessarily distinct) compact Lie groups for $i \in I$, with I any indexing set. Let

$$T = R[x_{i,K_i}, i \in I] \coloneqq \prod_{i \in I} R[x_{i,K_i}]$$

be a polynomial algebra over R in generators indexed by I. Then

$$\Omega^1_{T/R} \cong T\{dx_{i,K_i}, i \in I\} \coloneqq \bigoplus_{i \in I} T \Box \mathbb{A}(K_i, _)$$

is a free T-module on generators indexed by I.

Another case in which Kähler differentials are easily computed using the universal property is for surjections $R \to S$. A morphism of global power functors is called a surjection if it is levelwise surjective. This is equivalent to being an epimorphism in the category of global power functors, and all epimorphisms are effective. This can be deduced as a consequence of the description of global power algebras as a multisorted algebraic theory in Remark 1.1.24.

Proposition 1.2.16. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra such that the unit map $\eta: R \to S$ is surjective. Then $\Omega^1_{S/R} = 0$.

Proof. Since any *R*-derivation $d: S \to M$ vanishes on the image of the unit map $\eta: R \to S$, surjectivity of η implies that $\text{Der}_R(S, _) = 0$ is trivial. Hence, this functor is represented by the zero module, so $\Omega^1_{S/R} = 0$.

By exhibiting a construction, we now show that Kähler differentials exist for all *R*-power algebras *S*. Classically, we have the formula $\Omega_{S/R}^1 \cong I/I^2$, where *I* denotes the kernel of the multiplication map $S \otimes_R S \to S$. In our context, the kernel of the multiplication map is a global power ideal as defined in Definition 1.1.30 and is still the correct object to consider, but in the presence of power operations, we have to replace I^2 by an object that also contains powers of elements in *I*. We follow the definitions given by Hill in [30, Definitions 5.1 and 5.4].

Definition 1.2.17. Let R be a global power functor and I be a power ideal in R. Then we define the ideal $I^{\geq 2}$ of decomposables in I as the submodule of R generated by elements of the form $P^{k_1}(x_1) \times \ldots \times P^{k_n}(x_n)$ with $k_1 + \ldots + k_n \geq 2$ and all $x_i \in I$. Explicitly, the value of $I^{\geq 2}$ at a compact Lie group G is given by

$$I^{\geq 2}(G) = \left\{ \sum_{\substack{j \in J\\ J \text{ finite}}} \operatorname{tr}_{H_j}^G \alpha_j^*(r_j \times P^{k_{j,1}}(x_{j,1}) \times \ldots \times P^{k_{j,n_j}}(x_{j,n_j})) \mid k_{j,1} + \ldots + k_{j,n_j} \geq 2 \right\},$$
(1.2.18)

where K_j and $K_{j,i}$ are compact Lie groups, $H_j \subset G$ are closed subgroups of G, $\alpha_j \colon H_j \to K_j \times (X_{i=1}^{n_j} \Sigma_{k_{j,i}} \wr K_{j,i})$ are continuous homomorphisms and $r_j \in R(K_j), x_{j,i} \in I(K_{j,i})$.

Lemma 1.2.19. With the above definition (1.2.18), $I^{\geq 2}$ is a power ideal in R.

Proof. By the definition of $I^{\geq 2}$ in (1.2.18) and the relations satisfied by compositions of transfers and restrictions given in Remark 1.1.2, we see that $I^{\geq 2}$ is closed under restrictions and transfers. Moreover, it is a Green ideal in R, since for $s \in R(L)$, $r \in R(K)$ and $x_i \in I(K_i)$ and natural numbers $k_i \geq 1$ with $k_1 + \ldots + k_n \geq 2$, and H and α as above, we calculate

$$s \times \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(\alpha^{*}(r \times P^{k_{1}}(x_{1}) \times \ldots \times P^{k_{n}}(x_{n}))) = \operatorname{tr}_{L \times H}^{L \times G}((L \times \alpha)^{*}((s \times r) \times P^{k_{1}}(x_{1}) \times \ldots \times P^{k_{n}}(x_{n}))).$$

This again is an element in $I^{\geq 2}$.

Finally, we check that $I^{\geq 2}$ is closed under power operations. With the same notation as before, we have

$$P^{k}(\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}\alpha^{*}(r \times P^{k_{1}}(x_{1}) \times \ldots \times P^{k_{n}}(x_{n}))) = \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_{k}\wr H}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr G}(\Sigma_{k}\wr\alpha)^{*}(P^{k}(r \times P^{k_{1}}(x_{1}) \times \ldots \times P^{k_{n}}(x_{n})))$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_{k}\wr H}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr G}((\Sigma_{k}\wr\alpha)^{*}\circ\Delta_{k}^{*}\circ(X\Psi_{k,k_{i}})^{*})(P^{k}(r) \times P^{kk_{1}}(x_{1}) \times \ldots \times P^{kk_{n}}(x_{n}))$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_{k}\wr H}^{\Sigma_{k}\wr G}((X\Psi_{k,k_{i}})\circ\Delta_{k}\circ(\Sigma_{k}\wr\alpha))^{*}(P^{k}(r) \times P^{kk_{1}}(x_{1}) \times \ldots \times P^{kk_{n}}(x_{n})),$$

where Δ_k is an iterated version of the diagonal embedding from Remark A.1.3 *iii*), which is used in the external multiplicativity of power operations, as explained in Remark 1.1.19. The closure of multiplication and power operations on arbitrary sums of the above elements then follows from additivity. This completes the proof that $I^{\geq 2}$ is a power ideal in R.

We consider the following construction that turns out to calculate the module of Kähler differentials:

Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra, with unit $\eta: R \to S$. Let

$$\mu\colon S\square_R S \to S$$

be the multiplication map of S. Let $I = \ker(\mu)$. Then we consider the global functor $I/I^{\geq 2}$. Moreover, we define the morphism

$$d: S \xrightarrow{id \square \eta - \eta \square id} I/I^{\geq 2}$$
(1.2.20)

as the difference of the inclusion as the left and right factor, using $S \cong R \Box_R S \cong S \Box_R R$.

Proposition 1.2.21. The S-module structure on $S \square_R S$ by multiplication in the left factor defines the structure of an S-module on the global functor $I/I^{\geq 2}$. Moreover, the map $d: S \to I/I^{\geq 2}$ is an R-derivation.

Proof. We already know that I is an $S \square_R S$ -module, since it is an ideal in $S \square_R S$. Moreover, $I^{\geq 2}$ is a subideal in I, and hence $I/I^{\geq 2}$ is an $S \square_R S$ -module. Now, using the left inclusion $S \xrightarrow{id \square \eta} S \square_R S$, we see that the left multiplication on $S \square_R S$ induces an S-module structure on $I/I^{\geq 2}$.

As the difference of two maps of global functors, the map $d = id\Box\eta - \eta\Box id$ is a map of global functors. Let $s, s' \in S(G)$, then we have

$$\begin{aligned} d(s \cdot s') &= (s \cdot s') \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot (s \cdot s') \\ &= (s \cdot s') \boxdot 1 - s \boxdot s' + (s \cdot s') \boxdot 1 - s' \boxdot s \\ &= (s \boxdot 1) \cdot (s' \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot s') + (s' \boxdot 1) \cdot (s \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot s) = s \cdot d(s') + s' \cdot d(s). \end{aligned}$$

Here, $\Box: S(G) \otimes S(G) \to (S \Box_R S)(G)$ is the universal diagonal product explained in Remark 1.1.13. In the second line, we added $(s \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot s) \cdot (s' \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot s') \in I^{\geq 2}$, which is trivial in $I/I^{\geq 2}$. Moreover, for $s \in S(G)$ and $k \geq 1$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} d(P^{k}(s)) &= P^{k}(s) \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot P^{k}(s) \\ &= P^{k}(s \boxdot 1) - P^{k}(1 \boxdot s) = P^{k}(s \boxdot 1) - P^{k}(s \boxdot 1 - d(s)) \\ &= P^{k}(s \boxdot 1) - \sum_{i=0}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(s \boxdot 1) \times P^{i}(-d(s))) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(s) \times d(s)) - \sum_{i=2}^{k} (P^{k-i}(s) \times P^{i}(-d(s))). \end{aligned}$$

Here, we used the power operations on the boxproduct $S \square_R S$, making it into the coproduct in global power functors, as described in [55, Example 5.2.15]. Moreover, we again used that the S-module structure on I is given by the left inclusion of S into $S \square_R S$, in order to identify the action of $P^k(s)$ with that of $P^k(s \boxdot 1)$. In this formula, the last sum lies in $I^{\geq 2}$, hence we see that in $I/I^{\geq 2}$, we have the relation

$$d(P^k(s)) = \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(s) \times d(s)).$$

Finally, since the boxproduct $S \square_R S$ is taken over R, we see that for $r \in R(G)$, we have $d(\eta(r)) = r \boxdot 1 - 1 \boxdot r = 0$, and thus d is indeed an R-derivation of S with values in $I/I^{\ge 2}$. \Box

Another way to see that d is a derivation is to identify the square-zero extension $S \ltimes (I/I^{\geq 2})$ with $(S \square_R S)/I^{\geq 2}$ and use the characterization of morphisms into a square-zero extension from Theorem 1.2.11. This in fact amounts to the same calculations as in the previous proof, but since the result is interesting on its own, we state it explicitly. Lemma 1.2.22. The map

$$\psi_{S/R} = (id\Box\eta, -\operatorname{incl}) \colon S \ltimes (I/I^{\geq 2}) \to (S\Box_R S)/I^{\geq 2}, \, (s, x) \mapsto (s \boxdot 1 - x)$$

is an isomorphism of global power functors, such that the diagram



commutes.

Proof. Since as global functors, $S \ltimes I/I^{\geq 2} = S \oplus I/I^{\geq 2}$ and both the left inclusion $id\Box\eta$ and the inclusion of $I/I^{\geq 2}$ into $(S\Box_R S)/I^{\geq 2}$ are maps of global functors, we see that $\psi_{S/R}$ is a morphism of global functors. To see that it is a map of global power functors, we have to do a similar calculation as in the proof of Proposition 1.2.21 as follows. Let G be a compact Lie group and $(s, x), (s', x') \in (S \ltimes I/I^{\geq 2})(G)$. Then,

$$\psi_{S/R}((s,x) \cdot (s',x')) = \psi_{S/R}(ss',sx'+s'x)$$

=ss' $\boxdot 1 - sx' - s'x$
= $\psi_{S/R}(s,x) \cdot \psi_{S/R}(s',x') - \underbrace{xx'}_{\in I \ge 2}$

and for $k \ge 1$ we have

$$\begin{split} P^{k}(\psi_{S/R}(s,x)) &= P^{k}(s\boxdot 1-x) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(s\boxdot 1) \times P^{i}(-x)) \\ &= P^{k}(s)\boxdot 1 - \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(s) \times x) + \sum_{i=2}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(s) \times P^{i}(-x)) \\ &= \psi_{S/R}(P^{k}(s,x)) + \underbrace{\sum_{i=2}^{k} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(s) \times P^{i}(-x))}_{\in I^{\geq 2}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, the map $\psi_{S/R}$ is a map of global power functors. By the explicit formulas, we directly see that $\psi_{S/R} \circ (id \ltimes d) = \eta \Box id$ is the right inclusion of S in $S \Box_R S$. Moreover, since for any element $x \in I/I^{\geq 2}$ the multiplication $\mu(x) = 0$ vanishes, also the augmentations agree. To see that $\psi_{S/R}$ is an isomorphism, we explicitly construct an inverse. We consider

$$\tilde{\psi}_{S/R} \colon (S \square_R S)/I^{\geq 2} \to S \ltimes I/I^{\geq 2}, \, \xi \mapsto (\mu(\xi), \mu(\xi) \boxtimes 1 - \xi).$$

This is well-defined on the quotient by $I^{\geq 2}$, since for $\xi \in I^{\geq 2}$, we have both $\mu(\xi) = 0$ and $\xi = 0 \in I/I^{\geq 2}$. By an easy calculation, it is inverse to $\psi_{S/R}$. Thus, $\psi_{S/R}$ is an isomorphism of global power functors.

Now, we show that the derivation $d: S \to I/I^{\geq 2}$ is the universal *R*-derivation on *S* and $I/I^{\geq 2}$ is a model for the Kähler differentials. First, we need the following lemma:

Lemma 1.2.23. The S-module $I/I^{\geq 2}$ is generated by the image of $d: S \to I/I^{\geq 2}$.

Proof. Since $I/I^{\geq 2}$ is a quotient of an ideal in $S \Box_R S$, we first consider this box product. By Remark 1.1.9, the elements $s \boxtimes s'$ for $s \in S(H), s' \in S(H')$ generate the global functor $S \Box_R S$, where H and H' run through the pairs of representatives of isomorphism classes of compact Lie groups.

Thus, we may write any element of $I(G) \subset (S \Box_R S)(G)$ as $\sum \operatorname{tr}_{H_i}^G(\alpha_i^*(x_i \boxtimes y_i))$ for some finite index set J, compact Lie groups K_i, K'_i , closed subgroups $H_i \subset G$, continuous homomorphisms $\alpha_i \colon H_i \to K_i \times K'_i$ and elements $x_i \in S(K_i), y_i \in S(K'_i)$. Then, we can calculate

$$\sum \operatorname{tr}_{H_i}^G(\alpha^*(x_i \boxtimes y_i)) = \sum \operatorname{tr}_{H_i}^G(\alpha^*((x_i \times y_i) \boxtimes 1 - x_i \times d(y_i))).$$

Since we started with an element in the kernel of the multiplication map, we see that the first summands sum to zero. Thus, we see that the elements $d(y_i)$ generate $I/I^{\geq 2}$ as an S-module. \Box

This allows us now to show that Kähler differentials exist by showing the universal property for $(I/I^{\geq 2}, d)$.

Theorem 1.2.24. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra. Let M be an S-module, and $d: S \to I/I^{\geq 2}$ be the derivation from (1.2.20). Then the map

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(I/I^{\geq 2}, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_{R}(S, M), \varphi \mapsto \varphi \circ d$$

is an isomorphism of abelian groups natural in M. In particular, Kähler differentials exist for all R-power algebras, and we have

$$\Omega^1_{S/R} \cong I/I^{\geq 2}.$$

Proof. First, we need to check that $\varphi \circ d$ is indeed a derivation. This is easily seen from the definition in 1.2.8, since φ is a morphism of S-modules. Moreover, the map $\varphi \mapsto \varphi \circ d$ is clearly additive.

We now construct an inverse map: Let $e \in \text{Der}_R(S, M)$ be an *R*-derivation. Then, by 1.2.11, we obtain a morphism $id \ltimes e \colon S \to S \ltimes M$ of *R*-algebras augmented to *S*. Then, the extension-of-scalars adjunction between *R*- and *S*-algebras gives a map

$$\overline{id \ltimes e} \colon S \square_R S \to S \ltimes M$$

of S-algebras augmented to S, where on the left we have as augmentation the multiplication. Hence, this induces a morphism $\tilde{\varphi}_e \colon I \to M$ between the augmentations ideals as power ideals. Since $S \ltimes M$ is a square-zero extension, all products and power operations vanish on the augmentation ideal M, so this factors over a morphism

$$\varphi_e \colon I/I^{\geq 2} \to M$$

of S-modules.

We now claim that these two assignments are inverse to each other. Let $e: S \to M$ be an R-derivation. Then, we consider the diagram

$$S \square_R S \xrightarrow{id \ltimes e} S \ltimes M$$
$$\xrightarrow{proj \cong id \ltimes d} (S \square_R S)/I^{\geq 2} \cong S \ltimes I/I^{\geq 2}$$

of morphisms of augmented S-algebras, where the identification at the bottom and the translation of the projection morphism follow from Lemma 1.2.22. This diagram commutes by the definition of φ_e . Thus, we obtain the equation $e = \varphi_e \circ d$ by restricting to elements of the form $1 \square s$ in $S \square_R S$. This proves that one composition of the above morphisms is the identity. Moreover, this implies for a morphism $\varphi: I/I^{\geq 2} \to M$ and $e = \varphi \circ d$ that $\varphi \circ d = \varphi_{\varphi \circ d} \circ d$. By Lemma 1.2.23, we can cancel precomposition with d in the category of S-modules, hence $\varphi_{\varphi \circ d} = \varphi$, which proves that the other composition is also the identity. Naturality of the morphism is clear. Hence, we have proven the theorem. \square

Remark 1.2.25. Theorem 1.2.24 shows that the functor of derivations is representable. Thus, the abelian group of R-derivations on S can be described as the group of homomorphisms between two S-modules. By Proposition 1.1.8, the category of global functors is closed symmetric monoidal, and this transfers to the category of S-modules. Hence, we observe that we can upgrade the abelian group structure on $\text{Der}_R(S, M)$ to a global functor of derivations. This may be done by defining

$$\operatorname{Der}_{R}(S,M)(G) = \operatorname{Der}_{R}(S,M[G]).$$
(1.2.26)

This definition uses the description of the internal function object in Proposition 1.1.16 in terms of shifted modules.

This enrichment to a global-functor-valued functor of derivations later leads to a possible interpretation of S-modules as global functor objects in augmented S-algebras, as we explain in Section 1.3.b. It also emphasizes the duality between Kähler differentials and derivations, which later leads to the duality between André-Quillen homology and cohomology.

1.2.d Base Change and Transitivity

In this section, we prove the basic properties of Kähler differentials and derivations, namely a transitivity exact sequence and a base change result. These results are important for the calculation of Kähler differentials and derivations. Moreover, the existence of right and left exact sequences of Kähler differentials and derivations, respectively, raises the question of existence of derived functors, which then leads to the development of André-Quillen homology and cohomology. We start with the base change.

Proposition 1.2.27. Let R be a global power functor, S and R' be R-algebras and $S' = R' \Box_R S$. Then, the morphism

$$\varphi \colon R' \Box_R \Omega^1_{S/R} \cong S' \Box_S \Omega^1_{S/R} \to \Omega^1_{S'/R'}$$

of S'-modules, arising from functoriality of the Kähler differentials, is an isomorphism. Moreover, for any S'-module M, restriction along $S \to S'$ gives an isomorphism

$$\varphi^* \colon \operatorname{Der}_{R'}(S', M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M).$$

Proof. We start with the statement for the functor Der, the statement for Ω^1 follows from representability, since the restriction morphism is dual to φ . We define an inverse morphism to φ^* as

$$\psi^* \colon \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_{R'}(S', M)$$
$$d \mapsto (S' = R' \Box_R S \xrightarrow{R' \Box d} R' \Box_R M \xrightarrow{\mu} M),$$

where $\mu: R' \square_R M \to M$ is the restriction of the S'-module structure of M. We need to check that for any R-derivation $d: S \to M$, the morphism $\psi^*(d)$ indeed is an R'-derivation. It is a morphism of global functors, and we can verify the equations from 1.2.8 on elements of the form $r \Box s$ with $r \in R'(G)$ and $s \in S(G)$, since these elements generate $R' \Box_R S$. We have, for $r \boxdot s, r' \boxdot s' \in (R' \Box_R S)(G)$ and $k \ge 1$,

$$\begin{split} \psi^{*}(d)((r \boxdot s) \cdot (r' \boxdot s')) &= \psi^{*}(d)((rr') \boxdot (ss')) \\ &= (rr') \cdot d(ss') = (rr') \cdot (sd(s') + s'd(s)) \\ &= (r \boxdot s) \cdot (r'd(s')) + (r' \boxdot s') \cdot (rd(s)) \\ &= (r \boxdot s) \cdot \psi^{*}(d)(r' \boxdot s') + (r' \boxdot s') \cdot \psi^{*}(d)(r \boxdot s) \\ \psi^{*}(d)(P^{k}(r \boxdot s)) &= \psi^{*}(d)(P^{k}(r) \boxdot P^{k}(s)) \\ &= P^{k}(r) \cdot \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(s) \times d(s)) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(\Phi^{*}_{k-1,1}(P^{k}(r)) \cdot (P^{k-1}(s) \times d(s))) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}((P^{k-1}(r) \boxdot P^{k-1}(s)) \times (r \cdot d(s))) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(r \boxdot s) \times \psi^{*}(d)(r \boxdot s)). \end{split}$$

Moreover, the composition $R' \to R' \square_R S \xrightarrow{\psi^*(d)} M$ is the extension of scalars of the morphism $R \to S \xrightarrow{d} M$, which is trivial since d is an R-derivation. So $\psi^*(d)$ vanishes on R' and hence is an R'-derivation. Now we have to check that ψ^* is indeed inverse to φ^* . The composition $\varphi^* \circ \psi^*$ is the morphism

$$\operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M), d \mapsto (S \to S' = R' \Box_R S \xrightarrow{R' \cdot d} M).$$

On any element $s \in S(G)$, we see that the right derivation takes the value $s \mapsto 1 \boxdot s \mapsto 1 \cdot d(s) = d(s)$, so this composition is the identity. The other composition is the map

The other composition is the map

1

$$\operatorname{Der}_{R'}(S', M) \to \operatorname{Der}_{R'}(S', M), d \mapsto (S' = R' \Box_R S \xrightarrow{R' \cdot d_{|S|}} M)$$

This maps any element $r \boxdot s$ to $r \cdot d(s)$. Since d is R'-linear, we see that this agrees with $d(r \boxdot s)$. Since elements of this form generate S', we see that also this composition is the identity. This finishes the proof.

Remark 1.2.28. The inverse morphism ψ^* : $\operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_{R'}(S', M)$ constructed in the proof is induced by a morphism $\psi: \Omega^1_{S'/R'} \to S' \Box_S \Omega^1_{S/R}$ of S'-modules. This morphism can be constructed by universality from the differential

$$\tilde{d} \coloneqq R' \Box_R d_{S/R} \colon S' \cong R' \Box_R S \to R' \Box_R \Omega^1_{S/R} \cong S' \Box_S \Omega^1_{S/R}$$

The calculations that this is indeed a differential and that the resulting map ψ is inverse to φ can be done by similar arguments as in the given proof, but also follow formally by representability.

Next, we show that we have the transitivity exact sequences:

Proposition 1.2.29. Let $R \to S \to T$ be a triple of global power functors and M be a T-module. Then the sequences

$$T\square_S \Omega^1_{S/R} \to \Omega^1_{T/R} \to \Omega^1_{T/S} \to 0$$

of T-modules and

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_S(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M)$$

of abelian groups are exact, where the morphisms are the natural ones induced by the restrictions of derivations.

Proof. We again start with the statement for derivations. There, exactness is clear, since by definition, $\text{Der}_S(T, M)$ is the subgroup of $\text{Der}_R(T, M)$ consisting of exactly those derivations which vanish on S.

That the sequence of representing objects is exact is then a consequence of the Yoneda Lemma. \Box

Finally, we also describe how the Kähler differentials and derivations interact with coproducts. Note that the coproduct in the category of R-power algebras is given by the relative box product \Box_R defined in (1.1.27). This can be deduced from the description of coproducts in the slice category of R-power algebras and since colimits in global power functors are calculated in the category of global Green functors. This last statement holds since global power functors are comonadic over global Green functors, as shown in [55, Section 5.2].

Proposition 1.2.30. Let R be a global power functor and let S and T be R-algebras. Then the inclusions $S \to S \Box_R T$ and $T \to S \Box_R T$ induce an isomorphism

$$(\Omega^1_{S/R} \Box T) \oplus (S \Box \Omega^1_{T/R}) \to \Omega_{S \Box_R T/R},$$

and dually, restriction along these inclusions induces an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Der}_R(S\Box_R T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \oplus \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M)$$

for any $S \square_R T$ -module M.

Proof. As before, we only give the proof of the fact for derivations, the claim for the Kähler differentials follows by representability.

We need to define an inverse map $\operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \oplus \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S \Box_R T, M)$. So let $d: S \to M$ and $d': T \to M$ be *R*-derivations. Then we define $\overline{d}: S \Box_R T \to M$ on $S \Box_R T$ via the bimorphism

$$S(G) \otimes T(K) \to M(G \times K), \ s \boxtimes t \mapsto d(s) \times t + s \times d'(t).$$

This descends to a well-defined map on $S \square_R T$ by *R*-linearity of the derivations, and it is easy to check that this is indeed a derivation. Thus, we have defined a morphism $\text{Der}_R(S, M) \oplus$ $\text{Der}_R(T, M) \to \text{Der}_R(S \square_R T, M)$. Moreover, it is clearly inverse to the morphism

$$\operatorname{Der}_R(S \Box_R T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \oplus \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M)$$

defined by restriction. This finishes the proof.

1.3 The Comparison to Beck Modules

In the classical theory of commutative rings, it is a well-known fact that the category of modules over a commutative ring R can equivalently be described as the category of abelian group objects in the category of augmented algebras over R.

Theorem 1.3.1. Let R be a commutative ring. Then the functors

$$\operatorname{Mod}_R \xleftarrow{R \ltimes (_)}{\ker} \operatorname{Ab}(\operatorname{Alg}_R / R)$$

are inverse equivalences.

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

This theorem amounts to saying that the abelian group structure in an abelian group object $T \rightarrow R$ of augmented algebras is determined by the addition on T and on the kernel all products vanish.

This result is used by Quillen to define his cohomology theory for commutative rings in [53]. It goes back to Beck's work on cohomology theories for triples¹ [13], where he considers modules over commutative rings in Example 8 and gives the argument why the products on the kernel vanish for associative algebras in Example 6. After his influential work, abelian group objects in various algebraic categories are also called "Beck modules". The fact that the abelian group structure is determined by the addition on T is an application of the Eckmann-Hilton argument and can be found in [22], where also the notion of (abelian) group objects in general categories is introduced. The argument for vanishing products on the kernel is also spelled out by Strickland in [62, after Proposition 14.7] in the context of Tambara functors.

However, in our situation of modules over global power functors, the square-zero extension is no longer an equivalence between modules and Beck modules. In fact, the abelian group structure is not sufficient to conclude that all power operations on the augmentation ideal vanish. We give an example of this in Section 1.3.a. Based on the work of Hill [30], we propose an alternative identification of modules over a global power functor as "global Beck modules", ie global functor objects in the category of augmented R-algebras. The details of this conjecture are explained in Section 1.3.b.

We also shortly comment on the topological version of this identification, which is integral to the understanding of topological André-Quillen homology of commutative ring spectra. In this context, Basterra and Mandell have shown in [11] that the category of R-modules for a commutative ring spectrum R can be identified with the category of spectra of augmented Ralgebras. This result follows the slogan that in stable homotopy theory, the correct analogue of an abelian group is a spectrum, and abelianization should be replaced by stabilization. The result of Basterra-Mandell shows that topological André-Quillen homology and cohomology indeed arise from a stabilization procedure.

In the context of ultra-commutative ring spectra, which we study in Chapter 2, we should follow this slogan and replace the global functor objects from Conjecture 1.3.21 by a stable homotopy theoretic notion. This leads to studying "global stabilizations", constructed by a model category of global spectra over a base model category. Then, we aim at comparing R-modules for an ultra-commutative ring spectrum R with global spectra over augmented R-algebras. This line of study is currently investigated in joint work with Tobias Lenz.

1.3.a Abelian Group Objects that are not Modules

In the case of Tambara functors for a fixed group, there is an example by Strickland [62, Example 14.13, 7.8] of an abelian group object in the category of augmented C_2 -Tambara algebras over the constant Tambara functor $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}$ that is not a square-zero extension of a $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}$ -module. Indeed, there are non-trivial norms on elements in the augmentation ideal. A priori, it is not clear whether a similar example of an abelian group object with power operations can exist in the context of global power functors, because the presence of the additional inflation maps could prevent this. However, it turns out that Strickland's example can (after a minor adjustment to accommodate for inflations) be generalized to a global functor, and we supply an explicit description for its value at finite groups. In fact, we demonstrate that this example can be obtained from a free example of an abelian group object in augmented global power algebras.

We first recall a modified version of Strickland's example from [62, Example 14.13, 7.8].

¹Here, triples is used synonymously to the word monad

Example 1.3.2. We define an algebra T over the constant C_2 -Tambara functor $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}$ via the following Lewis diagram:

$$T(C_2) = \frac{\mathbb{Z}[\beta, \gamma]/(\beta^2, \beta\gamma, \gamma^2, 2\gamma)}{\underset{\alpha \mapsto 2\beta}{\overset{1 \mapsto 1}{\left| \begin{array}{c} 1 \mapsto 1 \\ \alpha \mapsto \beta \end{array} \right|} \left| \begin{array}{c} 1 \mapsto 1 \\ \beta \mapsto \alpha \\ \gamma \mapsto 0 \end{array} \right|} i+j\alpha \mapsto i^2 + 2ij\beta + j^2\gamma}$$
$$T(e) = \mathbb{Z}[\alpha]/(\alpha^2)$$

Here, the downwards arrow is the restriction, the leftmost arrow is the transfer and the rightmost arrow is the norm. We have also included the inflation along the surjection $C_2 \rightarrow e$, which is present in our generalization to a global power algebra, as the straight upwards arrow. We emphasize that in comparison to Strickland's original example, we shifted one coefficient 2 from the restriction map to the transfer. This is necessary since the presence of the inflation forces the restriction to be surjective. For me, the above placement of the 2 is more natural, since this way the sub-Mackey functor on the elements α and β is itself a constant Mackey functor. This change does not influence the relevant calculations to check that T is a C_2 -Tambara functor. We observe that the maps $\underline{\mathbb{Z}} \rightarrow T$ and $T \rightarrow \underline{\mathbb{Z}}$ given by including as the summand generated on 1 and projecting to this summand, respectively, give T the structure of an augmented $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}$ -algebra. Moreover, as explained in [62, Example 14.13], T is an abelian group object in the category of augmented algebras. Indeed, the augmentation ideal is generated by the elements α , β and γ , on which all products vanish. However, the norm of α is γ and thus not trivial.

We now generalize this example to the global setting. This implies the existence of such examples as G-Tambara functors for all finite G since any global power functor can be restricted to give G-Tambara functors for all G. To carry out the generalization, we observe that the augmentation ideal of T above is essentially a "free \mathbb{Z} -module with norms" on the generator α , or in the language introduced by Strickland, a free genuine \mathbb{Z} -module. We first consider a free global functor with power operations, which we model by a naive version of a module of Kähler differentials over A. The generalization of Strickland's example is then obtained by taking the box product with the constant global power functor \mathbb{Z} . We start by motivating the construction.

As we have seen in Proposition 1.2.15, the module of Kähler differentials of a polynomial global power functor is a free module on a single generator. Moreover, by Lemma 1.2.22, we have a nice description of the square-zero extension $R[x] \ltimes \Omega^1_{R[x]/R} \cong (R[x] \square_R R[x])/I^{\geq 2}$ for this free module. In this description, we take the quotient by $I^{\geq 2}$ instead of by the naive square I^2 exactly to enforce that all powers on the module of Kähler differentials are trivial. Hence, in order to obtain a free "naive" module on a single generator and allow for norms on the augmentation ideal, we should instead take the naive module of Kähler differentials by taking the quotient by I^2 . We carry this out over \mathbb{A} :

Construction 1.3.3. We consider the augmented algebra $\mathbb{A}[x_G] \xrightarrow{x_G \mapsto 0} \mathbb{A}$, a polynomial algebra over \mathbb{A} on a single generator at the compact Lie group G. In this algebra, we consider the (Green) ideal I^2 generated by elements of the form $P^k(x_G) \times P^l(x_G)$ for $k, l \geq 1$. In fact, this ideal even is a power ideal in $\mathbb{A}[x_G]$, and it is the square of the kernel $I = \ker(\mathbb{A}[x] \to \mathbb{A})$. We consider the quotient $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\} = \mathbb{A}[x_G]/I^2$. This inherits the structure of a global power functor from $\mathbb{A}[x_G]$, and comes equipped with the structure of an augmented \mathbb{A} -algebra by sending x_G to 0.

The augmentation ideal of this augmented algebra is isomorphic to I/I^2 , and it is generated as an A-module by the elements $P^k(x_G)$ for $k \ge 1$. In particular, the power operations on this augmentation ideal are non-trivial. We denote this augmentation ideal by $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$. However,

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

since all products in this augmentation ideal vanish, we see that $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$ is an abelian group object in the category of augmented A-algebras.

As indicated previously, we can interpret this A-module as a "naive module of Kähler differentials" of $\mathbb{A}[x_G]$ over A, base-changed to A. Here, in contrast to the calculation of the actual, genuine Kähler differentials from Theorem 1.2.24, we only take the quotient by actual decomposables, omitting the power operations of degree ≥ 2 on single elements.

Proposition 1.3.4. The augmented \mathbb{A} -algebra $\mathbb{A}^{pow}\{x_G\}$ is an abelian group object in the category of augmented \mathbb{A} -algebra. It is free as an abelian group object, ie for any abelian group object T in augmented \mathbb{A} -algebras, the morphism

$$\operatorname{ev}_x$$
: $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ab}(\operatorname{Alg}_{\mathbb{A}}/\mathbb{A})}(\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_G\}, T) \to \ker(T \to \mathbb{A})(G), \, \varphi \mapsto \varphi_G(x)$

is an isomorphism of abelian groups.

For this free abelian group object, the augmentation ideal $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$ has non-trivial norms.

In the description of freeness, we used that an abelian group object is in fact totally determined by its augmentation ideal.

Proof. The augmented algebra $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$ is an abelian group object since all products on the augmentation ideal vanish. Explicitly, we can check that the morphisms

$$(\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_G\} \times_{\mathbb{A}} \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_G\})(K) \to \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_G\}(K),$$
$$\left(a_0 + \sum_{k \ge 0} a_k P^k(x), a_0 + \sum_{k \ge 0} b_k P^k(x)\right) \mapsto a_0 + \sum_{k \ge 0} (a_k + b_k) P^k(x)$$

and the inclusion

$$\mathbb{A} \to \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_G\}$$

as the constant summand define the structure of an abelian group object on $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$. Here, $a_k, b_k \in \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_k \wr G, K)$ are the Burnside-ring coefficients of a polynomial in $\mathbb{A}[x_G]$. It is clear that on the augmentation ideal $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$, non-trivial power operations exist, as $P^k(x) \notin I^2$ for $k \geq 2$. Hence, it remains to show freeness of this construction.

By freeness of the polynomial global power functors (1.1.23), we know that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_{\mathbb{A}}}(\mathbb{A}[x_G], T) \cong T(G), \, \varphi \mapsto \varphi(x)$$

is a bijection. A morphism $\varphi \colon \mathbb{A}[x_G] \to T$ is a morphism of augmented global power algebras if and only if $\varphi(x) \in \ker(T \to \mathbb{A})$, hence we obtain

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_{*}/\mathbb{A}}(\mathbb{A}[x_{G}], T) \cong \ker(T \to \mathbb{A})(G), \varphi \mapsto \varphi(x)$$

As T is an abelian group object, all products on this augmentation ideal vanish, and hence we observe that $I^2 \subset \mathbb{A}[x_G]$ is sent to 0 in T. Thus any such φ factors uniquely over $\mathbb{A}[x_G]/I^2 = \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$. Finally, by the Eckmann-Hilton argument, the abelian group structures on $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_G\}$ and T are completely determined by the addition, and hence any morphism of augmented algebras is automatically a morphism of abelian group objects. In total, we obtain the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{ev}_{x} \colon \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Ab}(\operatorname{Alg}_{\mathbb{A}}/\mathbb{A})}(\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_{G}\}, T) \to \ker(T \to \mathbb{A})(G), \, \varphi \mapsto \varphi_{G}(x).$$

Corollary 1.3.5. The functor

$$\mathbb{A} \ltimes (\underline{}) \colon \mathcal{GF} \cong \mathrm{Mod}_{\mathbb{A}} \to \mathrm{Ab}(\mathrm{Alg}_{\mathbb{A}} / \mathbb{A})$$

is not essentially surjective.

We obtain a generalization of Strickland's example by forming the base change $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\} := \underline{\mathbb{Z}} \square \mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}$. We provide explicit descriptions of $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x\}$ and $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}$ on finite groups, which highlight the connection to Strickland's example. To formulate this calculation, we introduce the following notation:

Notation 1.3.6. Let $m \ge 1$ and G be a finite group. Then we define the set

 $\mathcal{G}_m(G) = \{(H, X) \mid H \leq G, X \text{ a transitive } H \text{-set of cardinality } m\}/\sim.$

The equivalence relation ~ is conjugacy, ie two pairs (H, X) and (H', X') are equivalent if there is $g \in G$ such that $H' = gHg^{-1}$, and there is a bijection $f \colon X \xrightarrow{\cong} X'$ such that $hx = ghg^{-1}f(x)$ for all $h \in H$ and $x \in X$. We also define $\mathcal{G}(G) = \coprod_{m \geq 1} \mathcal{G}_m(G)$.

On this set, we define a partial ordering by setting $(H, X) \leq (L, Y)$ if H is conjugate to a subgroup $H' \leq L$ and the restriction of Y to H' is equivalent to the H-set X as above. Then, we define $\mathcal{M}_m(G) \subset \mathcal{G}_m(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(G) \subset \mathcal{G}(G)$ as the sets of all maximal elements.

Proposition 1.3.7. Let G be a finite group.

i) We have that

$$\mathbb{A}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_e\}(G) \cong \bigoplus_{\mathcal{G}(G)} \mathbb{Z} = \mathbb{Z}\{\mathrm{tr}_H^G X \mid [(H, X)] \in \mathcal{G}(G)\}$$

is a free abelian group on transfers of generators indexed by conjugacy classes of pairs (H, X), where $H \leq G$ is a subgroup of G and X is a transitive H-set.

ii) There is a surjection

$$\bigoplus_{\mathcal{M}_1(G)} \mathbb{Z} \oplus \bigoplus_{\substack{p \text{ a prime}\\k>1}} \bigoplus_{\mathcal{M}_{p^k}(G)} \mathbb{Z}/p \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{Z}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}(G).$$

Explicitly, we have a set of generators given by conjugacy classes of pairs (H, X), with H a subgroup of G and X a transitive H set with cardinality a prime power, which are maximal with respect to the order defined in Notation 1.3.6. Moreover, $\mathcal{M}_1(G) = \{[(G, *)]\}$ has only one element.

Proof. We start by analysing $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}$:

i) We know that $\mathbb{A}^{pow}\{x_e\} = I/I^2$, where I is the kernel of the augmentation $\mathbb{A}[x] \to \mathbb{A}$. Thus, $I(G) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 1} \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, G)$. By the description of the Burnside category in Remark 1.1.2, we see that $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, G)$ is free abelian on generators of the form $\operatorname{tr}_H^G \circ \alpha^*$, where $H \le G$ is a subgroup of G and $\alpha: H \to \Sigma_m$ is a group homomorphism. Such a group homomorphism is equivalent to an H-set X of cardinality m, and hence we denote this generator by $\operatorname{tr}_H^G(X)$. The conjugacy relation in $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, G)$ is the same as the one used to define $\mathcal{G}_m(G)$.

We now claim that $I^2(G)$ is the submodule generated by exactly those $\operatorname{tr}_H^G(X)$ where X is not transitive. This proves the desired description of $\mathbb{A}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_e\}$. For this, we consider the product on I. This is given on components by the map

$$\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, G) \otimes \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_n, K) \xrightarrow{\times} \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \times \Sigma_n, G \times K) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{A}(\Phi_{m,n}^*, G \times K)} \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_{m+n}, G \times K)$$

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

that sends $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(X) \otimes \operatorname{tr}_{L}^{K}(Y)$ to $\operatorname{tr}_{H \times L}^{G \times K}(X \amalg Y)$. Here, $H \times L$ acts on $X \amalg Y$ by letting H act as given on X and trivially on Y, and conversely for L. With this description, we see that if the H-set X is not transitive, using a decomposition $X = X_1 \amalg X_2$ as H-sets, we can write $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(X) = \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{H}(X_1) \cdot \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{H}(X_2)) \in I^2(G)$. Here, we used the diagonal product $I(H) \otimes I(H) \to I(H)$, which arises from the product above by applying a restriction along the diagonal. Hence, any generator $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(X)$ with X not transitive is contained in I^2 .

Conversely, I^2 is generated as a global functor by elements $\operatorname{tr}_{H \times L}^{G \times K}(X \amalg Y)$. We observe that $X \amalg Y$ is a non-transitive $G \times H$ -set, as both X and Y are not empty. It is thus sufficient to show that for a non-transitive H-set X and any homomorphism $\alpha \colon K \to G$, also $\alpha^* \operatorname{tr}_H^G(X)$ is a sum of elements of the form $\operatorname{tr}_L^K(Y)$, where Y is a non-transitive L-set. This follows easily from the double coset formula, since any restriction of a non-transitive set is still not transitive. We omit the exact calculation here.

In total, we have shown $I^2(G) \cong \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_H^G X \mid H \leq G, X \text{ a non-transitive } H\text{-set}\}/\sim$, and hence we conclude

$$\mathbb{A}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_e\}(G) \cong \mathbb{Z}\{\mathrm{tr}_H^G X \mid H \leq G, X \text{ a non-empty transitive } H\text{-set}\}/\sim \cong \bigoplus_{\mathcal{G}(G)} \mathbb{Z}$$

ii) Observe that the morphism $\mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{Z}$, $X \to |X|$ is a quotient map with kernel generated by $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}) - [G:H]$ for all pairs $H \leq G$. Since the box product is right exact, we hence may calculate $\mathbb{Z}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_e\}(G)$ as a quotient of $\mathbb{A}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_e\}(G)$. We obtain a surjection

$$\bigoplus_{\mathcal{G}(G)} \mathbb{Z} \twoheadrightarrow \underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\mathrm{pow}}\{x_e\}(G).$$

Thus, it suffices to show that we may restrict to maximal generators, that generators indexed by a set of non-prime-power order vanish in the quotient, and that generators indexed by sets of prime power order have corresponding prime torsion.

Let $[(H, X)] \leq [(K, Y)]$ be two elements in $\mathcal{G}_m(G)$. Then there is $g \in G$ such that ${}^{g}H = gHg^{-1} \leq K$. We calculate that in $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}(G)$, the relation

$$\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}(X) = \operatorname{tr}_{K}^{G}(\operatorname{tr}_{g_{H}}^{K}(\operatorname{res}_{g_{H}}^{K}(Y))) = [K:{}^{g}H]\operatorname{tr}_{K}^{G}(Y)$$

holds. Thus, we may reduce to $\mathcal{M}_m(G)$ as a generating set.

For the other two relations, we consider that for a given $m \ge 1$, any action on a set X with m elements arises by pulling back along a morphism $\alpha \colon H \to \Sigma_m$. Thus, we consider the Σ_m -set X. We already know that restriction to any non-transitive subgroup of Σ_m annihilates X in $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}$. Any non-transitive subgroup is subconjugate to one of the form $\Sigma_i \times \Sigma_{m-i}$ with $1 \le i \le m-1$. We obtain that

$$\binom{m}{i}X = [\Sigma_m : \Sigma_i \times \Sigma_{m-i}]X = \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_i \times \Sigma_{m-i}}^{\Sigma_m}(\operatorname{res}_{\Sigma_i \times \Sigma_{m-i}}^{\Sigma_m}(X)) = 0.$$

Thus, X is torsion also for the greatest common divisor of these indices. It is well-known that for binomial coefficients, we have

$$gcd([\Sigma_m : \Sigma_{m-i} \times \Sigma_i] \mid 1 \le i \le m-1) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } m = 1\\ p & \text{if } m = p^k\\ 1 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

For a reference, see [54]. This shows both that we can reduce to generators of cardinality $m = p^k$ for p a prime and that these generators are p-torsion. This finishes the calculations.

Remark 1.3.8. We warn the reader that the usage of H-sets in the description above should not be confused with the usage of G-sets in the classical description of the Burnside ring $\mathbb{A}(G) = \mathbb{A}(e, G)$, which is the Grothendieck ring of finite G-sets. In this description, the disjoint union of G-sets corresponds to addition, and a set of generators may be given by considering transitive G-sets, which are of the form G/H and correspond to tr_H^G in our description of the Burnside category from Remark 1.1.2. Hence, in this description, we use the fact that any G-set decomposes into a disjoint union of orbits in order to describe the free abelian group. Here, the product is given by the Cartesian product of G-sets, equipped with either the diagonal action for the diagonal product $: \mathbb{A}(G) \otimes \mathbb{A}(G) \to \mathbb{A}(G)$, or with the $G \times K$ -action for the product $\times : \mathbb{A}(G) \otimes \mathbb{A}(K) \to \mathbb{A}(G \times K)$. The power operation is given by the m-th Cartesian power with the natural action of $\Sigma_m \wr G$ by acting on each factor and permuting the factors.

By contrast, in the description of I and I/I^2 in Proposition 1.3.7 *i*) above, *H*-sets are purely used as a means to conveniently index the generators of the free abelian group and describe the indecomposables. The sum is not given by disjoint union, but as the formal sum in a free abelian group. Also the transfer and restriction are calculated by formal manipulation. The product is induced by disjoint union, and thus also the power operations are defined by iterated disjoint unions. Hence, care should be taken when working with this description.

Example 1.3.9. We observe that restricted to subgroups of the cyclic group C_2 , the surjection above is an isomorphism, and this description of $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}$ recovers the example given by Strickland, as recalled in Example 1.3.2 (up to the adjusted occurrence of one 2). We also give the structure of the global power functor $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}$ on subgroups of Σ_3 . These subgroups are Σ_3 (top), C_3 generated by a 3-cycle (left), C_2 generated by a 2-cycle (right) and the trivial subgroup e (bottom).



Here, the downward-pointing morphisms are restrictions, and the straight upward-pointing morphisms are inflations. The linear curved morphisms are transfers, and the non-linear morphisms are the power operations. On $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\text{pow}}\{x_e\}(C_3)$, we also have an automorphism given by restricting

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

along the (outer) automorphism of C_3 given by squaring all elements. This morphism is the identity and omitted from the diagram. Moreover, there are various compositions of the given transfers and restrictions, which are not depicted for the sake of readability. One such composition of particular interest is $\operatorname{res}_{C_3}^{\Sigma_3} \circ P^3 : \underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_e\}(e) \to \underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_e\}(C_3)$, which is the norm $N_e^{C_3}$. One calculates that $N_e^{C^3}(\alpha) = \delta$ is non-trivial.

For these small groups, we actually only see actual transitive G-sets themselves at all levels, and all transfers from lower levels are multiples of generators named by transitive G-sets. Framed differently, all maximal elements in $\mathcal{M}(G)$ are of the form [(G, X)]. The necessity to include transfers of transitive sets for proper subgroups becomes apparent eg when considering A_5 . Here, we observe that the alternating group A_5 cannot act transitively on a set with 2 elements, since it is simple. However, there is a transitive set with 2 elements for the Klein 4-group $K_4 \leq A_5$, and thus we obtain an element named $\operatorname{tr}_{K_4}^{A_5}(X)$ in $\underline{\mathbb{Z}}^{\operatorname{pow}}\{x_e\}(A_5)$.

One benefit of lifting the example from \mathbb{Z} to an example over \mathbb{A} is that at each level G, $\mathbb{A}^{\text{pow}}\{x_K\}(G)$ is torsion-free. Thus, we also obtain that the phenomenon that abelian group objects and modules differ persists after rationalization. Explicitly, we obtain an example over $\mathbb{A} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$, where the tensor product is taken levelwise. This is a global power functor by [55, Example 5.2.19]. Such an example for rational Tambara functors was not known previously, as Strickland's example only supports a norm that is 2-torsion. Also in our global context, it is not yet clear whether there exists an abelian group object in augmented $\underline{\mathbb{Q}}$ -algebras with non-trivial power operations.

Corollary 1.3.10. For the rational global power functors $R = \mathbb{A} \otimes \mathbb{Q}$, the functor

$$R \ltimes (_): \operatorname{Mod}_R \to \operatorname{Ab}(\operatorname{Alg}_R / R)$$

is not essentially surjective.

1.3.b Modules as Global Functor Objects

In Section 1.3.a, we exhibit an example of an abelian group object in the category of augmented \mathbb{A} -power algebras that does not arise from a module via square-zero extension. This shows that the mismatch between modules and Beck modules in the context of equivariant algebra for a fixed finite group G exhibited by Strickland in [62] persists in the case of global power functors, and our example clarifies some aspects left open by Strickland's example. In the case of modules over a G-Tambara functor R, subsequent work of Hill [30] gives a new perspective on this discrepancy: Instead of being abelian group objects in augmented R-algebras, R-modules can be interpreted as Mackey functor objects in this category. In this fashion, the notion of a Beck module is also suitably generalized to a G-equivariant world.

This interpretation of modules as Mackey functor objects needs some preparations, which are carried out in [30, Section 3]. In particular, it is necessary to define what a Mackey functor object should be. For this, it is convenient to recall a possible definition of abelian group objects: For a category C, the structure of an abelian group object in C on X is a lift of the functor

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(\underline{\ },X)\colon \mathcal{C}^{\operatorname{op}}\to\operatorname{Sets}$$

through the forgetful functor $Ab \rightarrow Sets$. In a category with finite products, this is equivalent to the description by the usual maps and diagrams of an abelian group. Hill showed that the category of augmented *G*-Tambara algebras over *R* comes with an enrichment in coefficient systems of sets, ie for any subgroup H of G, there is an associated morphism set, and we have restrictions between these. The structure of a Mackey functor object thus is a lift of

$$\operatorname{Hom}(-,X): (\operatorname{Alg}_R/R)^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{CoefficientSystems}$$

through the forgetful functor from Mackey functors to coefficient systems. In [30, Theorem 3.22, Corollary 3.23], Hill proved that with this notion of Mackey functor objects, the square-zero-extension functor is indeed an equivalence between R-modules and Mackey functor objects in augmented R-algebras.

One of the ingredients in this interpretation of square-zero extensions as Mackey functor objects is that, in fact, the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/R}(_, R \ltimes M)$: $\operatorname{Alg}_R/R^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{Sets}$ of morphisms into a square-zero extension can be upgraded to a Mackey functor. This works using the natural bijection

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/R}(S, R \ltimes M) \cong \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_S(\Omega^1_{S/R}, M)$$

and the closed monoidal structure on S-modules. Thus, the square-zero extension $R \ltimes M$ is indeed a Mackey functor object. We observe that similarly, in the context of global power functors, $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/R}(S, R \ltimes M)$ can be upgraded to a global functor. Hence, we consider whether it is possible to interpret *R*-modules as global functor objects in augmented *R*-algebras.

As mentioned before, a first step towards this interpretation is to show that the category of augmented R-power algebras is in fact enriched over global coefficient systems. Recall from Proposition 1.1.16 that the internal Hom functor for global functors can be described using shifts of global functors. We consider the same construction in the context of global power functors and algebras.

Construction 1.3.11. Let R be a global power functor, and G be a compact Lie group. We endow the global functor R[G] with the structure of a global power functor as follows:

First, we define the structure of a global Green functor on R[G]. For this, we notice that $R[G](H) = R(H \times G)$ has the structure of a commutative ring, since R is a global Green functor. Moreover, we define power operations on R[G] as follows: Let H be a compact Lie group and let $m \geq 1$. Then we define

$$P[G]^m \colon R[G](H) = R(H \times G) \xrightarrow{P^m} R(\Sigma_m \wr (H \times G)) \xrightarrow{(\Delta_G^m)^*} R((\Sigma_m \wr H) \times G) = R[G](\Sigma_m \wr H).$$

Here, $\Delta_G^m : (\Sigma_m \wr H) \times G \to \Sigma_m \wr (H \times G)$ is the diagonal on G, sending $((\sigma; h_1, \ldots, h_m), g)$ to $(\sigma; (h_1, g), \ldots, (h_m, g)).$

Proposition 1.3.12. Let R be a global power functor and G be a compact Lie group. Then R[G] with the multiplication and power operations described in 1.3.11 is a global power functor. Moreover, the external product

$$\times \colon R[G](H) \times R[G](K) \to R[G](H \times K)$$

is obtained as the composite

$$R(H \times G) \times R(K \times G) \xrightarrow{\times} R(H \times G \times K \times G) \xrightarrow{\Delta_G} R(H \times K \times G)$$

of the external product of R and the restriction along the diagonal of G.

Proof. We first check that the multiplications on $R[G](H) = R(H \times G)$ make R[G] into a global Green functor. For this, notice that for a group homomorphism $\varphi \colon K \to H$, the morphism

$$\varphi[G]^* = (\varphi \times G)^* \colon R[G](H) = R(H \times G) \to R(K \times G) = R[G](K)$$

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

is a homomorphism of commutative rings. Also, the transfer $\operatorname{tr}[G]_L^H = \operatorname{tr}_{L\times G}^{H\times G}$ for a closed subgroup $L \subset H$ satisfies Frobenius reciprocity for $\operatorname{res}_{L\times G}^{H\times G} = \operatorname{res}[G]_L^H$. Thus, R[G] has the structure of a global Green functor induced from R.

Next, we check the description of the multiplication \times on R[G]. For this, consider the diagram



In this diagram, we used the description of \times in the terms of \cdot , that the compositions of projections is a projection, and that the restriction along the projections is a section for the restriction along the diagonal. Thus, this diagram commutes and we have proven the claimed description of the external multiplication.

For the power operations, we need to check the properties from Definition 1.1.18:

- i) We calculate $P[G]^m(1) = (\Delta_G^m)^* P^m(1) = 1$.
- ii) Since $\Delta_G^1: (\Sigma_1 \wr H) \times G \to \Sigma_1 \wr (H \times G)$ is the identity after identifying both sides with $H \times G$, we see $P[G]^1 = \text{Id}$.
- iii) Let $\alpha \colon K \to H$ be a homomorphism of compact Lie groups. Then we have

$$P[G]^m \alpha[G]^* = (\Delta_G^m)^* P^m (\alpha \times G)^* = (\Delta_G^m)^* (\Sigma_m \wr (\alpha \times G))^* P^m$$
$$= ((\Sigma_m \wr \alpha) \times G)^* (\Delta_G^m)^* P^m = (\Sigma_m \wr \alpha) [G]^* P[G]^m.$$

iv) Let $x, y \in R[G](H)$. Then

$$P[G]^{m}(x \cdot y) = (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*}P^{m}(x \cdot y) = (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*}P^{m}(x) \cdot (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*}P^{m}(y) = P[G]^{m}(x) \cdot P[G]^{m}(y).$$

v) Let $x \in R[G](H)$ and $i, j \ge 1$. Then

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{i,j}[G]^*P[G]^{i+j}(x) = & (\Phi_{i,j} \times G)^* (\Delta_G^m)^* P^{i+j}(x) \\ = & \Delta_G^* (\Delta_G^i \times \Delta_G^j)^* \Phi_{i,j}^* P^{i+j}(x) \\ = & \Delta_G^* ((\Delta_G^i)^* P^i(x) \times (\Delta_G^j)^* P^j(x)) = P[G]^i(x) \times P[G]^j(x). \end{split}$$

vi) Let $x \in R[G](H)$ and $k, m \ge 1$. Then

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{k,m}[G]^* P[G]^{km}(x) &= (\Psi_{k,m} \times G)^* (\Delta_G^{km})^* P^{km}(x) \\ &= (\Delta_G^k)^* (\Sigma_k \wr \Delta_G^m)^* \Psi_{k,m}^* P^{km}(x) \\ &= (\Delta_G^k)^* (\Sigma_k \wr \Delta_G^m)^* P^k(P^m(x)) \\ &= (\Delta_G^k)^* P^k((\Delta_G^m)^* P^m(x)) = P[G]^k (P[G]^m(x)). \end{split}$$

vii) Let $x, y \in R[G](H)$ and $m \ge 1$. Then

$$P[G]^{m}(x+y) = (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*}P^{m}(x+y) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*} \operatorname{tr}_{k,m-k}(P^{k}(x) \times P^{m-k}(y))$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{k,m-k}[G]\Delta_{G}^{*}(\Delta_{G}^{k} \times \Delta_{G}^{m-k})^{*}(P^{k}(x) \times P^{m-k}(y))$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{k,m-k}[G](P[G]^{k}(x) \times P[G]^{m-k}(y)).$$

Here, we used that the double coset formula for the composition $(\Delta_G^m)^* \operatorname{tr}_{k,m-k}$ has only one summand, and the intersection of the corresponding subgroups is $(\Sigma_k \wr H) \times (\Sigma_{m-k} \wr H) \times G$.

viii) Let $L \subset H$ be a closed subgroup and $m \ge 1$. Then we calculate

$$P[G]^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{L}^{H}[G] = (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*} P^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{L\times G}^{H\times G}$$
$$= (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*} \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_{m}\wr(L\times G)}^{\Sigma_{m}\wr(H\times G)} P^{m}$$
$$= \operatorname{tr}_{(\Sigma_{m}\wr L)\times G}^{(\Sigma_{m}\wr H)\times G} (\Delta_{G}^{m})^{*} P^{m} = \operatorname{tr}_{\Sigma_{m}\wr L}^{\Sigma_{m}\wr H}[G] P[G]^{m}.$$

Thus R[G] is a global power functor.

We also consider whether the morphisms $R[\vartheta] \colon R[G] \to R[K]$ for $\vartheta \in \mathbb{A}(G, K)$ are morphisms of global power functors. This is the case for restrictions.

Proposition 1.3.13. Let R be a global power functor. Let $\varphi \colon K \to G$ be a homomorphism of compact Lie groups. Then the restriction

$$R[\varphi^*]: R[G] \to R[K]$$

is a morphism of global power functors.

Proof. We already know that $R[\varphi^*]$ is a morphism of global functors. Hence it suffices to prove that it is compatible with the multiplication and the power operations. For the multiplication, we see that $R[\varphi^*](H): R[G](H) \to R[K](H)$ is given as $(H \times \varphi)^*$, and this is a morphism of commutative rings, since R is a global Green functor. For the power operations, we calculate

$$R[\varphi^*]P[G]^m = ((\Sigma_m \wr H) \times \varphi)^* (\Delta_G^m)^* P^m$$

= $(\Delta_K^m)^* (\Sigma_m \wr (H \times \varphi))^* P^m = (\Delta_K^m)^* P^m (H \times \varphi)^* = P[K]^m R[\varphi^*].$

Thus $R[\varphi^*]: R[G] \to R[K]$ is a morphism of global power functors.

Remark 1.3.14. We could also try to consider transfers $R[\operatorname{tr}_L^G]: R[L] \to R[G]$. However, these will in general not be morphisms of global power functors. One reason is that transfers are not homomorphisms of rings in a global Green functor, but only satisfy Frobenius reciprocity. Moreover, in the definition of the power operations, there is the diagonal restriction $(\Delta_G^m)^*$. To commute this with the transfer, we have to consider the double coset formula, and hence calculate the double coset space $(\Sigma_m \wr H) \times G \setminus \Sigma_m \wr (H \times G) / \Sigma_m \wr (H \times L)$. This, however, does not only consist of a single double coset, hence in general we cannot commute these restrictions and transfers without introducing additional summands. Thus, the transfers do not in general define morphisms of global power functors.

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

Construction 1.3.15. In the definition of derivations and Kähler differentials, we consider not only global power functors, but also global power algebras and augmented power algebras for a global power functor R and an R-algebra S. We generalize the above definition of R[G] to these contexts.

For a global power functor R, the inflation $R[p_G^*]: R = R[e] \to R[G]$ along the unique morphism $p_G: G \to e$ makes R[G] into an R-power algebra. Using this and functoriality of the construction $(_)[G]$, we see that for a global R-power algebra S, also S[G] is a global R-power algebra via the unit map $R \xrightarrow{R[p_G^*]} R[G] \to S[G]$.

Moreover, if we have given an *R*-power algebra *S* and an *R*-power algebra *T* augmented to *S*, then we define $F_S(G,T)$ as the pullback

$$F_S(G,T) \longrightarrow T[G]$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$S \xrightarrow{S[p_G^*]} S[G].$$

This is then also a global R-power algebra augmented to S. Also, the restrictions give morphisms

$$F_S(\varphi^*, T) \colon F_S(G, T) \to F_S(K, T)$$

of global R-power algebras augmented to S by functoriality, using Proposition 1.3.13.

We call the structure given in the above definition a global coefficient system.

Definition 1.3.16. A global coefficient system F (of sets) is a functor F: Rep^{op} \rightarrow Sets, where Rep is the category of compact Lie groups and conjugacy classes of continuous homomorphisms between those. Explicitly, a global coefficient system consists of sets F(G) for all isomorphism classes of Lie groups and restrictions $\varphi^* \colon F(G) \to F(K)$ for any continuous homomorphism $\varphi \colon K \to G$, such that restrictions are functorial and conjugated morphisms induce the same restrictions.

Generally, for a category \mathcal{C} , a global coefficient system in \mathcal{C} is a functor $F \colon \operatorname{Rep}^{\operatorname{op}} \to \mathcal{C}$. We denote the category of global coefficient systems in \mathcal{C} as $\operatorname{Coeff}(\mathcal{C}) = \operatorname{Fun}(\operatorname{Rep}^{\operatorname{op}}, \mathcal{C})$.

There is a forgetful functor $\mathcal{GF} \to \text{Coeff}(\text{Sets})$ by forgetting the abelian group structure on F(G) and all transfers for a global functor F.

With this definition, we can reformulate the above results.

Proposition 1.3.17. Let S be a global power functor. Then for any augmented S-power algebra T, the collection of augmented S-power algebras $F_S(G,T)$ for compact Lie groups G, together with the restrictions $F_S(\varphi^*,T)$, defines a global coefficient system in Alg_S/S . The category Alg_S/S is enriched over global coefficient systems by defining

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\operatorname{Alg}_S/S}(T,T')(G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_S/S}(T,F_S(G,T')).$$

However, we know that the square-zero extensions provide even more structure, given by transfers and abelian group object structures at every compact Lie group. We formalize this structure as follows.

Definition 1.3.18. Let \mathcal{C} be a category enriched in global coefficient systems of sets. A global functor object in \mathcal{C} is an object X of \mathcal{C} together with a lift of the functor $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}(\underline{\ }, X): \mathcal{C}^{\operatorname{op}} \to \operatorname{Coeff}(\operatorname{Sets})$ through the forgetful functor $\mathcal{GF} \to \operatorname{Coeff}(\operatorname{Sets})$. We denote the category of global functor objects by $\mathcal{GF}(\mathcal{C})$.

Using the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_S/S}(T, S \ltimes M) \cong \operatorname{Der}_S(T, M) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_T(\Omega^1_{T/S}, M)$$

for a global power functor S, an augmented S-algebra T and an S-module M, we consider the lift

$$\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{\operatorname{Alg}_S/S}(T, S \ltimes M) = \underline{\operatorname{Der}}_S(T, M) \cong \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_T(\Omega^1_{T/S}, M).$$

This proves that any S-module defines a global functor object.

Proposition 1.3.19. Let S be a global power functor and M be an S-module. Then $S \ltimes M$ has the structure of a global functor object in Alg_S/S .

We can also make the structure of the global functor object $S \ltimes M$ more explicit by identifying $(S \ltimes M)(G) = S \ltimes (M[G])$, and for $\theta \in \mathbb{A}(G, K)$ considering $S \ltimes (M[\theta]) \colon S \ltimes (M[G]) \to S \ltimes (M[K])$. This uses the following result:

Lemma 1.3.20. Let S be a global power functor and M be an S-module. Then there is an isomorphism

$$F_S(G, S \ltimes M) \cong S \ltimes (M[G])$$

of augmented S-power algebras, natural in restrictions $\varphi \colon K \to G$.

Proof. The definition of $(_)[G]$ is additive, thus we see $(S \ltimes M)[G] = S[G] \oplus M[G]$ as global functors. Moreover, also as global power functors, we have $(S \ltimes M)[G] = S[G] \ltimes M[G]$. To check that the power operations agree, we use the same double coset formula as for additivity of the power operations $P[G]^m$.

We consider the diagram

This is easily seen to be a pull-back diagram of S-algebras, and thus we have the isomorphism $F_S(G, S \ltimes M) \cong S \ltimes (M[G]).$

Now, we can formulate an interpretation of modules as global functor objects.

Conjecture 1.3.21. Let S be a global power functor. Then the square-zero extension functor

$$S \ltimes _: \operatorname{Mod}_S \to \mathcal{GF}(\operatorname{Alg}_S / S)$$

is an equivalence.

We comment here on the proof of the corresponding statement in the context of G-Tambara functors for a finite group G given by Hill in [30, Corollary 3.23]. This proof consists of two steps: showing that the transfers on a Mackey functor object are already determined by the transfers of the underlying augmented algebra [30, Lemma 3.20], and showing that the norms on the augmentation ideal vanish [30, Theorem 3.22]. We reformulate his proof in a diagrammatic way, which highlights the similarity in handling both parts of the argument. Then, we highlight the situation in the case of global power functors, and how it compares to the G-equivariant case.

1.3. THE COMPARISON TO BECK MODULES

Remark 1.3.22. The proof in [30, Corollary 3.23] of the G-Tambara version of Conjecture 1.3.21 proceeds as follows (adapted to our notation): Suppose we are given a G-Mackey functor object T in the category of augmented R-algebras, where R is a G-Tambara functor. We need to show that T is isomorphic to a square-zero extension $R \ltimes M$ for an R-module M, as a G-Mackey functor object. Choosing $M = \ker(T \to R)$, we obtain an isomorphism $T \cong R \ltimes M$ as Green functors by the analogous arguments to the classical case. Hence, we only need to check that the norms on M vanish, and that the "external" transfers, ie the transfers of the structure as a Mackey functor object, agree with the given transfers of M. For both of these, it suffices to consider a subgroup inclusion $H \leq G$ to transfer or norm along.

For both of these statements, we consider the diagrams

$$M(G/H \times G/H) = MG/H \stackrel{\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G,\operatorname{ext}}(G/H)}{\longrightarrow} M(G/H \times G/G) = M[G/G](G/H)$$

$$\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}[G/H] \bigcup N_{H}^{G}[G/H] \qquad \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}[G/G] \bigcup N_{H}^{G}[G/G] \qquad (1.3.23)$$

$$M(G/G \times G/H) = M[G/H](G/G) \stackrel{\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G,\operatorname{ext}}(G/G)}{\longrightarrow} M(G/G \times G/G) = MG/G.$$

The two diagrams, one for the transfers and one for the norms, both commute, as by assumption T is a Mackey functor object, so the external transfers are morphisms of G-Tambara functors. Here, we used the shifts $M[X] = M(_ \times X)$ for M a G-Mackey (or Tambara) functor and X a finite G-set, as considered in [30, Proposition 3.9] similarly to our Proposition 1.3.12.

The main observation here is that $M(G/H \times G/H)$ decomposes as $\bigoplus_{[g] \in H \setminus G/H} M(G/(H \cap gHg^{-1}))$ by the double coset formula. In this decomposition, a special role is played by the diagonal $\Delta \in G/H \times G/H$, which is a G-orbit isomorphic to G/H and thus splits off this decomposition.

We now analyse these two diagrams, and start with the one for the transfer. Let $x \in M(G/H) \cong M[G/H](G/G)$. Then, the element $(x, 0) \in M(G/H) \oplus \bigoplus_{[e] \neq [g] \in H \setminus G/H} M(G/(H \cap gHg^{-1}))$ is a preimage of x under the transfer $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}[G/H]$. We then observe that $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G,\operatorname{ext}}(G/H)(x, 0) = x \in M[G/G](G/H) \cong M(G/H)$. From this and the commutativity of the diagram (1.3.23), we observe that transfer and external transfer agree.

Similarly for the norm, we consider an element $x \in M(G/H) \cong M[G/G](G/H)$. Then, the element $(x,0) \in M(G/H) \oplus \bigoplus_{[e] \neq [g] \in H \setminus G/H} M(G/(H \cap gHg^{-1}))$ is a preimage of x under the external transfer $\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G,\operatorname{ext}}(G/H)$, since this agrees with the usual transfer. But on this element, the norm $N_{H}^{G}[G/H]$ vanishes. Hence, also $N_{H}^{G}: M(G/H) \to M(G/G)$ is trivial.

For the global version, suppose now that T is a global functor object in augmented R-power algebras, where R is a global power functor. Then, for any pair of (finite) groups $H \leq G$, we have the commutative diagrams

$$M(H \times H) = MH \xrightarrow{\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G,\operatorname{ext}}(H)} M(H \times G) = M[G](H)$$

$$\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}[H] \bigcup \mathbb{N}_{H}^{G}[H] \qquad \operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G}[G] \bigcup \mathbb{N}_{H}^{G}[G]$$

$$M(G \times H) = M[H](G) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{tr}_{H}^{G,\operatorname{ext}}(G)} M(G \times G) = MG.$$
(1.3.24)

In this, we cannot use a decomposition of $M(H \times H)$ as before. Hence, it is not clear how to adapt the arguments of Hill to our situation. One possible approach is to compare this diagram (1.3.24) to (1.3.23) by means of a diagonal restriction. This uses the interpretation of global functors as functors on spans of finite groupoids, see for example [24]. Then, for any subgroups $K, L \leq G$ and a global functor M, we have a diagonal morphism $\Delta: G/K \times G/L \to (G \times G)/(K \times L)$, where the left is the action groupoid of a G-set and the right the action groupoid of a $G \times G$ -set. Hence we can consider the restriction $\Delta^* : M(K \times L) = M((G \times G)/(K \times L)) \to M(G/K \times G/L)$. Using these diagonal restrictions, we get the following cube-shaped comparison diagrams



In this diagram, the front face commutes, since by assumption T is a global functor object. All side faces involving Δ^* commute by various double coset formulas. However, it is not clear whether the back face, which is a copy of (1.3.23), commutes. If this is the case, then Conjecture 1.3.21 would be proved.

1.4 Extensions of Global Power Algebras

In Section 1.2, we introduce the notions of square-zero extensions, derivations and Kähler differentials. In the classical algebra of commutative rings as introduced by Grothendieck [27], these notions are a starting point to study infinitesimal properties in the framework of algebraic geometry. One introduces infinitesimal extensions of algebras as (non-split) extensions with trivial multiplication on the kernel of the augmentation, and formal smoothness of algebras by testing against such extensions. This allows one to study geometric properties of varieties.

In the context of André-Quillen cohomology, introducing extensions of commutative algebras has another important benefit. This notion can be used to extend the exact sequence of derivations from Proposition 1.2.29 to a six-term sequence, thus providing the first step to a derived functor of derivations. This six-term sequence was later extended to a nine-term sequence by Lichtenbaum and Schlessinger [45] by studying two-term extensions, and finally to a long exact sequence in André-Quillen cohomology by André [1] and Quillen [53] by simplicial methods.

In this section, we introduce infinitesimal extensions of global power algebras in Definition 1.4.1. Collecting all such extensions in an algebraic structure allows us to extend the exact sequence of derivations to a six-term sequence in Theorem 1.4.5. We calculate these extensions for some special cases, and use this to calculate the Kähler differentials for quotients of free global power functors in Example 1.4.11. In Section 1.4.b, we give the definition of formally smooth, unramified and étale global power algebras and show that these notions are characterised by derivations and extensions of global power algebras. Moreover, we show that in the case of formally smooth algebras, the transitivity exact sequences from Proposition 1.2.29 are actually short exact.

1.4.a Infinitesimal Extensions of Global Power Algebras

We have seen in Proposition 1.2.29 that the functor $\text{Der}_{(_,M)}$: Alg \rightarrow Ab takes triples of global power functors to left exact sequences of abelian groups. It is a classical result that goes back to Grothendieck [27, Théorème 20.2.2] that this exact sequence can be extended by considering extensions of commutative algebras. In fact, maps into such extensions are closely

1.4. EXTENSIONS OF GLOBAL POWER ALGEBRAS

connected to derivations. For the special case of the trivial extension $S \ltimes M$, this reduces to Theorem 1.2.11. We now generalize the theory of extensions of commutative algebras to global power functors.

Definition 1.4.1. Let R be a global power functor, S be an R-algebra and M be an S-module. Then an (infinitesimal) extension of S by M is an exact sequence

$$0 \to M \xrightarrow{i} E \xrightarrow{p} S \to 0$$

of *R*-modules where *E* is an *R*-algebra, *p* is a map of *R*-algebras, *i* is a map of *E*-modules $p^*(M) \to E$ and on the image of *i* in *E*, all products and power operations P^m for $m \ge 2$ vanish. An isomorphism of two extensions $0 \to M \xrightarrow{i} E \xrightarrow{p} S \to 0$ and $0 \to M \xrightarrow{i'} E' \xrightarrow{p'} S \to 0$ is an isomorphism $f: E \to E'$ of *R*-algebras such that the diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow M \xrightarrow[i']{i'} F \xrightarrow{p} S \longrightarrow 0$$

commutes. We denote by $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$ the set of isomorphism classes of extensions of S by M.

Remark 1.4.2. The set $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$ is endowed in the usual way with the structure of an abelian group using the Baer sum: Given two extensions $0 \to M \to E \to S \to 0$ and $0 \to M \to E' \to S \to 0$, we form

$$0 \to M \to E \times_S E'/((m, -m) \text{ for all } m \in M) \to S \to 0.$$

Here, $E \times_S E'$ is the product in the category of *R*-power algebras augmented to *S*. The quotient inherits the power operations, since the power operations on *M* vanish and hence $((m, -m) \mid m \in M)$ is a global power ideal.

The neutral element in this group $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$ is given by the trivial square-zero extension $S \ltimes M$ defined in Construction 1.2.1. An extension is equivalent to this trivial extension if and only if there exists an *R*-algebra section $s: S \to E$ to the projection $p: E \to S$.

Moreover, Exalcomm is functorial both in the *R*-algebra *S* (contravariantly) and in the *S*-module M (covariantly). The functoriality in the *R*-algebra is given by the pull-back, ie for a morphism $f: S \to T$ of *R*-power algebras and an extension $M \to E \to T$, we form the new extension as



This indeed is an *R*-power algebra extension of *S* by *M*. On the other hand, given a morphism $g: M \to N$ of *S*-modules and an extension $M \to E \to S$, we form

Here, N is considered as an E-module via the augmentation $E \to S$, and we need to explain why ((i(m), -g(m)) for all $m \in M$) is a global power ideal in $E \ltimes N$. It is an ideal by an easy computation explained for example in [27, 18.2.8], hence we only need to consider the power operations. For the power operation $P^1 = id$, there is nothing to prove. For P^2 , we calculate

$$P^{2}(i(m), -g(m)) = (P^{2}(i(m)), \operatorname{tr}_{1,1}(P^{1}(i(m)) \times (-g(m))))$$

= (0, - tr_{1,1}(i(m) \times g(m)))
= 0.

using that p(i(m)) = 0 and the *E*-module structure on *N* is induced from the surjection *p*. Finally, for all higher power operations, we calculate

$$P^{k}(i(m), -g(m)) = (P^{k}(i(m)), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(i(m)) \times (-g(m)))) = 0.$$

Thus, $E \oplus_M N$ is indeed a global power algebra. We alternatively also denote it by g_*E .

Using these constructions, we are able to factor any morphism of extensions with possibly different modules and bases. The following lemma the global analogue of [27, 18.2.8] in the case of commutative algebras.

Lemma 1.4.3. Let R be a global power functor and S and T be global R-power algebras. Moreover let M be an S-module and N be a T-module. Suppose we are given the commutative diagram

in which the rows are extensions of the global R-power algebras S and T by M and N, respectively, γ is a morphism of R-power algebras, g is a morphism of S-modules (using the S-module structure on N induced by γ) and G is a morphism of R-power algebras.

i) Then there is a commutative diagram



where the top row of morphisms arises from the construction of functoriality of Exalcomm, and in the bottom row of morphisms, G_2 is a morphism of R-power algebras.

ii) Then there is a commutative diagram



1.4. EXTENSIONS OF GLOBAL POWER ALGEBRAS

where the bottom row of morphisms arises from the construction of functoriality of Exalcomm, and in the top row of morphisms, \tilde{G}_1 is a morphism of *R*-power algebras.

Proof. We only prove the first assertion. The second is similar but easier since $F \times_T S$ is the product in *R*-power algebras augmented to *T*.

Recall that $g_*E = E \oplus_M N$, hence we obtain a morphism $G_2: g_*E \to F$ of *R*-modules, and this makes the diagram commute. Hence, we are left to prove that G_2 is a morphism of global power algebras.

Let $(e, n), (e', n') \in (g_*E)(G)$ for a compact Lie group G, and $k \ge 1$. Then we calculate

$$G_2((e,n) \cdot (e',n')) = G_2(ee', en' + e'n)$$

= (G(ee'), en' + e'n) = (G(e)G(e'), G(e)n' + G(e')n)
= G_2(e,n) \cdot G_2(e',n')

Here, we used that both the E- and the F-module structure on N are induced from the T-module structure via the maps to T, and thus en = G(e)n. Similarly, we calculate

$$G_2(P^k(e,n)) = G_2(P^k(e), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(e) \times n))$$

= $(P^k(G(e)), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1}(P^{k-1}(G(e)) \times n))$
= $P^k(G_2(e,n)).$

Thus, G_2 is indeed a morphism of *R*-power algebras.

Maps to global power algebra extensions are intimately tied to derivations. The following lemma is a generalization of Theorem 1.2.11, where the special case of the trivial extension $S \ltimes M$ is considered.

Lemma 1.4.4. Let R be a global power functor, S be an R-algebra, M an S-module and

$$0 \to M \to E \to S \to 0$$

be an extension of S by M. Moreover, let T be an R-algebra augmented to S. We consider M as a T-module by pulling back the S-module structure along the augmentation of T. Then $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_R/S}(T, E)$ is a torsor over $\operatorname{Der}_R(T, M)$. Concretely, given any morphism $\varphi: T \to E$ of R-algebras augmented to S, there is a bijection

$$\alpha_{\varphi} \colon \operatorname{Der}_{R}(T, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Alg}_{R}/S}(T, E)$$
$$d \mapsto \varphi + d.$$

Proof. Since the corresponding statement is classical in the case of commutative algebras and derivations of such (see eg [27, Corollaire 20.1.3]), we focus on the compatibility with power operations here.

Let $\varphi: T \to E$ be any morphism of *R*-algebras augmented to *S*, and let $d: T \to M$ be an *R*-derivation. We first verify that $\varphi + d$ is a morphism of algebras. For this, let $t \in T(G)$ be an element of *T*. Then we calculate

$$\begin{aligned} (\varphi + d)(P^m(t)) &= \varphi(P^m(t)) + d(P^m(t)) = P^m(\varphi(t)) + \operatorname{tr}_{m-1,1}(P^{m-1}(t) \times d(t)) \\ &= P^m(\varphi(t)) + \operatorname{tr}_{m-1,1}(P^{m-1}(\varphi(t)) \times d(t)) = P^m(\varphi(t) + d(t)). \end{aligned}$$

Here, to get to the last line, we used that the T-module structure on M is via the augmentation of T. Since the S-module structure on M is compatible with that induced from multiplication

in E by being square-zero and since φ is a morphism of augmented algebras, we observe that the T-module structure can be described by $t \times m = \varphi(t) \times m$. Moreover, in the last equation we used additivity of the power operations and that power operations on M vanish.

Let now $\psi: T \to E$ be another morphism of augmented algebras. We need to check that $d \coloneqq \psi - \varphi$ is a derivation $T \to M$. Again, we restrict to proving that the corresponding property for the power operations is satisfied.

Let $t \in T(G)$. We calculate

$$d(P^{m}(t)) = \psi(P^{m}(t)) - \varphi(P^{m}(t)) = P^{m}(\psi(t)) - P^{m}(\varphi(t)) = P^{m}(\varphi(t) + d) - P^{m}(\varphi(t))$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{m} \operatorname{tr}_{m-k,k}(P^{m-k}(\varphi(t)) \times P^{k}(d(t))) = \operatorname{tr}_{m-1,1}(P^{m-1}(\varphi(t)) \times d(t)).$$

Here, the last equation again uses that all power operations on M vanish. Hence d is a derivation. Since the constructions are inverse to one another, this finishes the proof.

Using this result, we can show that these groups of global power algebra extensions extend the exact sequence of derivations from Proposition 1.2.29 to the right. This is a global power functor version of [27, Théorème 20.2.2].

Theorem 1.4.5. Let $R \xrightarrow{f} S \xrightarrow{g} T$ be morphisms of global power functors and M be a T-module. Then the sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_{S}(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_{R}(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_{R}(S, M) \to$$
$$\xrightarrow{\delta} \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{S}(T, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(T, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(S, M)$$

of abelian groups is exact. Here, the map δ : $\text{Der}_R(S, M) \to \text{Exalcomm}_S(T, M)$ associates to an R-derivation $d: S \to M$ the class of the extension $0 \to M \to T \ltimes M \to T \to 0$, where we consider $T \ltimes M$ as an S-algebra by the morphism $(g, d): S \to T \ltimes M$. The last two maps are restriction maps induced on Exalcomm by functoriality.

Proof. We already proved in Proposition 1.2.29 that the beginning of this sequence is exact. We first examine the map $\delta \colon \text{Der}_R(S, M) \to \text{Exalcomm}_S(T, M)$. For any derivation d, the map $(g, d) \colon S \to T \ltimes M$ indeed defines the structure of an S-algebra extension of T by M on $T \ltimes M$ by Lemma 1.4.4. This extension is a trivial R-algebra extension, since d vanishes on R. It is also S-trivial if and only if there is an S-linear section $T \to T \ltimes M$ of the projection to T. Any such map is of the form (id, e), where $e \colon T \to M$ is an R-linear derivation by Lemma 1.4.4. For the map (id, e) to be an S-algebra map, we need

$$(g(s), e(g(s))) = (g(s), d(s)).$$

Hence we obtain that $d = e \circ g$, so that d lies in the image of the restriction map $\text{Der}_R(T, M) \to \text{Der}_R(S, M)$. Thus we have exactness at $\text{Der}_R(S, M)$.

Let now $M \to E \xrightarrow{p} T$ be an S-algebra extension that is R-trivial. Hence, there is an R-linear isomorphism to the extension $M \to T \ltimes M \to T$. This isomorphism takes the form $(p,d): E \to T \ltimes M$, where $d: E \to M$ is an R-derivation. We now consider on $T \ltimes M$ the S-algebra structure defined by $(g, d \circ \eta)$, where $\eta: S \to E$ is the unit of the S-algebra E. This is the extension $\delta(d \circ \eta)$. It is obvious that with this structure, the morphism (p,d) is even S-linear, since $p\eta = g$. This shows that E is equivalent to $\delta(d \circ \eta)$.

Finally, let $M \to E \to T$ be an *R*-algebra extension such that the restricted extension $M \to E \times_T S \to S$ is *R*-trivial. This means there is a section $S \to E \times_T S$. After projection to *E*,

this yields a morphism $S \to E$ of *R*-algebras augmented to *T*, and thus lifts $M \to E \to T$ to an extension of *S*-algebras. Conversely, if $M \to E \to T$ is an *S*-algebra extension, then $M \to E \times_T S \to S$ is a trivial extension, since we have the section $(id, \eta): S \to S \times_T E$. \Box

Remark 1.4.6. In Remark 1.2.25, we define a lift of the functor of derivations to take values in global functors. This can be extended to the functor of global power algebra extensions, by setting

$$\operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(S, M)(G) = \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(S, M[G]).$$

With this definition, we directly observe that the above Theorem 1.4.5 also provides a six-term exact sequence of global functors by applying it to the modules M[G] for compact Lie groups G.

In general, calculating the groups of algebra extensions might be complicated. If we consider a surjective morphism of global power functors $R \to S$, however, we can identify all extensions in terms of module homomorphisms. This approach can be extended by introducing the naive cotangent complex. We study this in connection with the first André-Quillen cohomology group in Section 1.5.c.

Construction 1.4.7. Let $R \to S$ be a surjective morphism of global power functors with kernel I. Then $I/I^{\geq 2}$ inherits the structure of an S-module since $S \cong R/I$, and we may consider the canonical extension

$$0 \to I/I^{\geq 2} \to R/I^{\geq 2} \to S \to 0.$$

For any S-module M, we compare $\operatorname{Hom}_S(I/I^{\geq 2}, M)$ and $\operatorname{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$.

To any S-module homomorphism $f: I/I^{\geq 2} \to M$, we associate the extension given by functoriality of Exalcomm via



Conversely, for a given extension $0 \to M \to E \to S \to 0$, we consider the composition $I \hookrightarrow R \to E$. Since $I = \ker(R \to S)$, we see that this morphism factors over $M = \ker(E \to S)$. Since on M, all products and power operations vanish, this then induces a morphism $I/I^{\geq 2} \to M$. As the map $I \to M \subset E$ is by construction R-linear and all products vanish, this morphism is indeed a morphism of S-modules.

Remark 1.4.8. Via this construction, we are able to interpret the extension

$$0 \to I/I^{\geq 2} \to R/I^{\geq 2} \to R/I \to 0$$

as a universal extension over R/I. This point of view is sometimes useful, for example in the comparison of André-Quillen cohomology with the cohomology of the naive cotangent complex in Section 1.5.c.

In the classical literature, this approach also can be used to identify the second André-Quillen cohomology group with a group of two-term extensions, as shown by Lichtenbaum-Schlessinger [45, Theorem 4.1.2]. There, a universal such two-term extension is identified. We discuss that this approach does not work in our context when discussing identifications of the low-dimensional André-Quillen cohomology groups in Remark 1.5.15.

Proposition 1.4.9. Let $R \to S$ be a surjective morphism of global power functors with kernel I, and let M be an S-module. Then the assignments defined in Construction 1.4.7 yield inverse isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(I/I^{\geq 2}, M) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(S, M).$$

These isomorphisms are natural in surjections $R \to S$ and modules M.

Proof. We study the two compositions of the described morphisms. The composition

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(I/I^{\geq 2}, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(S, M) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{S}(I/I^{\geq 2}, M)$$

is the identity since in the defining diagram

the left square commutes. This exactly describes the procedure of factoring $R \to R/I^{\geq 2} \oplus_{I/I^{\geq 2}} M$ through a map $I/I^{\geq 2} \to M$.

Conversely, for any extension $0 \to M \to E \to S$, we obtain a morphism

of extensions. This arises from the defining commutative diagram

by Lemma 1.4.3. By the 5-Lemma, we obtain an isomorphism of extensions. Thus, we see that also the other composition is the identity.

Naturality of these morphisms in the module is straight-forward. We now exhibit the naturality with respect to surjections of global power functors. For this let

be a commutative diagram of global power functors, with kernels indicated by the dashed arrows, and M be an S'-module. Let moreover $f: I'/(I')^{\geq 2} \to M$ be a morphism of S'-modules. Then, we consider the two extensions of S by M defined by the diagrams

and



We then observe that the maps $R \to R'$ and $R \to S$ induce the dashed map as indicated in the cube-shaped commutative diagram



But the dashed map as indicated induces an isomorphism

by Lemma 1.4.3. This proves naturality of the isomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}_{S}(I/I^{\geq 2}, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_{R}(S, M)$.

Combining this with the six-term exact sequence from Theorem 1.4.5, we obtain the following exact sequence, which classically is known under the name "conormal sequence". It extends the exact sequence of Kähler differentials from Proposition 1.2.29 by one term on the left in the case that one morphism of global power functors is a surjection.

Proposition 1.4.10. Let $R \to S \to T$ be a triple of global power functors where $S \to T$ is surjective with kernel I. Then the sequence

$$I/I^{\geq 2} \to T \square_S \Omega^1_{S/R} \to \Omega^1_{T/R} \to 0$$

of T-modules is exact. Here, the first morphism arises by composing the universal derivation $d: S \to \Omega^1_{S/R}$ with the unit morphism $\Omega^1_{S/R} \to T \Box_S \Omega^1_{S/R}$ of the extension-of-scalars adjunction, restricting to I and passing to the quotient $I/I^{\geq 2}$.

Proof. We observing that $\Omega^1_{T/S} = 0$ as explained in Proposition 1.2.16. Moreover, for any *T*-module *M*, we identify $\operatorname{Exalcomm}_S(T, M)$ as $\operatorname{Hom}_T(I/I^{\geq 2}, M)$ by Proposition 1.4.9. Then using the exact sequence in Theorem 1.4.5 for derivations into *M* and extensions by *M*, we obtain the left exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_S(T, M).$$

The right exact sequence of Kähler differentials can thus be detected by mapping out of it by applying $\text{Hom}_T(_, M)$ for arbitrary *T*-modules *M*.

In the same fashion, we also obtain other three-term sequences when multiple of the morphisms $R \to S \to T$ are surjective.

We can use the above exact sequence for calculations of Kähler differentials on quotients of polynomial algebras.

Example 1.4.11. Let R be a global power functor, and $S = R[x_{i,K_i}]$ be a polynomial algebra over R on generators x_i at level K_i , for $i \in I$. Let moreover $f_j \in S(L_j)$ be polynomials, indexed by $j \in J$. We denote by (f_j) the global power ideal generated by these elements, and consider the global power functor $T = S/(f_j)$.

We calculate the Kähler differentials $\Omega^1_{T/R}$ by means of the exact sequence from Proposition 1.4.10. We know by Proposition 1.2.15 that $\Omega^1_{S/R} \cong S\{dx_{i,K_i}\}$ is a free S-module, and thus also $T \Box_S \Omega^1_{S/R} \cong T\{dx_{i,K_i}\}$ is free. Moreover, the image of $I/I^{\geq 2} \to T\{dx_{i,K_i}\}$ is generated by the elements df_i . Hence, in total we obtain

$$\Omega^{1}_{(R[x_i]/(f_i))/R} \cong (R[x_i]/(f_j)) \{ dx_i \} / (df_j).$$

1.4.b Characterizing Smooth, Unramified and Étale Global Power Algebras

In classical commutative algebra, the notion of commutative algebra extensions can be used to define the classes of formally smooth, unramified and étale algebras. We extend these definitions to the context of global power functors.

Definition 1.4.12. Let $R \to S$ be a morphism of global power functors. For any *R*-algebra extension $M \to E \to B$, we consider the lifting problem

given by morphisms $R \to E$ and $S \to B$ of *R*-algebras. The morphism $R \to S$, or the *R*-algebra *S*, is called

- i) formally smooth if for all lifting problems (1.4.13), a lift exists.
- ii) formally unramified if for all lifting problems (1.4.13), at most one lift exists.
- *iii) formally étale* if for all lifting problems (1.4.13), a unique lift exists.

Example 1.4.14. Let R be a global power functor, and P be a polynomial R-algebra. Then P is formally smooth as an R-algebra. The lifting problem can be solved by choosing preimages for all images of the polynomial generators of P. This can be seen using the universal property of polynomial global power functors from (1.1.23).

By the results of Section 1.4.a, we may characterize formally smooth, unramified and étale algebras in terms of derivations and extensions of global power functors.

1.4. EXTENSIONS OF GLOBAL POWER ALGEBRAS

Proposition 1.4.15. Let $R \to S$ be a morphism of global power functors. Then $R \to S$ is

- i) formally smooth if and only if for all S-modules M, we have $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M) = 0$.
- ii) formally unramified if and only if for all S-modules M, we have $\text{Der}_R(S, M) = 0$.
- iii) formally étale if and only if for all S-modules M, we have $\text{Der}_R(S, M) = 0$ and $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M) = 0$.
- *Proof.* i) Suppose $R \to S$ is formally smooth, and let $M \to E \to S$ be an extension of R-algebras, representing an element in $\operatorname{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$. Then the lifting problem



admits a lift. This lift equivalently describes a section for the projection $E \to S$, and hence the extension $M \to E \to S$ is trivial. This shows $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M) = 0$.

Conversely, suppose $\operatorname{Exalcomm}_R(S, M) = 0$ for all S-modules M. Consider a lifting problem



We moreover consider the extension $M \to E \times_B S \to S$ of S by M. Since $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M) = 0$, this extension is trivial and hence admits a section $S \to E \times_B S$. Composing this section with the projection to E yields the desired lift. Hence $R \to S$ is formally smooth.

- ii) Using Lemma 1.4.4, we see that lifts in the diagram 1.4.13 are a torsor over $\text{Der}_R(S, M)$. Moreover, for any S-module M, the trivial extension $M \to S \ltimes M \to S$ does admit a lift. Hence, $R \to S$ is formally unramified if and only if $\text{Der}_R(S, M) = 0$.
- iii) The result for formal étaleness is obtained from combining the characterizations of formal smoothness und unramifiedness.

Using this characterization of formally smooth algebras, we obtain that the exact sequences of derivations and Kähler differentials are also exact at the other ends in the case of formally smooth algebras.

Proposition 1.4.16. Let $R \to S \to T$ be a triple of global power functors and let T be a formally smooth S-algebra. Let moreover M be a T-module. Then the sequences

$$0 \to \Omega^1_{S/R} \square_S T \to \Omega^1_{T/R} \to \Omega^1_{T/S} \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_S(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \to 0$$

are split short exact.

Proof. From the six-term exact sequence in Theorem 1.4.5 and since by formal smoothness of T over S, Exalcomm_S(T, M) = 0, it follows that the second sequence is exact. This already implies that the sequence of Kähler differentials is split exact, where a retraction of $\Omega^1_{S/R} \square_S T \to \Omega^1_{T/R}$ is obtained since applying $\operatorname{Hom}_T(_, \Omega^1_{S/R} \square_S T)$ yields a surjection. Finally, a split of the sequence of Kähler differentials yields a split of the sequence of derivations.

Proposition 1.4.17. Let $R \to S \to T$ be a triple of global power functors, let $S \to T$ be surjective with kernel I and let T be a formally smooth R-algebra. Let moreover M be a T-module. Then the sequences

$$0 \to I/I^{\geq 2} \to \Omega^1_{S/R} \square_S T \to \Omega^1_{T/R} \to 0$$

and

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_R(T, M) \to \operatorname{Der}_R(S, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_S(T, M) \to 0$$

are split short exact.

Proof. The proof is completely analogous to the one for Proposition 1.4.16, using that the sixterm sequence from Theorem 1.4.5, the surjectivity of $S \to T$ and the formal smoothness of T over R imply that the second sequence is exact.

Proposition 1.4.18. Let R be a global power functor and S be a formally smooth R-algebra. Then $\Omega^1_{S/R}$ is a projective S-module.

Proof. Let P be a polynomial R-algebra with a surjection $P \to S$ of R-algebras. Then by Proposition 1.4.17, the sequence

$$0 \to I/I^{\geq 2} \to \Omega^1_{P/B} \Box_P S \to \Omega^1_{S/B} \to 0$$

is split exact, where I denotes the kernel of the surjection $P \to S$. Since P is polynomial over R, the calculation in Example 1.4.11 show that $\Omega^1_{P/R}$ is a free P-module. Thus the split surjection $\Omega^1_{P/R} \square_P S \to \Omega^1_{S/R}$ exhibits $\Omega^1_{S/R}$ as a direct summand of a free S-module, hence it is a projective S-module.

1.5 André-Quillen (Co-)Homology

In this section, we describe the André-Quillen (co-)homology theory for global power algebras S over a global power functor R. This is a generalization of the classical cohomology theory for commutative rings described independently by André and Quillen in [1, 52, 53].

André-Quillen cohomology and homology are the non-abelian derived functors of derivations and Kähler differentials, respectively. Hence, they are defined by considering simplicial resolutions of a global power algebra by basic building blocks and then applying derivations or Kähler differentials to this. The basic global power algebras in question are the polynomial global power algebras from Definition 1.1.22, since these form a nice set of projective generators for the category of global power algebras. Moveover, on these polynomial algebras derivations and Kähler differentials behave well.

After giving the definition of the homology and cohomology groups, we identify the lowdimensional terms in Section 1.5.b. As usual, the zeroth terms are given by the functors we derive to obtain the (co-)homology theory, ie Kähler differentials for homology and derivations for cohomology. Furthermore, as the six-term exact sequence from Theorem 1.4.5 suggests, the first André-Quillen cohomology group is given by the group of global power functor extensions. This is a globally equivariant generalization of the corresponding fact in classical commutative algebra
due to André [1, Proposition 25.2]. In order to facilitate calculation of these low-dimensional terms, we also introduce the naive cotangent complex in Section 1.5.c. This construction is inspired by the work of Illusie [36, Chapitre III], and allows for explicit calculation of the zeroth and first André-Quillen (co-)homology.

In Section 1.5.d, we use this naive cotangent complex to compute the first homology of certain quotients of polynomial algebras over the Burnside ring global power functors. These calculations show that the exact sequence of the low-dimensional André-Quillen groups cannot be extended beyond a six-term sequence. This failure of the existence of a long exact transitivity sequence is founded in the fact that projective global functors do not need to be flat for the box product, as shown by Lewis [44].

Despite this flaw of the global André-Quillen cohomology, I still believe this to be a useful theory, especially for the interpretation of the low terms and their connection to differential properties of global power functors. Also, the comparison with topological André-Quillen theory as defined in the second part of this dissertation, which in fact does have a transitivity sequence, may provide valuable insights in the algebra of global power algebras.

1.5.a Definition of the (Co-)Homology

In Section 1.2, we generalized the notions of derivations and Kähler differentials to the context of global power algebras. Now, we also generalize André-Quillen cohomology to this context. For this, we have to derive the functors of derivations and Kähler differentials, and hence we recall the necessary definitions and results from homotopical algebra [52, II, 4].

Definition 1.5.1. Let \mathcal{C} be a category closed under finite limits. An effective epimorphism is a morphism $f: X \to Y$ which is the coequalizer of its kernel pair $X \times_Y X \rightrightarrows X$. An object P of \mathcal{C} is called projective if for every effective epimorphism $f: X \to Y$, the induced map $\operatorname{Hom}(P, f): \operatorname{Hom}(P, X) \to \operatorname{Hom}(P, Y)$ is surjective.

We say that C has enough projectives if for every object X of C, there is an effective epimorphism $p: P \to X$ from a projective object P.

In our case, let R be a global power functor and consider the category Alg_R . We claim that in this category, the polynomial algebras $R[x_K]$ for any compact Lie group K, and any box product over R of those are projective. In fact, let $f: S \to T$ be an effective epimorphism. Then, we consider the induced morphism $\operatorname{Hom}(R[x_K], f): \operatorname{Hom}(R[x_K], S) \to \operatorname{Hom}(R[x_K], T)$. By the universal property of the polynomial algebra, this is isomorphic to $f_K: S(K) \to T(K)$.

As explained in Remark 1.1.24, we can write the category of R-power algebras as a multisorted algebraic theory, where the sorts are given by the compact Lie groups, and we have $R[x_K]$ as the free R-algebra on the group K, left adjoint to evaluation at the group K. By [17, Corollary 3.5.3], for any algebraic theory \mathcal{T} , the forgetful functor $U: \operatorname{Mod}_{\mathcal{T}} \to \operatorname{Sets}$ preserves and reflects effective epimorphisms, and hence, by the multisorted analogue, the map $f_K: S(K) \to T(K)$ is surjective. Thus, the R-algebra $R[x_K]$ is indeed projective. Since any coproduct of projective objects is projective and the box product is the coproduct in Alg_R , we see that any polynomial algebra $R[x_{K_{i},i}, i \in I]$ is projective. Thus, we have the following result:

Lemma 1.5.2. Let R be a global power functor. The category Alg_R of R-power algebras has enough projectives. Explicitly, for any R-power algebra S, the morphism

$$\varepsilon_S: \prod_{K \in S(K) \atop s \in S(K)} R[x_{K,s}] \to S, \ x_{K,s} \mapsto s$$
(1.5.3)

is an effective epimorphism from a projective object. Here, the box product is indexed over a representing set of isomorphism classes of compact Lie groups K and elements $s \in S(K)$.

By this lemma, we can do homotopical algebra in the category Alg_R . In particular, by [52, II.4, Theorem 4], the category $s\operatorname{Alg}_R$ of simplicial *R*-algebras has a model category structure and we can talk about cofibrant replacements of an *R*-algebra.

Definition 1.5.4. Let R be a global power functor and let S be an R-algebra. Then a cofibrant resolution of S is an object P_{\bullet} of $sAlg_R$ together with a map $p: P_{\bullet} \to S$ of simplicial R-algebras (where S is considered as a constant simplicial object) such that P_{\bullet} is cofibrant and p is an acyclic fibration in the model structure on $sAlg_R$.

Remark 1.5.5. One way to construct cofibrant resolutions is by using polynomial global power functors. We define a polynomial simplicial resolution of an *R*-power algebra *S* to be a simplicial *R*-power algebra P_{\bullet} with a morphism $P_{\bullet} \to S$, such that

- $P_n \cong R[x_{i,K_i}^{(n)}]$ is a polynomial *R*-power algebra, and
- the degeneracies map generators to generators.

In fact, any cofibration is a retract of an inclusion into a polynomial algebra. This procedure is explained in [52, Remark 4, p. II.4.11]. Thus, we can use polynomial resolutions to calculate derived functors.

Now, we can use this formalism to define the derived functors of derivations and Kähler differentials in the category of R-algebras.

Definition 1.5.6. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra. Let M be an S-module. Let P_{\bullet} be a cofibrant resolution of S in $sAlg_R$. Then the André-Quillen cohomology of S over R with coefficients in M is

$$D^q(S, R; M) = H^q(\operatorname{Der}_R(P_{\bullet}, M)),$$

the cohomology of the simplicial abelian group $\operatorname{Der}_R(P_{\bullet}, M)$. Moreover, we define the cotangent complex of S as the simplicial object $\mathbb{L}_{S/R} = S \Box_{P_{\bullet}} \Omega^1_{P_{\bullet}/R}$ in Mod_S , where the boxproduct is formed levelwise. Then, the André-Quillen homology of S over R with coefficients in M is the graded global functor

$$D_q(S, R; M) = H_q(\mathbb{L}_{S/R} \square_S M).$$

These constructions are obviously functorial in squares

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R & \stackrel{\eta}{\longrightarrow} S \\ f_R & & \downarrow f_S \\ R' & \stackrel{\eta'}{\longrightarrow} S' \end{array}$$

of global power functors, induced from the functoriality of Kähler differentials.

Remark 1.5.7. By the universality of the Kähler differentials from Definition 1.2.12, we can rewrite the André-Quillen cohomology as

$$D^q(S, R; M) \cong H^q(\operatorname{Hom}_S(\mathbb{L}_{S/R}, M)).$$

This emphasizes the duality between the simplicial objects defining homology and cohomology.

As in Remark 1.2.25, we can also define a global-functor-valued André-Quillen cohomology by setting

$$\underline{D}^q(S,R;M)(G) = D^q(S,R;M[G]).$$

This satisfies the same duality as the abelian-group-valued cohomology, in that

$$\underline{D}^{q}(S, R; M) \cong H^{q}(\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{S}(\mathbb{L}_{S/R}, M)).$$

Using this internal definition, the identifications given in Proposition 1.5.10 and Proposition 1.5.14 also lift to give isomorphisms of global functors for the internal cohomology and derivations or global power functor extensions, respectively.

Sometimes it is convenient to have a specific resolution to compute the cotangent complex and André-Quillen homology. We can take a simplicial projective resolution by using the free-forgetful adjunction between global power functors and "global sets", describing global power functors as a multisorted theory. The result is a comparison of Quillen's homotopical algebra approach to cohomology followed in Definition 1.5.6 and a cotriple/comonad cohomology approach as introduced by Beck in [13] and studied by Barr and Beck as well as Ulmer in multiple works [8, 9, 6, 7, 64]:

We consider the functor

$$G: \operatorname{Alg}_R \to \operatorname{Alg}_R, S \mapsto \bigsqcup_{K \atop s \in S(K)} R[x_{K,s}].$$

This is a comonad, since it arises from the free-forgetful adjunction

$$\operatorname{Alg}_R \xrightarrow{\operatorname{ev}} \prod_G \operatorname{Sets}$$

In particular, we have the counit $\varepsilon: G \to id$ from (1.5.3), and this defines for any *R*-algebra S a simplicial polynomial *R*-algebra $G_{\bullet}S$, where $G_nS = G^{n+1}S$ and the face maps are $d_i = G^{n-i}\varepsilon_{G^iS}: G_nS \to G_{n-1}S$. The degeneracy maps are defined using the comultiplication $\nu: G \to G^2$. This simplicial *R*-algebra is augmented to S via $\varepsilon_S: GS \to S$.

Proposition 1.5.8. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-power algebra. Let M be an S-module. Then we have isomorphisms

$$D^q(S,R;M) \cong H^q(\operatorname{Der}_R(G_{\bullet}S,M))$$
 and $D_q(S,R;M) \cong H_q(S \square_{G_{\bullet}S}\Omega^1_{G_{\bullet}S/R} \square_S M).$

This is part of [52, II.5, Theorem 5], and follows since we may choose any cofibrant resolution in order to compute the cotangent complex.

On polynomial algebras, the André-Quillen cohomology is trivial in positive degrees.

Proposition 1.5.9. Let R be a global power functor and let $S = R[x_{K_i,i}, i \in I]$ be a polynomial algebra. Then the augmentation $G_{\bullet}S \to S$ is a homotopy equivalence. In particular, we have

$$D^{q}(S,R;M) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{Der}_{R}(S,M) & \text{for } q = 0\\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases} \quad and \ D_{q}(S,R;M) = \begin{cases} \Omega^{1}_{S/R} \Box_{S}M & \text{for } q = 0\\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

for any S-module M.

Proof. We have an additional degeneracy given by

$$S \to GS, x_{K_i} \mapsto x_{x_{K_i}}.$$

This induces the desired homotopy inverse.

1.5.b Identification of the Low-Degree Terms

We can identify the low-degree terms of the André-Quillen cohomology in terms of previously defined functors, namely derivations and Kähler differentials in degree 0 and Exalcomm in degree 1.

Proposition 1.5.10. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra. Let M be an S-module. Then $D^0(S, R; M) = \text{Der}_R(S, M)$ and $D_0(S, R; M) = \Omega^1_{S/R} \square_S M$.

Proof. We consider the beginning $P_1 \rightrightarrows P_0 \rightarrow S$ of a cofibrant resolution of the *R*-algebra *S*. This exhibits *S* as a reflexive coequalizer in the category of *R*-algebras of the diagram $P_1 \rightrightarrows P_0$. Since $S\Box_{(_)}\Omega^1_{(_)/R}$ is left adjoint to square-zero extension by Theorem 1.2.13, it preserves reflexive coequalizers. Moreover, the functors $(_)\Box_S M$ and $\operatorname{Hom}_S(_, M)$ are right respectively left exact and hence send reflexive coequalizers to coequalizers and equalizers respectively. Since $D^0(S, R; M) = H^0(\operatorname{Hom}_S(\mathbb{L}_{S/R}, M))$ and $D_0(S, R; M) = H_0(\mathbb{L}_{S/R} \Box_S M)$, this proves the proposition.

Classically, the first André-Quillen cohomology group can be described via extensions of commutative algebras. We generalize this into our context. This follows the original connection between derivations and commutative algebra extensions by Grothendieck in [27, §18&20] and the connection to the cotangent complex by Illusie in [36, Chapitre III]. In the context of André-Quillen cohomology of commutative algebras, this is also the content of [1, Proposition 25.2].

Construction 1.5.11. We construct the maps comparing the first André-Quillen cohomology group to the group of global power algebra extensions. Let R be a global power functor, S be an R-algebra and M be an S-module. Let $0 \to M \xrightarrow{i} E \xrightarrow{p} S \to 0$ be an extension of S by M. Moreover, let

$$P_1 \xrightarrow[d_1]{d_0} P_0 \xrightarrow{\varepsilon} S$$

be the beginning of a simplicial resolution of S via polynomial R-algebras. We define a cohomology class in $D^1(S, R; M)$ as follows.

Choose any *R*-algebra lift $q: P_0 \to E$ of $\varepsilon: P_0 \to S$, using that P_0 is a projective *R*-algebra. Then we consider the map $D = q \circ (d_1 - d_0): P_1 \to E$. By Lemma 1.4.4, this defines an *R*-derivation $D: P_1 \to M$ as the difference of the two power algebra morphisms qd_1 and qd_0 . By definition, this clearly is a cocycle and defines a cohomology class $[D] \in D^1(S, R; M)$. Moreover, this is independent of the chosen lift q: again by Lemma 1.4.4, any other lift $q': P_0 \to E$ only differs by an *R*-derivation $d: P_0 \to M$, and the resulting derivation $D': P_1 \to M$ thus differs from D by a coboundary. Hence, we get a well-defined cohomology class in $D^1(S, R; M)$ associated to the extension $0 \to M \to E \to S \to 0$.

Suppose now that conversely we are given a cohomology class in $D^1(S, R; M)$, represented by an *R*-derivation $D: P_1 \to M$. Then we consider the base-change

We verify that this indeed defines an algebra extension of S by M in Lemma 1.5.13. Again using Lemma 1.4.4, one may check that the isomorphism class of this extension does not depend on the choice of representative D, since the derivation $d: P_0 \to M$ defining the coboundary defines an isomorphism between the two extensions.

Lemma 1.5.13. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-power algebra. Let $P_{\bullet} \to S$ be a simplicial resolution of S by polynomial R-algebras and M be an S-module. Moreover, let $D: P_1 \to M$ be a derivation representing a cohomology class in $D^1(S, R; M)$.

Then $E = P_0 \oplus M/((d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x)))$ for $x \in P_1)$, as considered in Construction 1.5.11, defines an R-power algebra extension of S by M.

Proof. First, we endow E with the structure of an R-power algebra. For this, we consider the square-zero extension $P_0 \ltimes M$, and check whether the relations imposed on the quotient $E = P_0 \oplus M/((d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x)))$ for $x \in P_1$) are compatible with product and power operations. This follows from the fact that D is an R-derivation, as follows:

We show that the sub-global functor $\{(d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x)) \mid x \in P_1\} \subset P_0 \oplus M$ is a global power ideal, as defined in Definition 1.1.30. Suppose we are given for a compact Lie group Gelements $(y,m) \in (P_0 \oplus M)(G)$ and $(d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x))$ for $x \in P_1(G)$. Then we consider the element $x' = s(y) \cdot x \in P_1(G)$, using the degeneracy $s: P_0 \to P_1$ of the simplicial polynomial resolution P_{\bullet} , and calculate

$$\begin{aligned} (y,m) \cdot (d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x)) &= (yd_1(x) - yd_0(x), -yD(x) + md_1(x) - md_0(x)) \\ &= (d_1(s(y))d_1(x) - d_0(s(y))d_0(x), -\varepsilon(y)D(x)) \\ &= (d_1(s(y)x) - d_0(s(y)x), -(\varepsilon(d_1(s(y)))D(x) + \varepsilon(d_1(x))D(s(y)))) \\ &= (d_1(x') - d_0(x'), -D(x')). \end{aligned}$$

Here we used that the structures of M as a module over P_0 and P_1 are obtained from the S-module structure by pulling back along the augmentation $\varepsilon \colon P_{\bullet} \to S$, which equalizes all face maps. Moreover, we observe that since s(y) lies in the image of the differential $d_2 - d_1 + d_0 \colon P_2 \to P_1$ and D vanishes on the image of this map, D(s(y)) = 0.

For the power operations, we employ an inductive argument, starting with $P^1 = id$ as the trivial induction beginning. Let $x \in P_1(G)$. For $k \ge 2$, we calculate by additivity of the power operations

$$\begin{split} P^{k}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x), -D(x)) &= (P^{k}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)), \operatorname{tr}_{k-1,1}(P^{k-1}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times (-D(x)))) \\ &= \left(P^{k}(d_{1}(x)) - P^{k}(d_{0}(x)) - \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times P^{i}(d_{0}(x))), 0\right) \\ &= (d_{1}(P^{k}(x)) - d_{0}(P^{k}(x)), -D(P^{k}(x))) \\ &- (\operatorname{tr}_{1,k-1}(P^{1}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times P^{k-1}(d_{0}(x))), -\operatorname{tr}_{1,k-1}(D(x) \times P^{k-1}(x))) \\ &- \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k-2} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times P^{i}(d_{0}(x))), 0\right) \\ &= (d_{1}(P^{k}(x)) - d_{0}(P^{k}(x)), -D(P^{k}(x))) \\ &- (\operatorname{tr}_{1,k-1}((d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times P^{k-1}(d_{0}(x))), -\operatorname{tr}_{1,k-1}(D(x) \times P^{k-1}(d_{0}(x))))) \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{k-2} (\operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times P^{i}(d_{0}(x))), \\ &\quad \operatorname{tr}_{1,k-i-1,i}((-D(x)) \times P^{k-i-1}(d_{1}(x) - d_{0}(x)) \times P^{i}(d_{0}(x)))). \end{split}$$

Here, in the second line, we used that $P^{k-1}(d_1(x) - d_0(x))$ acts trivially on M, since it vanishes upon projection to S. Moreover, we calculated $P^k(d_1(x) - d_0(x))$ by using additivity for $P^k(d_1(x)) = P^k((d_1(x) - d_0(x)) + d_0(x))$ and solving for the relevant term. In the last line, we again used that $d_1(x) - d_0(x)$ acts trivially on M. In total, we observe that each of the summands in the last line lies in $\{(d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x)) \mid x \in P_1\}$, the first summand as the image of $P^k(x)$, the second summand since we already established that this set is closed under multiplication with arbitrary elements in $P_0 \oplus M$, and the last k - 2 summands since we may use induction for $P^{k-i}(d_1(x) - d_0(x), -D(x))$ and again because this set is closed under multiplication. This finishes the verification that we take the quotient by a global power ideal. Thus, we have the structure of an R-algebra on E.

Moreover, the maps $\varepsilon \colon P_0 \to S$ and $0 \colon M \to S$ define a surjective morphism $p \colon E \to S$ of R-algebras compatible with ε . We claim that the map $M \to E$ exhibits M as the kernel of the map p. By definition, p vanishes on M, and by exactness of the upper row in (1.5.12), M surjects onto the kernel. If an element in M is sent to 0 in E, then there exists an preimage in $\ker(d_1 - d_0)$ under D. But since D is a cocycle, it has to vanish on the kernel of $d_1 - d_0$. So M in fact is the kernel of $p \colon E \to S$. Finally, by construction, M is square-zero in E and the S-module structure on M induced from this agrees with the given one. Hence, we have constructed an algebra extension of S by M.

Proposition 1.5.14. Let R be a global power functor, S be an R-power algebra and M be an S-module. Then the two assignments from Construction 1.5.11 define natural inverse group isomorphisms

 $D^1(S, R; M) \cong \operatorname{Exalcomm}_R(S, M).$

Proof. For the proof, it is left to check that the maps defined above are natural, compatible with the group structure and inverse to one another. The naturality and additivity of the maps is straight-forward to check. For the two compositions of the above constructions, we consider the diagram

from (1.5.12). This already shows that starting from a derivation, forming the associated extension and then taking the corresponding cohomology class is the identity. Conversely, we consider the diagram

Similar to the arguments in Lemma 1.4.3, the dashed morphism of *R*-algebras exists and makes the diagram commute, and hence the extensions formed by E and $P_0 \oplus_{P_1} M$ are equivalent. Thus, the two constructions are indeed inverse to one another.

Remark 1.5.15. In the classical literature, one can also find interpretations of the second André-Quillen cohomology group. Both Gerstenhaber [25] and Lichtenbaum-Schlessinger [45] define a group of two-term extensions of an R-algebra S by an S-module M. These are exact sequences of the form $0 \to M \xrightarrow{i} N \xrightarrow{f} E \xrightarrow{p} S \to 0$, where E is an R-algebra and the map p is a surjection of R-algebras, M and N are E-modules and the maps i and f are E-linear, and finally the

morphism $N \to E$ satisfies $f(n_1)n_2 = f(n_2)n_1$. Moreover, in [45, Definition 2.1.8], a three-term cotangent complex is defined (a generalization of the naive cotangent complex we transfer to the theory of global power algebras in Section 1.5.c), and it is shown that its second cohomology is given by the group of two-term extension in [45, 4.1.2]. The zeroth and first cohomology indeed recover derivations and extensions. Also, the six-term exact sequence from Theorem 1.4.5 is extended to a nine-term exact sequence in [45, Theorem 2.2.4, 2.3.5-6].

In the proof that these two-term extensions give the second André-Quillen cohomology, one may follow the outline given in the comparison of the first André-Quillen cohomology group and (one-term) extensions of commutative algebras in Construction 1.5.11. Since I was not able to find the explicit comparison in the literature, and since a precise understanding of the construction is helpful to see how the situation changes in the presence of power operations, I decided to give some detail here. We explain the construction of a cohomology class in $D^2(S, R; M)$ associated to a two-term extension. The argument roughly takes the following form:

We consider the diagram

Here, we are given a two-term extension $M \to N \to E \to S$ of S by M and a simplicial resolution $P_{\bullet} \to S$ of S by polynomial R-power algebras. Since P_0 is a projective R-algebra and p is surjective, we find an R-algebra lift $g: P_0 \to E$ of ε against p. Then the two maps $g \circ d_0$ and $g \circ d_1$ are also R-algebra maps. Then with respect to the two different P_1 -module structures induced on E by pulling back along these maps, the difference $g \circ d_1 - g \circ d_0$ becomes a *biderivation*. This is an analogue of the notion of a derivation in the presence of two module structures, considered as a left and a right module structure. The relevant Leibniz condition becomes

$$(g \circ d_1 - g \circ d_0)(pp') = (g \circ d_1)(p)(g \circ d_1 - g \circ d_0)(p') + (g \circ d_1 - g \circ d_0)(p)(g \circ d_0)(p').$$

The properties that $\operatorname{im}(g \circ d_1 - g \circ d_0) \subset \operatorname{im}(f)$ (by exactness) and that f satisfies $f(n_1)n_2 = n_1 f(n_2)$ allow to construct a lift $\lambda: P_1 \to N$, which then also is a biderivation. The proof of this fact is given in [45, Lemma 2.1.6, Definition 2.1.4].

Finally, on the image of $d_2 - d_1 + d_0$: $P_2 \to P_1$, the morphisms $d_1, d_0: P_1 \to P_0$ agree, so $\lambda \circ (d_2 - d_1 + d_2): P_2 \to N$ is a derivation with image contained in $\operatorname{im}(i)$. Thus, we obtain a derivation $D: P_2 \to M$. This represents a cohomology class in $D^2(S, R; M)$, and this assignment is used to identify this second André-Quillen cohomology group with the group of two-term extensions.

In the global context, however, we need to also consider the twisted Leibniz rule for the derivation of a power operation. This formula requires a symmetry for the module structure on the target, since the power operations exactly capture the additional Σ_m -action available from the symmetry of the multiplication. The notion of a biderivation classically is a relaxation to two different left and right module structures. This does not make sense globally, since this breaks the required symmetry, and hence the above construction cannot be transferred to the situation of global power algebras. It is also unclear what type of structure we should require on N and the morphism $f: N \to E$. Here, the dichotomy of R-modules (without power operations) and of abelian group objects in augmented algebras (with power operations) might play a role, and N could be required to have power operations. However, the mentioned lack of symmetry inherent

in the classical construction suggests that no sensible definition can lead to a description of the second cohomology group in terms of extensions.

The fact that this comparison is impossible to perform for global power algebras is also suggested by the failure of the transitivity sequence shown in Section 1.5.d. As observed there, the six-term sequence from Theorem 1.4.5 cannot be extended by an additional term to the left while also enforcing that the higher André-Quillen cohomology groups vanish on polynomial power algebras. This shows that no hypothetical interpretation of the second cohomology in terms of extensions can lead to a nine-term exact sequence as constructed by Lichtenbaum-Schlessinger.

1.5.c The Naive Cotangent Complex

After identifying the low-dimensional terms of the André-Quillen cohomology, we exhibit a different way of calculation, by means of the so-called "naive cotangent complex". This is an explicit truncation of the actual cotangent complex, and its construction generalizes the comparison of Exalcomm with $\text{Hom}(I/I^{\geq 2}, M)$ obtained in Proposition 1.4.9. The next results follow [36, III 1.3].

Construction 1.5.17. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-power algebra. Let moreover P be a polynomial R-algebra and $\varepsilon \colon P \to S$ be a surjection of R-algebras with kernel $I \subset P$. We then define the naive cotangent complex as the two-term complex

$$\mathbb{L}_{S/P/R}^{\text{naive}} = (I/I^{\geq 2} \to \Omega_{P/R}^{1} \Box_{P} S), \qquad (1.5.18)$$

concentrated in degrees 0 and 1. Here, the morphism $I/I^{\geq 2} \to \Omega^1_{P/R} \square_P S$ is induced from the universal derivation $P \to \Omega^1_{P/R}$ and the unit $\Omega^1_{P/R} \to \Omega^1_{P/R} \square_P S$ of the scalar extension adjunction between *P*-modules and *S*-modules. This uses the observation that since $S \cong P/I$, any derivation $I \subset P \to M$ with *M* an *S*-module annihilates $I^{\geq 2}$.

We directly observe that $H_0(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/R}^{naive}) \cong \Omega_{S/R}^1$ by the exact sequence from Proposition 1.4.10. Moreover, in the case that $R \to S$ is already surjective and we choose P = R, we see that $\Omega_{P/R}^1 = 0$ and the cohomology of this naive cotangent complex recovers $\text{Exalcomm}_R(S, M)$ by Proposition 1.4.9. In fact, the homology and cohomology of the naive cotangent complex are independent of the surjection $P \to S$ we choose:

Lemma 1.5.19. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra. Let $\varepsilon \colon P \to S$ and $\eta \colon Q \to S$ be two surjections of R-algebras with P and Q polynomial. Denote the kernels by I and J, respectively. Let moreover $\varphi \colon P \to Q$ be a morphism of R-algebras with $\eta \varphi = \varepsilon$. Then there is an induced morphism

$$\varphi_* \colon \mathbb{L}^{\text{naive}}_{S/P/R} \to \mathbb{L}^{\text{naive}}_{S/Q/R},$$

which is a quasi-isomorphism. These morphisms make the naive cotangent complex functorial in the choice of the surjection $P \to S$.

Proof. The existence of an induced morphism is clear from functoriality of the Kähler differentials and the universal derivation, and follows from considering the diagram



We now consider the effect of this morphism on homology. First, we observe that we may factor $\varphi: P \to Q$ through $P \to P \Box_R Q \to Q$, where the first morphism exhibits $P \Box_R Q$ as a polynomial P-algebra and the second morphism is surjective. Thus, we consider these cases separately and start with the assumption that Q is polynomial over P.

In this case, we consider the sequence

$$0 \to I/I^{\geq 2} \to J/J^{\geq 2} \to \Omega^1_{Q/P} \square_Q S \to 0.$$
(1.5.20)

Applying $\text{Hom}_S(_, M)$ for arbitrary S-modules M and using Theorem 1.2.24 and Proposition 1.4.9, we obtain the sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Der}_P(Q, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_Q(S, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_P(S, M) \to 0.$$

This is exact by Theorem 1.4.5, since $\text{Der}_P(S, M) = 0$ by surjectivity of $P \to S$ and since $\text{Exalcomm}_P(Q, M) = 0$ as Q is polynomial over P. Hence the sequence (1.5.20) is exact. We also obtain the split short exact sequence

$$0 \to \Omega^1_{P/R} \Box_P Q \to \Omega^1_{Q/R} \to \Omega^1_{Q/P} \to 0$$

by Proposition 1.4.16, since Q is smooth over P. Upon applying $\Box_Q S$, we obtain the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \Omega^1_{P/R} \square_P S \to \Omega^1_{Q/R} \square_Q S \to \Omega^1_{Q/P} \square_Q S \to 0.$$

The differential for the naive cotangent complex now defines a morphism

of short exact sequences. The long exact homology sequence for this short exact sequence of two-term complexes then shows that the morphism φ_* is a quasi-isomorphism.

We now have to consider the case that $P \to Q$ is surjective. In this case, we denote $K = \ker(P \to Q)$ and consider the diagram

$$\begin{split} K/K^{\geq 2} \Box_Q S & \longrightarrow I/I^{\geq 2} & \xrightarrow{\varphi_1} J/J^{\geq 2} & \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ 0 & \longrightarrow K/K^{\geq 2} \Box_Q S & \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{P/R} \Box_P S & \xrightarrow{\varphi_0} \Omega^1_{Q/R} \Box_Q S & \longrightarrow 0. \end{split}$$

In this diagram, the bottom row is split exact by Proposition 1.4.17, since Q is polynomial over R. The top sequence is dual to the sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_Q(S, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_P(S, M) \to \operatorname{Exalcomm}_P(Q, M)$$

from Theorem 1.4.5, which is exact because $\text{Der}_P(Q, M) = 0$, since $P \to Q$ is surjective. Hence the top sequence is right exact. Again, the long exact sequence in homology then shows that φ_* is a quasi-isomorphism.

Next, we show that indeed the naive cotangent complex always computes the first two terms of André-Quillen (co-)homology.

Proposition 1.5.21. Let R be a global power functor and S be an R-algebra. Moreover let $P_{\bullet} \to S$ be a simplicial polynomial resolution of S as an R-algebra. In particular, we have a surjection $\varepsilon: P_0 \to S$ from a polynomial R-algebra onto S. Then there is a morphism

$$\varphi \colon \mathbb{L}_{S/R} \to \mathbb{L}_{S/P_0/R}^{\text{naive}}$$

inducing a (co-)homology isomorphism in degrees at most 1.

Proof. We first construct the map $\mathbb{L}_{S/R} \to \mathbb{L}_{S/P_0/R}^{\text{naive}}$. It arises from considering the extension

$$0 \to I_0 / I_0^{\geq 2} \to P_0 / I_0^{\geq 2} \to S \to 0,$$

where I_0 denotes the kernel of the augmentation $P_0 \to S$. Using Construction 1.5.11, we may lift $d_1 - d_0 \colon P_1 \to P_0 \to P_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$ to an *R*-derivation $D \colon P_1 \to I_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$. This derivation is then equivalent to a homomorphism $\tilde{\varphi}_1 \colon \Omega_{P_1/R}^1 \to I_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$ of P_1 -modules. We base-change it to a morphism $\varphi_1 \colon \Omega_{P_1/R}^1 \square_{P_1} S \to I_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$ of *S*-modules. By the construction of φ_1 by lifting $d_1 - d_0$, it is clear that this induces a morphism $\varphi \colon \mathbb{L}_{S/R} \to \mathbb{L}_{S/P_0/R}^{naive}$ of complexes together with the identity in degree 0. We only show that this induces an isomorphism in homology of degree at most 1, the proof in cohomology is analogous.

To check that this morphism induces a homology isomorphism in degrees at most 1, we build an entire complex of naive cotangent complexes. We observe that the construction of the naive cotangent complex is functorial in morphisms of R-algebras compatible with surjections to S, as shown in Lemma 1.5.19. Hence, the simplicial object P_{\bullet} of polynomial R-algebras augmented to S defines a simplicial object

$$\mathbb{L}_{S/P_{\bullet}/R}^{\text{naive}} = (I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2} \to \Omega_{P_{\bullet}/R} \Box_{P_{\bullet}} S).$$

In particular, we obtain a double complex

For later reference, we have included the morphism $\varphi_1 \colon \Omega_{P_1/R}^1 \Box_{P_1} S \to I_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$ constructed above as the dashed morphism. Associated to this double complex are two spectral sequences converging to the homology of the total complex [47, Theorem 2.15, Homological version]. If we first take the vertical homology, we obtain the homology of the naive cotangent complexes. Since all face maps $d_i \colon P_n \to P_{n-1}$ induce isomorphisms between these homologies by Lemma 1.5.19, the horizontal complexes are now constant chain complexes. Hence we obtain that the E^2 -page is concentrated in bidegrees (0,0) and (0,1), and the homology of the total complex is computed as the homology of the naive cotangent complex $\mathbb{L}_{S/P_0/R}^{naive}$.

We now consider the other spectral sequence and start by computing the horizontal homology. Since the zeroth row is exactly the usual cotangent complex, its homology computes the André-

Quillen homology of S over R. We obtain the following E^1 -page:

We now claim that the homology groups $H_0(I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2})$ and $H_1(I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2})$ vanish. After we show this, we have proved the proposition, since the only groups contributing to the lowest two homology groups of the total complex are $D_0(S, R)$ and $D_1(S, R)$, which thus have to be isomorphic to the homology groups of the naive cotangent complex. The identification of the morphism inducing this isomorphism follows by considering the edge homomorphism of the second spectral sequence, which agrees with the morphism $\varphi_1 \colon \Omega_{P_1/R} \Box_{P_1} S \to I_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$ by considering the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
I_0/I_0^{\geq 2} & & \\
D & & & \\
\Omega_{P_0/R}^1 \Box_{P_0}S & & \\
\end{array} \xrightarrow{\varphi_1} & & \\
\varphi_1 & & & \\
Q_{P_1/R}^1 \Box_{P_1}S, & \\
\end{array}$$

which is part of the spectral sequence considered above.

We are left to prove that $H_0(I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2})$ and $H_1(I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2})$ vanish. For this, we consider the simplicial object I_{\bullet} of non-unital global power functors. Since the augmentation $P_{\bullet} \to S$ induces isomorphisms on homotopy groups, I_{\bullet} is acyclic. The following lemma then proves that the first two homology groups of $I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2}$ vanish and thus finishes the proof.

Lemma 1.5.22. Let I_{\bullet} be an acyclic simplicial object of non-unital global power functors, then $H_0(I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2}) = 0$ and $H_1(I_{\bullet}/I_{\bullet}^{\geq 2}) = 0$.

Proof. We know that $d_1 - d_0: I_1 \to I_0$ is surjective by acyclicity. Then also the induced map $I_1/I_1^{\geq 2} \to I_0/I_0^{\geq 2}$ is surjective, and thus $H_0 = 0$.

We now consider H_1 . Suppose we have a cycle $[f] \in I_1/I_1^{\geq 2}$. This means that $(d_1 - d_0)(f) \in I_0^{\geq 2}$. If we are able to find a preimage $g \in I_1^{\geq 2}$ of $(d_1 - d_0)(f)$, then the element f - g satisfies $(d_1 - d_0)(f - g) = 0$ and thus lifts to I_2 . Since we consider the quotient $I_1/I_1^{\geq 2}$, this yields a lift of [f] to $I_2/I_2^{\geq 2}$. We have thus reduced to showing that also $d_1 - d_0: I_1^{\geq 2} \to I_0^{\geq 2}$ is surjective.

By definition, $I_0^{\geq 2}$ is generated by elements $f \cdot g$ and $P^k(f)$ for $f, g \in I_0(G)$, $k \geq 2$, G a compact Lie group. We start by considering $f \cdot g$. Here, we choose a preimage $F \in I_1(G)$ of f and calculate

$$(d_1 - d_0)(F \cdot s(g)) = d_1(F)d_1(s(g)) - d_0(F)d_0(s(g)) = (d_1 - d_0)(F) \cdot g = fg.$$

Thus all products lie in the image. We now turn to the power operations. For this, we again

take a preimage $F \in I_1(G)$ of $f \in I_0(G)$, and we calculate

$$\begin{aligned} P^{k}(f) &= P^{k}(d_{1}(F) - d_{0}(F)) \\ &= d_{1}(P^{k}(F)) - d_{0}(P^{k}(F)) - \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(d_{1}(F) - d_{0}(F)) \times P^{i}(d_{0}(F))) \\ &= (d_{1} - d_{0})(P^{k}(F)) - \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \operatorname{tr}_{k-i,i}(P^{k-i}(f) \times P^{i}(d_{0}(F))). \end{aligned}$$

Here, we used additivity for $P^k((d_1(F) - d_0(F)) + d_0(F))$ for the decomposition in the first line. In the last term, we now observe that the first summand lies in the image of $I_1^{\geq 2}$. All other summands are products of elements in I_0 , and hence lie in the image of $I_1^{\geq 2}$ by the previous arguments. This finishes the proof.

1.5.d Failure of Transitivity and Base Change

In the classical theory for commutative rings, André-Quillen (co-)homology exhibits a long exact sequence for a sequence of rings. This extends the exact sequences of Kähler differentials and derivations given in Proposition 1.2.29. We show that this three-term exact sequence for global power functors is extended to a six-term exact sequence by the Exalcomm-functor in Theorem 1.4.5. For commutative rings, the higher André-Quillen groups extend this to a long exact sequence. Concretely, for morphisms $R \to S \to T$ of commutative rings, the natural maps of cotangent complexes

$$T \otimes_S \mathbb{L}_{S/R} \to \mathbb{L}_{T/R} \to \mathbb{L}_{T/S} \tag{1.5.23}$$

form an exact triangle in the triangulated category of chain complexes of T-modules, is a short exact sequence of chain complexes. We obtain exact sequences in homology and cohomology. The cohomology sequence for example reads

$$\dots \to D^n(T,S;M) \to D^n(T,R;M) \to D^n(S,R;M) \to D^{n+1}(T,S;M) \to \dots$$

These results are proved in [53, Theorem 5.1], [1, Proposition 18.2] and [2, Theorem V.1].

We quickly sketch the proof for this transitivity sequence as given by Quillen in [53, Theorem 5.1]. For the sequence of commutative rings $R \to S \to T$, we consider the diagram



In this diagram, we choose a resolution $R \to P_{\bullet} \to S$ of S by a polynomial simplicial R-algebra P_{\bullet} and a resolution $P_{\bullet} \to Q_{\bullet} \to T$ of T by a polynomial simplicial P_{\bullet} -algebra Q_{\bullet} . We then form $Q_{\bullet} \otimes_{P_{\bullet}} S$. This receives a map from S, which exhibits it as a polynomial simplicial S-algebra. Moreover, since the polynomial algebra Q_{\bullet} over P_{\bullet} is in particular flat, we can conclude that the base-change of the weak equivalence $P_{\bullet} \to S$ to $Q_{\bullet} \to Q_{\bullet} \otimes_{P_{\bullet}} S$ also is a weak equivalence. By the 2-out-of-3 property, also $Q_{\bullet} \otimes_{P_{\bullet}} S \to T$ is a weak equivalence. In total, we have constructed a resolution $S \to Q_{\bullet} \otimes_{P_{\bullet}} S \to T$ of T by a polynomial simplicial S-algebra. Using these three

resolutions, we obtain the distinguished triangle (1.5.23) by applying the transitivity sequence of Kähler differentials to $R \to P_{\bullet} \to Q_{\bullet}$, using base change for Kähler differentials from Q_{\bullet}/P_{\bullet} to $Q_{\bullet} \otimes_{P_{\bullet}} S/S$, and tensoring with T. Since the involved algebras here are polynomial and thus smooth, the resulting sequence is (levelwise split) short exact by Proposition 1.4.16.

When we try to transfer this result to our André-Quillen theory for global power functors, we may attempt to mimic the above proof. However, this fails as in the category of modules over a global power functor, projective modules might not be flat. This observation goes back to a study of flatness in various categories of equivariant algebra conducted by Lewis in [44]. This then implies that a polynomial algebra might not be flat. Hence, we are no longer able to conclude that $Q_{\bullet} \otimes_{P_{\bullet}} S \to T$ is a weak equivalence.

In fact, we can explicitly calculate that the six-term exact sequence of the low-dimensional André-Quillen homology groups as identified in Section 1.5.b does not extend to a long exact sequence. For this, we first recall Lewis's example of a projective global functor that is not flat.

Proposition 1.5.25. Let p be a prime. Then the global functor $\mathbb{A}(\mathbb{Z}/p, _)$ is free, hence projective, but not flat.

Proof. This is the statement of [44, Theorem 6.10]. For this, we observe that the category of Fin-global functor is the category of (\emptyset, ∞) -Mackey functors as considered by Lewis. The same calculation also goes through in the case of compact Lie groups. There is a slight mistake in the description in the map $\tilde{\tau}^e_{\mathbb{Z}/p}(\mathbb{Z}/p)$ on page 244, where restriction along the non-surjective endomorphism of \mathbb{Z}/p should be sent to p times the inflation, but this does not change the argument.

The concrete example Lewis uses for this proof is the sequence $\mathbb{A}(\mathbb{Z}/p, _) \xrightarrow{(\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/p})^*} \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{A}/\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/p}$. The proof cited above can be interpreted as considering this sequence as the start of a projective resolution of $\mathbb{A}/\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/p}$, on which taking $\Box \mathbb{A}(\mathbb{Z}/p, _)$ picks up a non-trivial Tor₁-term.

Guided by this example, we state the following comparison result for certain first André-Quillen homology groups that implies that the long transitivity sequence fails to be exact in general. In this statement, the notation $\langle f \rangle$ denotes the power ideal generated by f. We also observe that this statement expresses that the corresponding base-change result [53, Theorem 5.3] fails, which usually can be deduced as a corollary from the transitivity sequence.

Proposition 1.5.26. Consider the global power functors $S = \mathbb{A}[x_e]/\langle \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x) \rangle$ and $T = S[t_{\mathbb{Z}/2}]$. Then the natural morphism

$$T\Box_S D_1(S,\mathbb{A}) \to D_1(T,\mathbb{A})$$

is surjective but not injective.

Before we give the proof by explicit calculations, we record the consequence for the transitivity sequence.

Theorem 1.5.27. For general morphisms $R \to S \to T$ of global power functors and T-modules M, there is no possible choice of connecting homomorphisms $\partial_n \colon D_n(T,S;M) \to T \Box_S D_{n-1}(S,R;M)$ such that the transitivity sequence

$$\dots \to T \square_S D_n(S, R; M) \to D_n(T, R; M) \to D_n(T, S; M) \to T \square_S D_{n-1}(S, R; M) \to \dots$$

is exact. In fact, this fails even for n = 2.

Proof. We consider the sequence $\mathbb{A} \to S \to T$ from Proposition 1.5.26. Since T is polynomial over S, we see that $D_n(T, S; M) = 0$ for all $n \ge 1$ and all T-modules M. Hence, exactness of the transitivity sequence implies that

$$T\Box_S D_1(S,\mathbb{A}) \to D_1(T,\mathbb{A})$$

is an isomorphism. This is not the case by Proposition 1.5.26.

Remark 1.5.28. In his book [2], André gives an overview of the homology theory for commutative rings and gives modified arguments for many results from [1]. In particular, in this proof of the transitivity sequence (which he calls Jacobi-Zariski sequence), he shows that it can be deduced from the property that enlarging an *R*-algebra *S* to a polynomial *S*-algebra *T* only base-changes the higher André-Quillen homology groups over *R* from *S* to *T* ([2, Condition V.9]). This is exactly the property we show to fail for global power algebras in Proposition 1.5.26. That this condition is necessary is the content of the proof of Theorem 1.5.27. André's arguments show that this special case of the transitivity sequence is also sufficient.

The condition mentioned above is always satisfied for polynomial R-algebras S by the calculations in Proposition 1.5.9. This shows that if the middle global power functor in the transitivity sequence is polynomial, we in fact do obtain a transitivity result. In the classical case, André shows in [2, V.11] that one can bootstrap the general case from this special case. However, this argument also uses that polynomial algebras are flat, which is no longer the case for global power functors.

Remark 1.5.29. The reader well versed in the literature on equivariant André-Quillen (co-)homology may find the above statement about failure of the transitivity sequence surprising. The reason for this is that Leeman claims in his PhD-thesis [42, Proposition 3.4.11] that André-Quillen homology and cohomology for Tambara functors do come equipped with a transitivity sequence. On the other hand, Tambara functors also exhibit the property that polynomial algebras are not flat, see [32] for an extensive study (even though this comes about because polynomial algebras are seldom free as Mackey functors, whereas projective Mackey functors are indeed flat). In fact, I believe that Leeman's proof is not correct, and expect that also for Tambara functors, counterexamples for the transitivity sequence can be found. The faulty argument in the cited proof (transcribed into our notation) lies in the analysis of the pushout



which is part of the Diagram 1.5.24. Leeman claims that since the P_{\bullet} and Q_{\bullet} are cofibrant in the model category of simplicial *R*-algebras and $P_{\bullet} \to Q_{\bullet}$ is a cofibration, the pushout has to preserve the weak equivalence $P_{\bullet} \to S$ by a classical argument, see eg [33, Proposition 13.2]. However, this argument actually needs *S* to be cofibrant over *R*, which is generally not the case. In fact, this is the reason we need to resolve *S* by P_{\bullet} in the first place.

Proof of Proposition 1.5.26. We calculate the first André-Quillen homology modules by using the naive cotangent complex from Proposition 1.5.21. We start by performing the calculations for $S = \mathbb{A}[x_e]/\langle \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x) \rangle$. We calculate the values of the André-Quillen global functors for the groups e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$. At the trivial group, we recover the classical results from the case of commutative rings and the morphism in question is an isomorphism. At $\mathbb{Z}/2$, we obtain that the morphism is not injective.

The naive cotangent complex depends on a surjection $P \to S$ from a polynomial A-algebra P. We choose the canonical surjection $P = \mathbb{A}[x_e] \to \mathbb{A}[x_e]/\langle \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x) \rangle = S$. Then we have that the Kähler differentials $\Omega_{P/\mathbb{A}}^1 = P\{dx\} \cong \mathbb{A}[x]\{dx\}$ are a free P-module on a generator at e by Proposition 1.2.15. Thus the 0-th term of the naive cotangent complex is

$$(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/\mathbb{A}}^{\text{naive}})_0 = \Omega_{P/\mathbb{A}}^1 \Box_P S = S\{dx\}.$$

We explicitly calculate the values at the groups e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$. For this, we recall that $\mathbb{A}[x_e](G) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, G)$. Using the description of the Burnside ring global power functor from [55, Theorem 4.2.6], we obtain the description of the polynomial global power functor $\mathbb{A}[x_e]$ as explained in Remark A.2.1, as

$$P(e) = \mathbb{Z}[x]$$

$$P(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \mathbb{Z}[P^2(x), p^*(x)] \ltimes \bigoplus_{k \ge 0} \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\}.$$

Here, $p: \mathbb{Z}/2 \to e$ is the unique homomorphism, and $p^*(x)$ is the inflation of x along this homomorphism. The product structure on the left summand of $P(\mathbb{Z}/2)$ is the one of a polynomial ring on the two designated generators, as both power operations and inflations are multiplicative. The symbol \ltimes indicates that $\bigoplus_{k\geq 0} \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\}$ is an ideal in $P(\mathbb{Z}/2)$, with multiplication determined by the formulas $\operatorname{tr}(x^i) \operatorname{tr}(x^k) = 2 \operatorname{tr}(x^{i+k}), P^2(x) \operatorname{tr}(x^k) = \operatorname{tr}(x^{k+2}) \operatorname{and} p^*(x) \operatorname{tr}(x^k) =$ $\operatorname{tr}(x^{k+1})$. These relations follow from Frobenius reciprocity.

From this description, we obtain that $\Omega^1_{P/\mathbb{A}} \Box_P S \cong S\{dx\}$ has the form

$$S\{dx\}(e) = \mathbb{Z}[x]/(2x)\{dx\}$$

$$S\{dx\}(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \left(\mathbb{Z}[P^2(x), p^*(x)]/(2P^2(x), 2p^*(x)) \oplus \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(1)\}\right)\{dx\}.$$

For the next term of the naive cotangent complex of S, we denote $I = \ker(P \to S) = \langle \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x) \rangle$ and calculate $I/I^{\geq 2}$. We calculate from the above description of P that I has the form

$$I(e) = (2x)$$

$$I(\mathbb{Z}/2) = (2P^2(x), 2p^*(x), \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k) \text{ for } k \ge 1),$$

where each level is considered as an ideal in P(G) for $G = e, \mathbb{Z}/2$ on the specified generators. From this, we calculate $I^{\geq 2}$ as

$$I^{\geq 2}(e) = (4x^2)$$

$$I^{\geq 2}(\mathbb{Z}/2) = (2P^2(x) + \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^2), 4p^*(x)^2, 2\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k) \text{ for } k \geq 2),$$

and $I/I^{\geq 2}$ as

$$(I/I^{\geq 2})(e) = 2x \cdot \mathbb{Z}[x]/2x = \mathbb{Z}\{2x\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{2x^k\}$$
$$(I/I^{\geq 2})(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \mathbb{Z}\{2p^*(x)\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{2p^*(x)^k\} \oplus \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\}.$$

Note that $P^2(2x) \in I^{\geq 2}$ by definition, and $P^2(2x) = \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^2) + 2P^2(x)$ by additivity of the power operations. Generally, $P^2(2nx)$ is also contained in $I^{\geq 2}(\mathbb{Z}/2)$, which can explicitly be

checked with the above description and the A-linearity of the power operations. The fact that this element is contained in $I^{\geq 2}$ allows us to identify $2P^2(x)$ with $-\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^2)$ in $I/I^{\geq 2}$, and hence we do not introduce a generator $2P^2(x)$ in the above description.

We have now computed the naive cotangent complex $\mathbb{L}_{S/P/\mathbb{A}}^{\text{naive}} = (I/I^{\geq 2} \xrightarrow{d} \Omega_{P/\mathbb{A}}^{1} \Box_{P}S)$. The first André-Quillen homology group is now the kernel of the map d. Explicitly, the morphism d comes from the universal derivation and hence takes the form

$$\mathbb{Z}\{2x\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{2x^k\} \to \mathbb{Z}[x]/(2x)\{dx\}$$

$$2x^k \mapsto 2kx^{k-1}dx$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Z}\{2p^*(x), \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)\} \oplus \\ \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{2p^*(x)^k, \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\} \end{pmatrix} \to \left(\mathbb{Z}[P^2(x), p^*(x)]/(2P^2(x), 2p^*(x)) \oplus \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(1)\}\right)\{dx\}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k) \mapsto k\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^{k-1})dx$$

$$2p^*(x^k) \mapsto 2kp^*(x^{k-1})dx.$$

The kernel is thus given by

$$D_1(S,\mathbb{A})(e) = \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{2x^k\}$$
$$D_1(S,\mathbb{A})(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{2p^*(x^k)\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\}$$

Finally, we now calculate $D_1(S, \mathbb{A}) \square_S T \cong D_1(S, \mathbb{A}) \square \mathbb{A}[t_{\mathbb{Z}/2}]$. We describe the polynomial global power functor $\mathbb{A}[t_{\mathbb{Z}/2}]$ in Corollary A.2.3. The classical coend formulation, recalled in Remark 1.1.9, implies that only the levels e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$ of the two box-product factors influence the value of the box product at e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$. Considering all relations, we obtain

$$(D_1(S,\mathbb{A})\square_S T)(e) = \bigoplus_{k\geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)]\{2x^k\}$$
$$(D_1(S,\mathbb{A})\square_S T)(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \begin{pmatrix} \bigoplus_{k\geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t,P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)),p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\}\oplus\\ \bigoplus_{k\geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t,P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)),p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{2p^*(x^k)\} \end{pmatrix}$$

We now calculate the corresponding first André-Quillen homology global functor at the groups e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$ for $\mathbb{A} \to T = \mathbb{A}[x_e, t_{\mathbb{Z}/2}]/\langle \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x) \rangle$. Here, we use as input for the naive cotangent complex the canonical surjection $Q = \mathbb{A}[x_e, t_{\mathbb{Z}/2}] \to T$. We again obtain that the Kähler differentials $\Omega^1_{Q/\mathbb{A}} = Q\{dx, dt\}$ are a free Q-module on two generators at e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$ by Proposition 1.2.15. Thus the 0-th term of the naive cotangent complex is

$$(\mathbb{L}_{T/Q/\mathbb{A}}^{\text{naive}})_0 = \Omega_{Q/\mathbb{A}}^1 \Box_Q T = T\{dx, dt\}.$$

We again start by writing down the polynomial algebra $Q = \bigoplus_{m,n \ge 0} \mathbb{A}((\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2) \times \Sigma_n, _)$. The computation of $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ is carried out in Corollary A.2.3. For Q, we obtain

$$Q(e) = \mathbb{Z}[x, \operatorname{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)]$$
$$Q(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \mathbb{Z}[P^{2}(x), p^{*}(x), t, P^{2}(\operatorname{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^{*}(\operatorname{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))] \ltimes \bigoplus_{k,l \ge 0} \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^{k} \operatorname{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)^{l})\}.$$

Here, the multiplication on the left summand is again that of a polynomial ring, and the right summand on the transfers is an ideal, with multiplications given by Frobenius reciprocity. In particular, the term $\operatorname{tr}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k \operatorname{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)^l)$ agrees with $\operatorname{tr}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)t^l$. This determines the Kähler differentials.

We now compute the next term of the naive cotangent complex. We denote the kernel of the surjection $Q \to T$ by $J = \langle \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x) \rangle$. We have

$$J(e) = (2x)$$

$$J(\mathbb{Z}/2) = (2P^2(x), 2p^*(x), \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k) \text{ for } k \ge 1),$$

where each level is considered as an ideal in Q(G) for $G = e, \mathbb{Z}/2$ on the specified generators. From this, we calculate $J^{\geq 2}$ as

$$J^{\geq 2}(e) = (4x^2)$$

$$J^{\geq 2}(\mathbb{Z}/2) = (2P^2(x) + \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^2), 4p^*(x)^2, 2\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k) \text{ for } k \geq 2),$$

and $J/J^{\geq 2}$ as

$$\begin{split} (J/J^{\geq 2})(e) &= 2x \cdot \mathbb{Z}[x, \mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)]/2x = \mathbb{Z}[\mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)]\{2x\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[\mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)]\{2x^{k}\}\\ (J/J^{\geq 2})(\mathbb{Z}/2) &= \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{Z}[t, P^{2}(\mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^{*}(\mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{2p^{*}(x)\}\\ \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t, P^{2}(\mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^{*}(\mathrm{res}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{2p^{*}(x)^{k}\}\\ \oplus \mathbb{Z}[t]\{\mathrm{tr}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \geq 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t]\{\mathrm{tr}_{e}^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^{k})\} \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

For the map to $\Omega^1_{Q/\mathbb{A}} \square_Q T$, we obtain similar formulas as in the calculation for S. Calculating the kernel then gives as André-Quillen homology groups

$$D_1(T, \mathbb{A})(e) = \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)] \{2x^k\}$$
$$D_1(T, \mathbb{A})(\mathbb{Z}/2) = \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t] \{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\} \oplus \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t, P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))] \{2p^*(x^k)\}.$$

Comparing this term to the calculation of $D_1(S, \mathbb{A}) \square_S T$ above, we observe that the natural comparison map on

$$\mathbb{Z}/2[t, P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\} \to \mathbb{Z}/2[t]\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\}$$

identifies polynomials in t, $P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))$ and $p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))$ if they have the same restriction to e. Hence, the map is not injective.

Remark 1.5.30. When carefully going through the calculations in the proof of Proposition 1.5.26, we see that the reason the considered morphism is not injective is that in the two calculations of $D_1(S, \mathbb{A}) \square_S T$ and $D_1(T, \mathbb{A})$, the Frobenius reciprocity for terms of the form $F \cdot \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)$ with $F \in \mathbb{Z}[t, P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]$ is used at different steps of the calculation. In the first one, it is used at a step where this "transfer" is not actually a transfer of anything at level e, since the term it is a transfer of has been killed during the calculation of $D_1(S, \mathbb{A})$. Thus, we cannot apply Frobenius reciprocity for this term. In the calculation of the André-Quillen homology for T, we use the Frobenius reciprocity already in T, and there $\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)$ still is a transfer of x. Hence we identify terms of the form $F \cdot \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)$ when the restrictions of F agree.

Remark 1.5.31. As the functor $\Box_S T$ is not exact since polynomial algebras need not be flat, there is another candidate for the spot in the transitivity sequence occupied by $D_1(S, \mathbb{A}) \Box_S T$, namely $H_1(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/\mathbb{A}}^{naive} \Box_S T)$. However, also this term does not agree with $D_1(T, \mathbb{A})$. Using the calculation of the naive cotangent complex in the proof of Proposition 1.5.26, we can calculate that this term takes the form

$$\begin{aligned} H_1(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/\mathbb{A}}^{\text{naive}} \Box_S T)(e) &= \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)]\{2x^k\} \\ H_1(\mathbb{L}_{S/P/\mathbb{A}}^{\text{naive}} \Box_S T)(\mathbb{Z}/2) &= \mathbb{Z}/2\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)\} \otimes \ker(\operatorname{res}: \mathbb{A}[t](\mathbb{Z}/2) \to \mathbb{A}[t](e)) \\ &\oplus \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t, P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^k)\} \\ &\oplus \bigoplus_{k \ge 2} \mathbb{Z}/2[t, P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t)), p^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(t))]\{2p^*(x^k)\}. \end{aligned}$$

This differs from $D_1(S, \mathbb{A}) \square_S T$ by the additional first summand, which again comes about since we are able to use Frobenius reciprocity one step earlier, namely on the level of the naive cotangent complex. This then picks up additional elements in the kernel. It also differs from $D_1(T, \mathbb{A})$.

Chapter 2

Topological André-Quillen (Co-)Homology of Ultra-Commutative Ring Spectra

In this second part of the dissertation, we study ultra-commutative ring spectra. These are modelled by commutative orthogonal ring spectra in the positive global model category of orthogonal spectra, as defined in [55]. The name "ultra-commutative" is chosen in order to convey that such ring spectra represent a very rich structure, in particular this structure is stronger than that of E_{∞} -ring spectra in global spectra. Specifically, the homotopy groups and cohomology groups of global spaces represented by such spectra inherit not only the structure of commutative monoids in global functors (called global Green functors), but also additional equivariant power operations. Thus, we obtain a global power functor $\underline{\pi}_0(R)$ from such an ultra-commutative ring spectrum R. These power operations are equivalent to a global version of norm maps, which recently have seen many applications in equivariant homotopy theory. The prime example is the usage of genuine equivariant commutative ring spectra in the solution of the Kervaire invariant one problem by Hill-Hopkins-Ravenel [29].

Hence, the study of ultra-commutative ring spectra is an interesting subject. In this section, we construct a cohomology theory for such ring spectra, which can then be used to study the multiplication in detail. We aim to provide the tools which later might be applied in the construction of an obstruction theory for ultra-commutative ring spectra. A similar program for commutative ring spectra was initiated by work of Kriz [39], who proposed to use a topological version of André-Quillen cohomology to build Postnikov towers of commutative ring spectra. The aim in that project was to study multiplications on the Brown-Peterson spectrum BP. The theoretical groundwork was later carried out by Basterra [10], and applied by Basterra and Mandell to put an E_4 -multiplication on BP in [12]. Also using topological André-Quillen cohomology, Goerss and Hopkins [26] built an obstruction theory to show that Morava E-theory spectra have a unique E_{∞} -ring structure.

Thus, we observe that topological André-Quillen cohomology has proven to be a useful cohomology theory for commutative ring spectra. Hence, in this chapter, we generalize it to topological André-Quillen cohomology of ultra-commutative ring spectra. For this, we use a model-categorical approach, utilizing the model of orthogonal ring spectra with a positive global model structure, as considered in [55, Chapter 5]. Hence, the first step is to study the construction of topological André-Quillen cohomology in a general model category. This is carried out in Section 2.1, and follows the constructions given by Basterra in [10, Sections 2-4]. In this section, we also show that the transitivity sequence of topological André-Quillen cohomology can be deduced in this general context.

In Section 2.2, we then apply this theory to the model category of ultra-commutative ring spectra, and obtain a topological André-Quillen cohomology of ultra-commutative ring spectra. This cohomology theory is well-behaved in that it comes equipped with a transitivity long exact sequence, and satisfies base-change and additivity results. Moreover, we exhibit a Hurewicz theorem for this cohomology theory, treating the behaviour on connective algebras, and construct Postnikov towers of ultra-commutative ring spectra. In these Postnikov towers, the k-invariants lie in topological André-Quillen cohomology, and refine the classical k-invariants as global spectra through a comparison map to the underlying cohomology. In this way, we expect an obstruction theory to arise by studying lifts of the k-invariants along this comparison map.

2.1 André-Quillen Homology in Abstract Model Categories

In this section, we define André-Quillen cohomology for commutative algebra objects in an abstract symmetric monoidal model category C. We follow the outline of [10], generalizing it to a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category C that supports a model category structure on categories of commutative algebras and modules. The classical example in [10] is the category of spectra, realized as S-modules. In this category, the commutative monoids are commutative S-algebras, modelling commutative ring spectra, or equivalently E_{∞} -ring spectra. In Section 2.2, we apply the theory to the model category of orthogonal spectra with the global model structure defined in [55], thus defining topological André-Quillen cohomology for ultracommutative ring spectra.

Throughout this chapter, we assume that C is a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category, satisfying the monoid and strong commutative monoid axiom. We moreover assume that C is pointed and that the symmetric monoidal structure, denoted \land , distributes over the coproduct \lor , and that coproducts \lor are homotopical.

Under these assumptions, we obtain induced model category structures on the categories of algebras and modules. For a commutative monoid R in C, we denote by Mod_R the category of R-modules, by CAlg_R^+ the category of commutative R-algebras and by CAlg_R^+ the category of non-unital commutative R-algebras. Moreover, for a commutative R-algebra B, we denote by CAlg_R/B the category of R-algebras augmented to B. These categories all inherit model structures from C by the results obtained in [56, 66] and Appendix B.

2.1.a Construction of the Cotangent Complex

We define the functors from which we obtain the cotangent complex and the definition of André-Quillen cohomology. Since usual André-Quillen cohomology is defined in Definition 1.5.6 as the derived functor of derivations, represented by the module of Kähler differentials, we mimic the construction of the module of Kähler differentials in this context. This is accomplished by recalling the construction of Ω^1 as the module of indecomposables for the kernel of the multiplication map in Theorem 1.2.24.

Definition 2.1.1. Let R be a commutative monoid in C. Then for an augmented R-algebra $A \in \operatorname{CAlg}_R/R$ with structure morphisms $\eta \colon R \to A$ and $\varepsilon \colon A \to R$, we define the augmentation ideal I(A) as the pullback



in the category of *R*-modules. This comes equipped with a multiplication map $\mu: I(A) \wedge_R I(A) \to I(A)$ induced from the diagram



This defines a functor $I: \operatorname{CAlg}_R/R \to \operatorname{CAlg}_R^+$. Moreover, for a non-unital *R*-algebra *J*, we define $K(J) = R \lor J$, with multiplication given as

$$(R \lor J) \land_R (R \lor J) \cong R \lor (R \land_R J) \lor (J \land_R R) \lor (J \land_R J) \xrightarrow{\text{multiply}} R \lor J.$$

This *R*-algebra comes equipped with an augmentation $R \vee J \to R$ by projection onto the *R*-summand. This defines a functor $K: \operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \to \operatorname{CAlg}_R/R$.

Proposition 2.1.2. The functors

$$\operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \xleftarrow{K}_I \operatorname{CAlg}_R / R$$

are adjoint, with K left and I right adjoint. The adjunction unit is given as

$$u: \operatorname{Id} \to IK; J \to I(R \lor J) \cong J$$

 $via\ the\ pullback\ square$

$$J \xrightarrow{\text{incl}} R \lor J$$
$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\text{pr}}$$
$$\ast \longrightarrow R.$$

The adjunction counit is given as

$$c \colon KI \to \mathrm{Id}; \ R \lor I(A) \xrightarrow{\eta \lor i} A.$$

Proof. We need to check that the triangle equalities hold. Thus, we consider the diagrams

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R \lor J & \xrightarrow{R \lor u} & R \lor I(R \lor J) & & I(A) \\ & & & \downarrow^{c_{R \lor J}} & \text{and} & {}^{u_{I(A)}} \downarrow \\ & & & & R \lor J & & I(R \lor I(A)) \xrightarrow{} & I(A) \end{array}$$

Both diagrams commutes, thus the maps c and u indeed exhibit K and I as adjoint.

Proposition 2.1.3. Let C be a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category satisfying the monoid and the strong commutative monoid axiom. Then the adjunction

$$\operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \xrightarrow{K} \operatorname{CAlg}_R / R$$

is a Quillen equivalence, for the induced model structures on the categories of non-unital and augmented commutative algebras defined in Appendix B. Moreover, the functor K is homotopical.

Proof. We first prove that K preserves both cofibrations and acyclic cofibrations of non-unital commutative R-algebras. Let I^{gen} be a set of generating cofibrations and J^{gen} be a set of generating acyclic cofibrations for C. Then, the proof of Theorem B.2.6 shows that the sets $R \wedge \mathbb{P}^+ I^{\text{gen}}$ and $R \wedge \mathbb{P}^+ J^{\text{gen}}$ are generating cofibrations and generating acyclic cofibrations for the model category CAlg_R^+ . Moreover, the corresponding sets $R \wedge \mathbb{P}^{I\text{gen}}$ and $R \wedge \mathbb{P}J^{\text{gen}}$ are the generating sets for CAlg_R/R , with augmentations given by projection on the first wedge summand of \mathbb{P} . Since K as a left adjoint preserves colimits, it is enough to check that K preserves the generating cofibrations and acyclic cofibrations. But $K(R \wedge \mathbb{P}^+(i)) \cong R \wedge \mathbb{P}(i)$, and thus K is a left Quillen functor. Hence the adjunction is a Quillen adjunction.

The functor K is homotopical, since weak equivalences of algebras are defined using the underlying morphisms and in C, the wedge sum is homotopical by assumption.

To check that this Quillen adjunction is indeed a Quillen equivalence, we check the following criterion [34, Definition 1.3.12]: Let $J \in \operatorname{CAlg}_R^+$ be cofibrant and $A \in \operatorname{CAlg}_R/R$ be fibrant. Then we need to check that a morphism $f \colon KJ \to A$ is a weak equivalence if and only if its adjoint $\tilde{f} \colon J \to I(A)$ is a weak equivalence. So suppose first that \tilde{f} is a weak equivalence. Its adjoint f is given as the composite $R \vee J \xrightarrow{R \vee \tilde{f}} R \vee I(A) \xrightarrow{c} A$. Now if A is a fibrant object in CAlg_R/R , then by the definition of fibrations in the over-category CAlg_R/R [34, Proposition 1.1.8], the augmentation $\varepsilon \colon A \to R$ is a fibration of commutative R-algebras. Thus the defining square



is a homotopy fibre square in Mod_R . Thus, it is in particular also a homotopy fibre square in \mathcal{C} . Moreover, the unit map $\eta \colon R \to A$ defines a section of ε . This proves that $R \lor I(A) \xrightarrow{c} A$ is a weak equivalence. Moreover, $R \lor \tilde{f}$ is a weak equivalence whenever \tilde{f} is one.

Suppose conversely that f is a weak equivalence. Its adjoint is given as $\tilde{f}: J \xrightarrow{u} I(R \vee J) \xrightarrow{I(f)} I(A)$. By considering the commutative diagram



we observe that $R \vee \tilde{f}$ is a weak equivalence. Moreover, the inclusions in the above diagram and the associated projections $R \vee J \to J$ and $R \vee I(A) \to I(A)$ prove that \tilde{f} is a retract of $R \vee \tilde{f}$. Since weak equivalences are stable under retracts, we conclude that \tilde{f} is a weak equivalence. Thus K and I form a Quillen equivalence.

Next, we define the indecomposables functor.

Definition 2.1.4. Let R be a commutative monoid, and J be a non-unital commutative R-algebra. Then we define the R-module Q(J) of indecomposables of J via the pushout diagram



in Mod_R. This defines a functor $Q: \operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \to \operatorname{Mod}_R$. Moreover, for an *R*-module *M*, we define the non-unital *R*-algebra Z(M) by endowing *M* with the zero-multiplication. This defines a functor $Z: \operatorname{Mod}_R \to \operatorname{CAlg}_R^+$.

Proposition 2.1.5. The functors

$$\operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \xleftarrow{Q}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Mod}_R$$

are adjoint, with Q left and Z right adjoint. The adjunction counit is given as

$$c \colon QZ \to \mathrm{Id}; \, QZ(M) \xrightarrow{\cong} M$$

via the (strict) pushout square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M \wedge_R M & \stackrel{*}{\longrightarrow} & M \\ & & & & \downarrow^{id} \\ & & & & M. \end{array}$$

The adjunction unit is given as the projection

0

$$u: \operatorname{Id} \to ZQ; J \xrightarrow{q} ZQ(J).$$

Proof. We need to check that the triangle equalities hold. Thus, we consider the diagrams

$$QJ \xrightarrow{Q(u)} Q(ZQJ) \qquad ZM$$

$$\downarrow^{c_{QJ}} \text{ and } u_{ZM} \downarrow$$

$$QJ \qquad ZQ(ZM) \xrightarrow{Z(c)} ZM.$$

Both diagrams commutes by straight-forward considerations, thus the maps c and u indeed exhibit Q and Z as adjoint.

Proposition 2.1.6. Let C be a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category satisfying the monoid and the strong commutative monoid axiom. Then the adjunction

$$\operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \xleftarrow{Q}_Z \operatorname{Mod}_R$$

is a Quillen adjunction, for the induced model structures on the categories of non-unital commutative algebras and R-modules defined in Appendix B and [56, Theorem 4.1]. Moreover, the functor Z is homotopical.

Proof. We only need to prove that the right adjoint Z preserves fibrations and weak equivalences. But since both fibrations and weak equivalences are defined on the underlying objects, and Z is the identity on the underlying objects, Z preserves both fibrations and weak equivalences. Finally, for a commutative R-algebra B, we have the usual extension-of-scalars adjunction

$$\operatorname{CAlg}_R / B \xrightarrow[\operatorname{forget}]{B \wedge_R(_)} \operatorname{CAlg}_B / B$$

between *R*-algebras and *B*-algebras, descending to augmented algebras. Again, since the forgetful functor from *B*-algebras to *R*-algebras is the identity on underlying objects and morphisms, it preserves fibrations and weak equivalences, hence this adjunction is a Quillen adjunction as well. We denote the left derived functor of $B \wedge_R$ by $B \wedge_R^L$.

Definition 2.1.7. Let R be a commutative monoid in the cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal pointed model category C, and let B be a commutative R-algebra. Then we define the abelianization functor as

$$\operatorname{Ab}_{B/R}$$
: $\operatorname{CAlg}_R/B \to \operatorname{Mod}_B, A \mapsto (\mathbf{L}Q)(\mathbf{R}I)(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} A).$

In algebra, abelian group objects in augmented algebras are equivalent to modules and the square-zero extension functor has a left adjoint given by Kähler differentials. This adjunction is shown for global power functors in Theorem 1.2.13, even though here the interpretation as abelian group objects is not valid anymore, as we show in Section 1.3.a. This adjunction justifies the name *abelianization* for this functor, which we adopt from Basterra [10]. In the case of commutative ring spectra, Basterra and Mandell [11] show that this functor can be interpreted as a stabilization. A corresponding statement for ultra-commutative ring spectra is the topic of a joint project with Tobias Lenz.

Also in this general context over a model category C, we observe that abelianization and square-zero extension are adjoint after passage to the homotopy categories. In this case, the square-zero extension functor is the composite

$$B \ltimes (_) \coloneqq KZ \colon \operatorname{Mod}_B \to \operatorname{CAlg}_B / B, M \mapsto B \ltimes M = B \lor M.$$

Since both Z and K are homotopical, this composite descends to the homotopy categories.

Proposition 2.1.8. The functors

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_R/B) \xrightarrow[\operatorname{Ho}(B \ltimes (_))]{\operatorname{Ho}(M \operatorname{Od}_B)} \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Mod}_B)$$

are adjoint, with $Ab_{B/R}$ left and $Ho(B \ltimes (_))$ right adjoint.

Proof. We use the Quillen adjunctions exhibited in Propositions 2.1.2 and 2.1.5 and calculate

 $\operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Mod}_B)(\operatorname{Ab}_{B/R}(A), M) \cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_B^+)((\mathbf{R}I)(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} A), (\mathbf{R}Z)(M))$

$$\cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_B/B)((\mathbf{L}K)(\mathbf{R}I)(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} A), (\mathbf{L}K)(\mathbf{R}Z)(M))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_B/B)(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} A, B \ltimes M) \cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_R/B)(A, B \ltimes M).$$

Here, we used that $\mathbf{L}K$ is an equivalence of homotopy categories inverse to $\mathbf{R}I$.

Using this definition, we define the cotangent complex.

Definition 2.1.9. Let R be a commutative monoid in C and B be a commutative R-algebra. Then the cotangent complex of B over R is the B-module

$$\Omega_{B/R} = \operatorname{Ab}_{B/R}(B) = (\mathbf{L}Q)(\mathbf{R}I)(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B),$$

taking indecomposables of the fibre of the multiplication map $B \wedge_B^{\mathbf{L}} B \to B$.

Definition 2.1.10. Let R be a commutative monoid in C and B be a commutative R-algebra. Then we call the map

$$d_{B/A} \colon B \to \Omega_{B/R}$$

of *R*-modules, obtained by composing the unit $B \to B \ltimes \Omega_{B/R}$ of the adjunction from Proposition 2.1.8 with the projection $B \ltimes \Omega_{B/R} \to \Omega_{B/R}$, the *universal derivation* of *B* over *R*.

We record the functoriality of the cotangent complex.

Construction 2.1.11. Let

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R & \xrightarrow{J_R} & R' \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ B & \xrightarrow{f_B} & B' \end{array}$$

be a commutative diagram of commutative monoids in \mathcal{C} . This induces a morphism $B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B \to B' \wedge_{R'}^{\mathbf{L}} B'$. Moreover, by functoriality of pullbacks and pushouts, we also obtain morphisms

$$\mathbf{R}I_R(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B) \to \mathbf{R}I_{R'}(B' \wedge_{R'}^{\mathbf{L}} B')$$

and

$$\mathbf{L}Q_R(\mathbf{R}I_R(B\wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}}B))\to\mathbf{L}Q_{R'}(\mathbf{R}I_{R'}(B'\wedge_{R'}^{\mathbf{L}}B')).$$

In total, this induces a morphism $f_*: \Omega_{B/R} \to \Omega_{B'/R'}$. This construction is functorial.

As a first calculation, we can exhibit the cotangent complex on a free commutative algebra $\mathbb{P}X$ as a free module generated by X. We formulate this relative to a commutative monoid R, where \mathbb{P}_R : $\mathrm{Mod}_R \to \mathrm{CAlg}_R$ denotes the free R-algebra functor.

Proposition 2.1.12. Let R be a commutative monoid in C, and X be an R-module. Then there is a natural weak equivalence

$$\Omega_{\mathbb{P}_R X/R} \cong \mathbb{P}_R X \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} X.$$

Proof. We show this assertion by showing that $\mathbb{P}_R X \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} X$ has the universal property of $\Omega_{\mathbb{P}_R X/R}$ in the homotopy category of $\mathbb{P}_R X$ -modules, exhibited by the adjunction in Proposition 2.1.8. Hence, we need to show that for any $\mathbb{P}_R X$ -module M, we have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathbb{P}_R X})(\mathbb{P}_R X \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} X, M) \cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_R / \mathbb{P}_R X)(\mathbb{P}_R X, \mathbb{P}_R X \ltimes M).$$

This can be seen by the chain of isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Mod}_{\mathbb{P}_R X})(\mathbb{P}_R X \wedge_R^{\mathsf{L}} X, M) \cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Mod}_R)(X, M)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_R^+)(\mathbb{P}_R^+ X, \mathbf{R} Z(M))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_R / R)(R \ltimes \mathbb{P}_R^+ X, R \ltimes M)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_R / \mathbb{P}_R X)(\mathbb{P}_R X, \mathbb{P}_R X \ltimes M).$$

Here, in the third line, we used that $\mathbf{L}K$ is an equivalence of homotopy categories between CAlg_R^+ and CAlg_R/R . Moreover, in the last line, we used the adjunction of over categories

$$\operatorname{CAlg}_R / \mathbb{P}_R X \xleftarrow{\varepsilon_*}{\varepsilon^!} \operatorname{CAlg}_R / R,$$

where $\varepsilon \colon \mathbb{P}_R X \to R$ is the projection to the constant summand of the free algebra, ε_* is postcomposition with ε and $\varepsilon^!$ is pullback along ε . It is straight-forward that this is indeed an adjunction, and since ε_* is the identity on objects and morphisms, it is left Quillen. The last isomorphism then follows from the observation that $R \ltimes \mathbb{P}_R^+ X \cong \varepsilon_*(\mathbb{P}_R X)$.

2.1.b The Transitivity Sequence

In this section, we establish the basic properties of the cotangent complex, namely the transitivity sequence, flat base change and additivity. For the algebraic cotangent complex, this is carried out in [53, Section 5], and for topological André-Quillen cohomology for S-algebras, this is done in [10, Section 4]. We mimic their arguments for the proof in our context.

First, we need to establish certain compatibilities of the augmentation ideal and the indecomposables functors with change of rings.

Lemma 2.1.13. Let R be a commutative monoid in C, B be a commutative R-algebra and A be a commutative R-algebra augmented to R. Then the natural map

$$\mathbf{R}I_R(A) \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B \to \mathbf{R}I_B(A \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B), \qquad (2.1.14)$$

induced by the commutative diagram

is an isomorphism in the homotopy category of non-unital commutative B-algebras.

Proof. Since the functors I and K are inverse Quillen equivalences, it suffices to show that the mate transformation

$$\mathbf{L}K_B(A \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B) \to \mathbf{L}K_R(A) \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B$$

is a weak equivalence (see eg. [58, Lemma 2.2], applied to the adjunction on the level of homotopy categories). However, this transformation is the isomorphism $B \vee (A \wedge_R B) \cong (R \vee A) \wedge_R B$, applied to suitable cofibrant replacements of A and B.

Lemma 2.1.16. Let R be a commutative monoid in C, B be a commutative R-algebra and J be a non-unital commutative R-algebra. Then the natural map

$$\mathbf{L}Q_B(J \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B) \to \mathbf{L}Q_R(J) \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B, \qquad (2.1.17)$$

induced by the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (J \wedge_R J) \wedge_R B & \longrightarrow & J \wedge_R B \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & * & \longrightarrow & Q_R(J) \wedge_R B \end{array}$$

is an isomorphism in the homotopy category of B-modules.

Proof. As a left adjoint, $_ \land_R B$ commutes with the pushout diagram defining Q(J). Hence, considering suitable cofibrant replacements of B and J shows that the map (2.1.17) is indeed an isomorphism.

Remark 2.1.18. On first glance, it might not be obvious how the transformation $I_R(_) \wedge_R B \Rightarrow I_B(_ \wedge_R B)$, defined by diagram 2.1.15, induces the transformation in (2.1.14) on composites of derived functors. In this transformation, we mix left and right derived functors. This can be handled formally by considering the double category of model categories and left and right Quillen

functors as vertical and horizontal morphisms, respectively. Then [58, Theorem 7.6] shows that taking homotopy categories can be made into a double pseudofunctor. This incorporates the definition of derived transformations as in (2.1.14), which are constructed in [58, 7.1].

In the similar situation of Lemma 2.1.16, the situation is easier, since both functors in question are left Quillen. Hence they preserve cofibrant objects, so that the second cofibrant replacement is not necessary. Formally, the natural transformation can be obtained by using the fact that on the 2-category of model categories and left Quillen functors, taking homotopy categories is a pseudo-2-functor by [34, Theorem 1.4.3]. This incorporates the existence of a natural isomorphism $\mathbf{L}F \circ \mathbf{L}G \rightarrow \mathbf{L}(F \circ G)$, which together with its inverse can be used to define the transformation in (2.1.17).

Lemma 2.1.19. Let R be a commutative monoid, S and T be commutative R-algebras with a map $S \to T$ of commutative R-algebras. Assume moreover that C is left proper or that S is cofibrant as a commutative monoid. Then a homotopy cofiber of $S \wedge_R^L T \to T \wedge_R^L T$ in CAlg_T/T is given by $T \wedge_S^L T$.

Proof. This statement mainly consists of a consideration of the relevant cofibrant replacements. We consider the morphism $S \to T$. In order to calculate $S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T$, we consider a cofibrant replacement $\Gamma_R S \to S$ of S as a commutative R-algebra. Moreover, in order to calculate $T \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T$, we decompose the morphism $\Gamma_R S \to S \to T$ into a cofibration followed by a weak equivalence as $\Gamma_R S \to \Gamma_R T \to T$. Obviously, both $\Gamma_R S$ and $\Gamma_R T$ are cofibrant replacements also of commutative R-algebras augmented to T, and since the morphism $\Gamma_R S \to \Gamma_R T$ is a cofibration, $\Gamma_R T$ is also cofibrant as a $\Gamma_R S$ -algebra. Then the map we need to take the homotopy cofiber of is

$$\Gamma_R S \wedge_R T \to \Gamma_R T \wedge_R T.$$

Since $_ \wedge_R T$: $\operatorname{CAlg}_R / T \to \operatorname{CAlg}_T / T$ is a left Quillen functor, we observe that this map is a cofibration between cofibrant objects. Hence, its homotopy cofiber is represented by the actual cofiber of this map. This can be calculated by the usual properties of pushouts as

$$(\Gamma_R T \wedge_R T) \wedge_{\Gamma_R S \wedge_R T} T \cong (\Gamma_R T \wedge_{\Gamma_R S} \Gamma_R S \wedge_R T) \wedge_{\Gamma_R S \wedge_R T} T \cong \Gamma_R T \wedge_{\Gamma_R S} T.$$

We now need to compare this with $\Gamma_S T \wedge_S T$, where $\Gamma_S T$ is a cofibrant replacement of T as a commutative S-algebra. For this, it suffices to establish a weak equivalence $\Gamma_R T \wedge_{\Gamma_R S} S \to \Gamma_S T$ of commutative S-algebras. Since both $\Gamma_R T \wedge_{\Gamma_R S} S$ and $\Gamma_S T$ are cofibrant S-algebras (since $_\wedge_{\Gamma_R S} S$ is left Quillen and by definition, respectively), the left Quillen functor $_\wedge_S T$ preserves this weak equivalence.

In order to establish this weak equivalence, we consider the diagram



In this diagram, we factored the map $S \to T$ into a cofibration followed by an acyclic fibration as $S \to \Gamma_S T \to T$. Since the left vertical map is a cofibration, the diagonal dashed morphisms exist by the lifting property. Moreover, since either the categories in question are left proper or S is cofibrant, we conclude that the morphism $\Gamma_R T \to \Gamma_R T \wedge_{\Gamma_R S} S$ is a weak equivalence. This now proves that we indeed have a weak equivalence $\Gamma_R T \wedge_{\Gamma_R S} S \to \Gamma_S T$ as desired. \Box We now have the necessary ingredients to show the existence of the transitivity sequence.

Theorem 2.1.20. Let $R \to S \to T$ be a sequence of commutative monoids in C. Moreover, assume that either C is left proper or that S is cofibrant. Then the sequence

$$\Omega_{S/R} \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T \to \Omega_{T/R} \to \Omega_{T/S},$$

induced from functoriality of Ω , has the structure of a homotopy cofiber sequence of T-modules.

Proof. We consider the morphism $S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T \to T \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T$ of T-algebras augmented to T. By Lemma 2.1.19, the homotopy cofiber of this morphism in CAlg_T/T is given by $T \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T$. Since I is a Quillen equivalence and Q is left Quillen, applying $\mathbf{L}Q_T \circ \mathbf{R}I_T$ to the resulting cofiber sequence yields a cofiber sequence of T-modules. This takes the form

$$\mathbf{L}Q_T(\mathbf{R}I_T(S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T)) \to \mathbf{L}Q_T(\mathbf{R}I_T(T \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T)) \to \mathbf{L}Q_T(\mathbf{R}I_T(T \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T)).$$

The last two terms are by definition the cotangent complexes $\Omega_{T/R}$ and $\Omega_{T/S}$. We thus only

have to identify the first term as $\Omega_{S/R} \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T$. For this, we observe that $S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T \cong (S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} S) \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T$. Then, we use Lemmas 2.1.13 and 2.1.16 to calculate

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{L}Q_T(\mathbf{R}I_T(S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T)) &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_T(\mathbf{R}I_T((S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} S) \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T)) \\ &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_T(\mathbf{R}I_S(S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} S) \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T) \\ &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_S(\mathbf{R}I_S(S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} S)) \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T \\ &\cong \Omega_{S/R} \wedge_S^{\mathbf{L}} T. \end{split}$$

In total, we obtain the desired homotopy cofiber sequence.

Moreover, we also get analogues of the base change and additivity results.

Proposition 2.1.21. Let R be a commutative monoid in C and S and T be two commutative *R*-algebras. Then there are natural equivalences

$$\Omega_{S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T/T} \cong \Omega_{S/R} \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T \quad \text{and} \\ \Omega_{S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T/R} \cong (\Omega_{S/R} \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T) \lor (S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} \Omega_{T/R}).$$

Proof. For the first assertion, we calculate

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T/T} &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_{S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T}(\mathbf{R}I_{S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T}((S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T)\wedge_{T}^{\mathbf{L}}(S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T))) \\ &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_{S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T}(\mathbf{R}I_{S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T}((S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}S)\wedge_{S}^{\mathbf{L}}(S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T))) \\ &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_{S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T}(\mathbf{R}I_{S}(S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}S)\wedge_{S}^{\mathbf{L}}(S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T)) \\ &\cong \mathbf{L}Q_{S}(\mathbf{R}I_{S}(S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}S))\wedge_{S}^{\mathbf{L}}(S\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T) \\ &\cong \Omega_{S/R}\wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}}T. \end{split}$$

The second assertion follows from observing that the transitivity cofiber sequences for $R \to S \to$ $S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T$ and $R \to T \to S \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} T$ fit together to define splittings for each other, and applying the first assertion to the resulting cotangent complexes.

2.2 Topological André-Quillen Homology for Ultra-Commutative Ring Spectra

In this section, we apply the general theory of cotangent complexes developed in Section 2.1 to the model category Sp of global spectra established in [55]. Here, the commutative monoids are the ultra-commutative ring spectra, which represent a very rich structure. Hence, the construction of topological André-Quillen cohomology for these ring spectra is a useful step in understanding this structured multiplication better. Classically, topological André-Quillen cohomology has been used successfully in obstruction theory for commutative ring spectra, and we introduce some tools in order to facilitate such an analysis also in the case of ultra-commutative ring spectra. Concretely, after the definition of the cohomology, we observe that we have a base-change result as well as a transitivity long exact sequence for this theory.

2.2.a Construction and Basic Properties of Topological André-Quillen Homology

We denote by Sp the category of orthogonal spectra, equipped with the *positive* global model structure constructed in [55, Proposition 4.3.33]. This model structure satisfies the monoid axiom and the strong commutative monoid axiom by [55, Proposition 4.3.28, Theorem 5.4.1]. In particular, the positive global model structure transfers to the category CAlg of ultra-commutative ring spectra, as is elaborated in [55, Theorem 5.4.3]. Moreover, if R is an ultra-commutative ring spectrum, then also the categories Mod_R of R-modules, CAlg_R of commutative R-algebras and CAlg_R⁺ of non-unital commutative R-algebras inherit model structures from the positive global model structure on Sp.

We now specialize the results from Section 2.1 to the case of ultra-commutative ring spectra.

Definition 2.2.1. Let R be an ultra-commutative ring spectrum and B be a commutative R-algebra. Then we define the cotangent complex of B over R as the B-module

$$\Omega_{B/R} = (\mathbf{L}Q)(\mathbf{R}I)(B \wedge_R^{\mathbf{L}} B).$$

In the context of *B*-modules, we can now consider the (co-)homology theory represented by this cotangent complex. This is called topological André-Quillen (co-)homology.

Definition 2.2.2. Let R be an ultra-commutative ring spectrum and B be a commutative R-algebra. Let M be a B-module. Then we define the topological André-Quillen homology of B over R with coefficients in M as

TAQ
$$(B, R; M) = \underline{\pi}_*(\Omega_{B/R} \wedge_B^{\mathbf{L}} M),$$

and the topological André-Quillen cohomology of B over R with coefficients in M as the $B\operatorname{-module}$

$$\operatorname{TAQ}^*(B, R; M) = \underline{\pi}_{-*}(\mathbf{R}F_B(\Omega_{B/R}, M)).$$

Here, F_B denotes the function spectrum in the category of *B*-modules.

In particular, we obtain a transitivity long exact sequence on topological André-Quillen homology theory by considering the cofiber sequence established in Theorem 2.1.20.

Theorem 2.2.3. Let $R \to S \to T$ be a sequence of ultra-commutative ring spectra, and M be a T-module. Then there are long exact sequences

$$\ldots \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}_{n+1}(T,S;M) \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}_n(S,R;M) \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}_n(T,R;M) \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}_n(T,S;M) \to \ldots$$

and

$$\ldots \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}^n(T,S;M) \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}^n(T,R;M) \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}^n(S,R;M) \to \underline{\mathrm{TAQ}}^{n+1}(T,S;M) \to \ldots$$

of global functors.

We moreover obtain base change and additivity results from considering the effect of Proposition 2.1.21 on cohomology.

Proposition 2.2.4. Let R be an ultra-commutative ring spectrum and S and T be two commutative R-algebras. Let moreover M be an $S \wedge_R^L T$ -module and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then there are natural isomorphisms

$$\underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}_{n}(S \wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}} T, T; M) \cong \underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}_{n}(S, R; M) \quad \text{and} \\ \overline{\operatorname{TAQ}}_{n}(S \wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}} T, R; M) \cong \underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}_{n}(S, R; M) \oplus \underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}^{n}(T, R; M)$$

in homology and

$$\underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}^{n}(S \wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}} T, T; M) \cong \underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}^{n}(S, R; M) \quad \text{and} \\ \overline{\operatorname{TAQ}}^{n}(S \wedge_{R}^{\mathbf{L}} T, R; M) \cong \underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}^{n}(S, R; M) \oplus \underline{\operatorname{TAQ}}^{n}(T, R; M)$$

in cohomology.

2.2.b A Hurewicz Theorem for Topological André-Quillen Homology

We now study some structural properties of topological André-Quillen cohomology and the cotangent complex. As a first result, we prove a Hurewicz theorem for topological André-Quillen homology. Since André-Quillen homology is an invariant of *R*-algebras and thus of morphisms $R \to S$ of ultra-commutative ring spectra, the Hurewicz theorem compares it to the relative homotopy groups of this morphism. The Hurewicz theorem is a key input in the construction of Postnikov towers for ultra-commutative ring spectra.

As a first step, we study how the functor $Q: \operatorname{CAlg}_R^+ \to \operatorname{Mod}_R$ behaves on connective spectra.

Lemma 2.2.5. Let R be a connective ultra-commutative ring spectrum and J be a non-unital commutative R-algebra. Suppose moreover that J is n-connected for $n \ge 0$. Then also Q(J) is n-connected, and the adjunction unit $\eta: J \to QJ$ induces an isomorphism on $\underline{\pi}_k$ for $n+1 \le k < 2n$.

Proof. We may assume that J is a cofibrant non-unital R-algebra. We consider the defining cofiber sequence

$$J \wedge_R J \xrightarrow{\mu} J \xrightarrow{\eta} Q(J)$$

of *R*-modules. In this sequence, *J* is *n*-connected by assumption. Moreover, by the compatibility of the smash product with the *t*-structure on global spectra established in [55, Proposition 4.4.15], the spectrum $J \wedge_R J$ is (2n - 1)-connected.

Using this observation, the claim of the lemma follows from the long exact sequence in homotopy groups. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 2.2.6. In the above proof, we used [55, Proposition 4.4.15] to use connectivity assumptions on R-modules X and Y in order to obtain connectivity of $X \wedge_R Y$. However, the statement of [55, Proposition 4.4.15] makes no mention of the relative smash product over R and only considers $X \wedge Y$. In order to deduce statements about \wedge_R , we observe that we can copy the arguments of the cited proof for the triangulated category of R-modules, replacing the generators

 $\Sigma^{\infty}_{+}B_{\rm gl}G$ by $R \wedge \Sigma^{\infty}_{+}B_{\rm gl}G$. These are again compact generators of this triangulated category. Since homotopy classes of morphisms out of these generators recover the equivariant homotopy groups of the underlying spectrum of an R-module by adjunction, these compact generators also define a *t*-structure on the homotopy category of R-modules. In this *t*-structure, the connective R-modules are those that are connective as underlying spectra, and this class is spanned by the compact generators given above. The proof of these fact can be copied verbatim from [55, Theorem 4.4.9 and Proposition 4.4.13]. In all this, we use that R is connective, so the generators $R \wedge \Sigma^{\infty}_{+}B_{\rm gl}G$ are connective as well.

In total, we may mimic the arguments given in [55, 4.4.15] and conclude that the analogous statement in Mod_R also holds.

The Hurewicz theorem for topological André-Quillen homology of commutative ring spectra appears as [10, Lemma 8.2]. That version contains an error in that the homotopy group of the cotangent complex is compared to that of the base instead of the cone, which was pointed out in [5, Lemma 1.2].

Theorem 2.2.7 (Hurewicz theorem). Let R be a connective ultra-commutative ring spectrum and let B be a connective commutative R-algebra such that the unit map $\eta: R \to B$ is an nequivalence, with $n \ge 1$. Then $\Omega_{B/R}$ is n-connected and $\underline{\pi}_{n+1}(\operatorname{Cone}(\eta)) \cong \underline{\pi}_{n+1}(\Omega_{B/R})$.

Proof. By cofibrantly replacing B, we assume that B is cofibrant as a commutative R-algebra. We consider the universal derivation $d_{B/R} \colon B \to \Omega_{B/R}$ defined in Definition 2.1.10. Restricting this map to R along η , it becomes trivial, since it factors through $\Omega_{R/R} \cong *$. Hence, we obtain an induced map $\tau \colon \operatorname{Cone}(\eta) \to \Omega_{B/R}$. We claim that τ induces an isomorphism on $\underline{\pi}_k$ for $k \leq n+1$, from which the claim follows.

In order to compare the cone of η with the cotangent complex, we consider the diagram



Here, the lower line arises by applying $B \wedge_R$ to the top line and the vertical maps are the inclusions of the right factor. Since B is cofibrant over R, both horizontal lines are cofiber sequences. Moreover, we know by Proposition 2.1.3 that the counit

$$B \vee \mathbf{R}I(B \wedge_R B) \to B \wedge_R B$$

is a weak equivalence. Hence, by comparing cofibers, we obtain $B \wedge_R \operatorname{Cone}(\eta) \cong \mathbf{R}I(B \wedge_R B)$. In total, instead of considering τ , we can consider

$$\operatorname{Cone}(\eta) \xrightarrow{\iota} B \wedge_R \operatorname{Cone}(\eta) \cong \mathbf{R}I(B \wedge_R B) \to \Omega_{B/R}$$

Now, since η is an *n*-equivalence, $\operatorname{Cone}(\eta)$ is *n*-connected. Since moreover *B* is connective, by [55, Proposition 4.4.15], ι induces an isomorphism on $\underline{\pi}_k$ for $k \leq n+1$. Finally, Lemma 2.2.5 shows that also the map $\mathbf{R}I(B \wedge_R B) \to \Omega_{B/R}$ induces isomorphisms on $\underline{\pi}_k$ for $k \leq n+1$. This finishes the proof.

2.2.c Postnikov Towers of Ultra-Commutative Ring Spectra

In this section, we construct Postnikov towers for ultra-commutative ring spectra. These can be seen in a precise way as lifts of the usual Postnikov towers for global spectra arising from the t-structure established in [55, Section 4.4]. Thus, these Postnikov systems could be used in order to construct ultra-commutative ring spectrum structures on global spectra, by successively lifting the k-invariants in the Postnikov tower of global spectra to ones for ultra-commutative ring spectra, and then studying convergence of the resulting tower of ultra-commutative ring spectra. This idea goes back to Kriz [39] and is for example explained in [12, Section 4, esp. Corollary 4.6]. There, this theory is used in order to show that the Brown-Peterson spectrum BP supports an E_4 -multiplication. Moreover, this obstruction theory can also be used to study maps between ring spectra.

In the classical story, a Postnikov tower is determined by its k-invariants, elements of the cohomology of the successively defined stages of the tower, which are used to construct the next stage as a homotopy fiber. We first explain how this step can be carried out in the category of ultra-commutative ring spectra, where the correct cohomology theory is topological André-Quillen cohomology.

Construction 2.2.8. Let R be an ultra-commutative ring spectrum, and B be a commutative R-algebra. Let moreover M be a B-module. Then we have an identification

$$\operatorname{TAQ}_{e}^{n}(B,R;M) \cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{Mod}_{B})(\Omega_{B/R},\Sigma^{n}M) \cong \operatorname{Ho}(\operatorname{CAlg}_{R}/B)(B,B \ltimes \Sigma^{n}M)$$

by the defining adjunction for the abelianization functor.

Thus, if we are given a class $k \in \text{TAQ}_e^n(B, R; M)$, we consider it as a morphism $B \to B \ltimes \Sigma^n M$ of commutative *R*-algebras over *B*. Then, we form the homotopy pullback

$$\begin{array}{ccc} B[k] & \longrightarrow & B \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow^{\iota} \\ B & \longrightarrow & B \ltimes \Sigma^n M \end{array}$$

in the category of *R*-algebras over *B*, where the right vertical map is the inclusion of a wedge summand. We call B[k] an extension of *B* by the element $k \in \text{TAQ}_{e}^{n}(B, R; M)$.

We moreover consider the projection map pr: $B \ltimes \Sigma^n M \to \Sigma^n M$. This map is the same as the projection used to define the universal derivation $d_{B/R}$: $B \to \Omega_{B/R}$, and hence we see that the induced map

$$d^*_{B/R}$$
: TAQⁿ(B, R; M) $\rightarrow \underline{H}^n(B, R; M)$

from topological André-Quillen cohomology to usual (Bredon) cohomology, represented by the spectrum B, sends k to $\operatorname{pr} \circ k$. From this, we conclude that the R-module underlying B[k] is the homotopy fiber of the map $\operatorname{pr} \circ k \colon B \to \Sigma^n M$ of R-modules.

Theorem 2.2.9. Let R be a connective ultra-commutative ring spectrum. Then there is a sequence R_0, \ldots, R_n, \ldots of commutative R-algebras, equipped with maps $R_{n+1} \to R_n$ of commutative R-algebras, and elements $k_n \in TAQ_e^{n+2}(R_n, R; H_{\underline{\pi}_{n+1}}(R))$, such that the following properties are satisfied:

- *i*) $R_0 \cong H_{\underline{\pi}_0}(R)$, and $R_n \cong R_{n-1}[k_{n-1}]$,
- ii) $\underline{\pi}_k(R_n) = 0$ for k > n,
- iii) the unit maps $\eta_n \colon R \to R_n$ are (n+1)-equivalences.

Proof. We define $R_0 = H\underline{\pi}_0(R)$ as an Eilenberg-MacLane spectrum for the global power functor $\underline{\pi}_0(R)$. By [55, Theorem 5.4.14], this carries the structure of an ultra-commutative ring spectrum.

Moreover, as discussed before the cited theorem, we obtain a map $\eta_0: R \to H\underline{\pi}_0(R)$ of ultracommutative ring spectra, which is an isomorphism on $\underline{\pi}_0$. Hence this serves as a first stage of the required Postnikov tower.

We now suppose we have constructed the required sequence of R-algebras up to level n. Then, the map $\eta_n \colon R \to R_n$ is an (n+1)-equivalence, and $\underline{\pi}_{n+2}(R_n) = \underline{\pi}_{n+1}(R_n) = 0$. Hence, by the Hurewicz theorem 2.2.7 we observe that $\Omega_{R_n/R}$ is (n+1)-connected and has $\underline{\pi}_{n+2}(\Omega_{R_n/R}) \cong$ $\underline{\pi}_{n+1}(R)$. Thus, we get a map $\tilde{k}_n \colon \Omega_{R_n/R} \to \Sigma^{n+2} H \underline{\pi}_{n+1}(R)$ of R-modules realizing this equivalence on $\underline{\pi}_{n+1}$. This map corresponds to an element $k_n \in \text{TAQ}_e^{n+2}(R_n, R; H \underline{\pi}_{n+1}(R))$, and by adjunction to a map $k_n \colon R_n \to R_n \ltimes \Sigma^{n+2} H \underline{\pi}_{n+1}(R)$ of R-algebras. We then define $R_{n+1} = R_n[k_n]$. This comes equipped with a map $R_{n+1} \to R_n$ of R-algebras. Since as an R-module, R_{n+1} is the homotopy fiber of the map $R_n \xrightarrow{d_{R_n/R}} \Omega_{R_n/R} \xrightarrow{\tilde{k}_n} \Sigma^{n+2} H \underline{\pi}_{n+1}(R)$, we observe that the morphism $R \to R_n$ is indeed an (n+2)-equivalence, and the higher homotopy groups of R_{n+1} vanish. Thus, the theorem follows by induction.

Remark 2.2.10. We note that the above theorem also shows that the k-invariants of the Postnikov tower of R-modules and the k-invariants of the Postnikov tower of R-algebras are linked by the map

$$d^*_{B/R}$$
: TAQⁿ(B, R; M) $\rightarrow \underline{H}^n(B, R; M)$

induced by the universal derivation on cohomology. As mentioned before, this can then be used to establish an obstruction theory for maps of ultra-commutative ring spectra and for the existence of ultra-commutative ring structures by considering whether the classical k-invariants lift through this universal comparison map.

Appendix A

Symmetric Groups and Wreath Products

In this section, we recall the definition of wreath products of symmetric groups with arbitrary (finite or compact Lie) groups. These wreath products are used in the definition of the power operations of a global power functor, and we exhibit double cosets and conjugacy classes of elements in wreath products needed in calculations with power operations.

A.1 Definition of the Wreath Product

Definition A.1.1. Let G be a group. Then the wreath product $\Sigma_m \wr G$ is the semi-direct product $\Sigma_m \ltimes G^m$ with respect to the permutation action of Σ_m on the factors of G^m . Elements of $\Sigma_m \wr G$ are denoted $(\sigma; g_1, \ldots, g_m)$, with $\sigma \in \Sigma_m$ and $g_i \in G$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$. Explicitly, the multiplication is given as

$$(\sigma; g_1, \ldots, g_m)(\tau; h_1, \ldots, h_m) = (\sigma\tau; g_{\tau(1)}h_1, \ldots, g_{\tau(m)}h_m).$$

If G is a compact Lie group, then also $\Sigma_m \wr G$ is a compact Lie group.

Remark A.1.2. The wreath product occurs in the definition of power operations in Definition 1.1.18, and one reason for this is that for a G-set X, the wreath product $\Sigma_m \wr G$ naturally acts on the *m*-power X^m by combining the G-action on each factor with the permutation action of Σ_m . On elements, this takes the form

$$(\sigma; g_1, \ldots, g_m)(x_1, \ldots, x_m) = (g_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}x_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \ldots, g_{\sigma^{-1}(m)}x_{\sigma^{-1}(m)}).$$

In particular, if V is a G-representation, this action turns V^m into a $\Sigma_m \wr G$ -representation. Moreover, for a G-set $X, \Sigma_m \wr G$ similarly also acts on the *m*-fold disjoint union $X^{\coprod m}$, by using the G-action of the relevant copy of X and the permutation action of Σ_m . On an element (x, i) in the *i*-th copy of X, with $1 \le i \le m$, we thus have $(\sigma; g_1, \ldots, g_m)(x, i) = (g_i x_i, \sigma^{-1}(i))$ considered as an element in the $\sigma^{-1}(i)$ -th copy of X.

Observe that for small values of m, we obtain that $\Sigma_0 \wr G = e$ is the trivial group and $\Sigma_1 \wr G \cong G$ is the group G itself. The wreath product $\Sigma_m \wr G$ contains G^m as a normal subgroup, represented by the elements where the permutation is the identity, and the quotient by this subgroup is isomorphic to Σ_m . The quotient map splits by setting all G-coordinates to the neutral element of G.

Remark A.1.3. There are various comparison morphisms between products of wreath products and iterated wreath products. These morphisms are used in the formulation of the properties of the power operations. The first two of these morphisms are also described in [55, 2.2.5-6].

i) Let $i \ge 0$ and $j \ge 0$, and let G be a group. Then we define the injective homomorphism

$$\Phi_{i,j} \colon (\Sigma_i \wr G) \times (\Sigma_j \wr G) \to \Sigma_{i+j} \wr G$$
$$((\sigma; g_1, \dots, g_i), (\sigma'; g'_1, \dots, g'_j)) \mapsto (\sigma + \sigma'; g_1, \dots, g_i, g'_1, \dots, g'_j)$$

by concatenating the permutations and the tupels of elements of G. Here + denotes the concatenation of permutations, ie the inclusion $\Sigma_i \times \Sigma_j \hookrightarrow \Sigma_{i+j}$ obtained by identifying $\{1, \ldots, i + j\}$ with $\{1, \ldots, i\} \amalg \{1, \ldots, j\}$.

ii) Let $k \ge 0$ and $m \ge 0$, and let G be a group. Then we define the injective homomorphism

$$\Psi_{k,m} \colon \Sigma_k \wr (\Sigma_m \wr G) \to \Sigma_{km} \wr G$$
$$(\sigma; (\tau_1; g_{1,1}, \dots, g_{1,m}), \dots, (\tau_k; g_{k,1}, \dots, g_{k,m})) \mapsto (\sigma \natural (\tau_1, \dots, \tau_k); g_{1,1}, \dots, g_{1,m}, \dots, g_{k,m}).$$

Here, we use the identification of $\coprod_k \{1, \ldots, m\}$ with $\{1, \ldots, km\}$ by concatenating the k-copies of the set $\{1, \ldots, m\}$. Since $\Sigma_k \wr \Sigma_m$ naturally acts on the first set as described in Remark A.1.2, we thus identify it with a subgroup of "block permutations" in Σ_{km} , and call this inclusion \natural .

iii) Let $m \ge 0$ and G and K be two groups. Then we define the injective homomorphism

$$\Delta_m \colon \Sigma_m \wr (G \times K) \to (\Sigma_m \wr G) \times (\Sigma_m \wr K)$$
$$(\sigma; (g_1, k_1), \dots, (g_m, k_m)) \mapsto ((\sigma; g_1, \dots, g_m), (\sigma; k_1, \dots, k_m))$$

using the diagonal on the symmetric group.

In the verification of the properties of the power operations on a square-zero extension in Theorem 1.2.7, we need two double coset formulas. We explain these double coset formulas here. They are also utilized in a more general form in the comonadic description of power operations in [55, Chapter 5.2, Equations 3, 4 and 12].

Lemma A.1.4. Let $i, j, k, m \ge 0$ and G be a group.

i) There are exactly two double cosets in $((\Sigma_i \wr G) \times (\Sigma_j \wr G)) \setminus \Sigma_{i+j} \wr G/((\Sigma_{i+j-1} \wr G) \times G)$. They may be represented by the permutations $\chi(\varepsilon)$ for $\varepsilon = 0, 1$, defined as

$$\chi(\varepsilon)(t) = \begin{cases} t & \text{for } 1 \leq t \leq i - \varepsilon \\ t + \varepsilon & \text{for } i - \varepsilon + 1 \leq t \leq k - 1 \\ t - j & \text{for } t = k \text{ and } \varepsilon = 1 \\ t & \text{for } t = k \text{ and } \varepsilon = 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus, $\chi(0) = id$, and $\chi(1)$ is a cyclic permutation on the last j + 1 elements, permuting k into the *i*-th position.

The intersections of the two subgroups occurring in the double coset formula are

$$((\Sigma_i \wr G) \times (\Sigma_j \wr G))^{\chi(\varepsilon)} \cap ((\Sigma_{i+j-1} \wr G) \times G) = (\Sigma_{i-\varepsilon} \wr G) \times (\Sigma_{j-1+\varepsilon} \wr G) \times (\Sigma_{\varepsilon} \wr G) \times (\Sigma_{1-\varepsilon} \wr G)$$

and

$$((\Sigma_i\wr G)\times(\Sigma_j\wr G))\cap^{\chi(\varepsilon)}((\Sigma_{i+j-1}\wr G)\times G)=(\Sigma_{i-\varepsilon}\wr G)\times(\Sigma_{\varepsilon}\wr G)\times(\Sigma_{j-1+\varepsilon}\wr G)\times(\Sigma_{1-\varepsilon}\wr G).$$
A.2. CONJUGACY CLASSES IN WREATH PRODUCTS

ii) There is a single double coset in $(\Sigma_k \wr (\Sigma_m \wr G)) \setminus \Sigma_{km} \wr G/((\Sigma_{km-1} \wr G) \times G)$. It is thus represented by the identity element. The relevant intersection of the two subgroups occurring in the double coset formula is

$$(\Sigma_k \wr (\Sigma_m \wr G)) \cap ((\Sigma_{km-1} \wr G) \times G) = (\Sigma_{k-1} \wr (\Sigma_m \wr G)) \times (\Sigma_{m-1} \wr G) \times G.$$

This is a subgroup of $\Sigma_k \wr (\Sigma_m \wr G)$ via the inclusion

$$(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(\Sigma_m\wr G))\times(\Sigma_{m-1}\wr G)\times G\xrightarrow{id\times\Phi_{m-1,1}}(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(\Sigma_m\wr G))\times(\Sigma_m\wr G)\xrightarrow{\Phi_{k-1,1}}\Sigma_k\wr(\Sigma_m\wr G),$$

and a subgroup of $(\Sigma_{km-1} \wr G) \times G$ via the inclusion

$$(\Sigma_{k-1}\wr(\Sigma_m\wr G))\times(\Sigma_{m-1}\wr G)\times G \xrightarrow{\Psi_{k-1,m}\times id\times id} (\Sigma_{(k-1)m}\wr G)\times(\Sigma_{m-1}\wr G)\times G$$
$$\xrightarrow{\Phi_{(k-1)m,m-1}\times id} (\Sigma_{km-1}\wr G)\times G.$$

The proof is a straight-forward calculation, and we omit the details.

A.2 Polynomial Global Power Functors and Conjugacy Classes in Wreath Products

In the main body of this dissertation, we study polynomial global power functors. As global functors, these take the form $\mathbb{A}[x_G] = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \wr G, _)$. We now explicitly describe these polynomial global power functors for small groups G and evaluated at small groups. These calculations are for example used in analysing the transitivity sequence for André-Quillen homology of global power functors in Theorem 1.5.27. As described in Remark 1.1.2, for any compact Lie groups G and K, the group $\mathbb{A}(G, K)$ is free abelian on conjugacy classes of pairs consisting of a subgroup $L \le K$ and a continuous homomorphism $\alpha \colon L \to G$. We describe this data explicitly for small groups.

Remark A.2.1. We first describe the free global power functor generated by an element at the trivial group, for values at small groups. This is

$$\mathbb{A}[x_e](G) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} \mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, G).$$

Recall that we denote the generator of the *m*-th summand, corresponding to the identity in $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, \Sigma_m)$, by $P^m(x)$, since it indeed is the *m*-th power of the generator x. We thus also denote all other elements of this free global power functor in terms of power operations, restrictions and transfers of the generator x.

For G = e, the group $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m, e)$ is free abelian on a single generator, which is the restriction $\operatorname{res}_{e}^{\Sigma_m}(P^m(x)) = x^m$. For $G = \mathbb{Z}/2$, additionally to the composition $\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}\operatorname{res}_e^{\Sigma_m}(P^m(x)) = \operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^m)$, which is the only generator associated to the subgroup $e \leq \mathbb{Z}/2$, there is one generator $\alpha^*(P^m(x))$ for any conjugacy class of homomorphism $\alpha \colon \mathbb{Z}/2 \to \Sigma_m$. Such conjugacy classes of homomorphisms are equivalent to conjugacy classes of elements of order at most 2 in Σ_m . In the symmetric group, the conjugacy class and corresponds to the composition $p_{\mathbb{Z}/2}^*\operatorname{res}_e^{\Sigma_m}(P^m(x)) = p_{\mathbb{Z}/2}^*(x)^m$ of inflation and restriction. Any element of order 2 in the symmetric group is a product of disjoint transpositions. There are $\lfloor \frac{m}{2} \rfloor$ such cycle types. The restriction associated to such an

element containing k disjoint 2-cycles applied to the generating element $P^m(x)$ gives the element $(P^2(x))^k \cdot (p^*_{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x))^{m-2k}$. We thus observe that

$$\mathbb{A}[x_e](\mathbb{Z}/2) \cong \mathbb{Z}[P^2(x), p^*_{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)] \ltimes \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^m)\}.$$

The multiplication on the left summand is the one of a polynomial ring, and all multiplications involving the transfer summand are governed by Frobenius reciprocity (1.1.12) and are again a transfer term. The symbol \ltimes is chosen to reflect this action of the polynomial part of $\mathbb{A}[x_e](\mathbb{Z}/2)$ on the transfer part.

The other case we consider is the polynomial global power functor $\mathbb{A}[x_{\mathbb{Z}/2}]$ generated by an element at $\mathbb{Z}/2$. To analyse this, again at the groups e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$, we need to exhibit conjugacy classes of elements of order at most 2 in $\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2$. Conjugacy classes of elements in wreath products are studied using generalized cycle types in [59, 49], and the results are nicely summarized in [15]. These results can be used to study more generally $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \wr G, K)$ for finite groups G and K. We present the relevant special case for $\mathbb{Z}/2$ here for completeness.

Lemma A.2.2. Let $m \ge 0$. We denote $\mathbb{Z}/2 = \{0, 1\}$ additively.

- i) An element $(\sigma; s_1, \ldots, s_m) \in \Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2$ has order at most 2 if and only if $\sigma \in \Sigma_m$ has order at most 2, ie is a (possibly empty) product of disjoint transpositions, and for any transposition (i, j) occurring in the cycle decomposition of σ , we have $s_i = s_j$.
- ii) Two such elements $(\sigma; s_1, \ldots, s_m), (\tau; t_1, \ldots, t_m) \in \Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2$ of order at most 2 are conjugate if and only if σ and τ have the same cycle type, and the cardinalities of $\{i \in \{1, \ldots, m\} \mid \sigma(i) = i \text{ and } s_i = 1\}$ and $\{j \in \{1, \ldots, m\} \mid \tau(j) = j \text{ and } t_i = 1\}$ agree.

Proof. The results in this lemma are special cases of the decomposition of general wreath products into conjugacy classes, as explained in [59, Satz II] and [49, Theorem 4]. For this classification, any element $(\sigma; s_1, \ldots, s_m)$ is decomposed into a product of elements $(\sigma_i; s_{i,1}, \ldots, s_{i,m})$, where each σ_i is either a cycle occurring in the cycle decomposition of σ or the identity, with every non-trivial cycle occurring exactly once. If σ_i is non-trivial, then $s_{i,j} = 0$ if j is fixed by σ_i , else $s_{i,j} = s_j$. If σ_i is the identity, then there is exactly one j fixed by σ such that $s_{i,j} = s_j \neq 0$, and all other $s_{i,j}$ are trivial. This is the decomposition of an element of the wreath product into so called disjoint wreath cycles.

To any wreath cycle $(\sigma; s_1, \ldots, s_m)$ with $\sigma = (i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_k)$ a k-cycle, we associate the determinant $\Delta = s_{i_1} s_{i_2} \ldots s_{i_k}$. If σ is the identity, then we set the determinant to be the non-trivial entry s_i , or if all entries are trivial, we set the determinant to be the trivial element of G. Then two wreath cycles are conjugate if and only if they have conjugate cycles and their determinants are conjugate in G. The conjugacy class of any element in the wreath product is then determined by its wreath cycle decomposition. The order of a wreath cycle is $|(\sigma; s_1, \ldots, s_m)| = |\sigma| \cdot |\Delta|$, see [49, Theorem 4].

From these statements, we deduce the lemma as the special case for $G = \mathbb{Z}/2$ and elements of order at most 2.

From this description, we are able to calculate the explicit form of the free global power functor $\mathbb{A}[x_{\mathbb{Z}/2}]$ at the groups e and $\mathbb{Z}/2$.

Corollary A.2.3. The free global power functor generated at $\mathbb{Z}/2$ is given as follows:

A.2. CONJUGACY CLASSES IN WREATH PRODUCTS

i) At level e,

$$\mathbb{A}[x_{\mathbb{Z}/2}](e) \cong \mathbb{Z}[\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)]$$

a polynomial ring on the restriction of the generator.

ii) At level $\mathbb{Z}/2$,

$$\mathbb{A}[x_{\mathbb{Z}/2}](\mathbb{Z}/2) \cong \mathbb{Z}[x, P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)), p_{\mathbb{Z}/2}^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x))] \ltimes \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} \mathbb{Z}\{\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^m))\},$$

where the left summand is a polynomial ring on three generators, and the multiplications involving the transfers are given by Frobenius reciprocity (1.1.12).

Proof. The first calculation follows from the fact that $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2, e)$ is a free abelian group generated on the restriction to the trivial group. Applying this restriction to the generator $P^m(x)$ gives $\operatorname{res}_e^{\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2}(P^m(x)) = (\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x))^m$. Hence, we obtain the polynomial ring as claimed. For the value at $\mathbb{Z}/2$, we observe that $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ is free abelian on the following

For the value at $\mathbb{Z}/2$, we observe that $\mathbb{A}(\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2, \mathbb{Z}/2)$ is free abelian on the following generators: There is a single generator that is a transfer, which is of the form $\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2} \operatorname{res}_e^{\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2}$. Applied to $P^m(x)$, we obtain the terms $\operatorname{tr}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x^m))$. Moreover, we have generators given by conjugacy classes of homomorphisms $\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2$. Such conjugacy classes of homomorphisms correspond to conjugacy classes of elements of order at most 2 in $\Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2$, which we classify in Lemma A.2.2. Suppose we consider an element $(\sigma; s_1, \ldots, s_m) \in \Sigma_m \wr \mathbb{Z}/2$ where σ is a product of kdisjoint transpositions, and $|\{i \in \{1, \ldots, m\} \mid \sigma(i) = i \text{ and } s_i = 1\}| = l$. Then the corresponding restriction, applied to $P^m(x)$, yields the element $(P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)))^k \cdot x^l \cdot p_{\mathbb{Z}/2}^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x))^{m-2k-l}$. In total, we observe that the part of $\mathbb{A}[x_{\mathbb{Z}/2}](\mathbb{Z}/2)$ generated by the restrictions is polynomial in the generators $P^2(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x)), x$ and $p_{\mathbb{Z}/2}^*(\operatorname{res}_e^{\mathbb{Z}/2}(x))$. This finishes the calculations. \Box

Appendix B

Model Categories of Non-Unital Commutative Monoids

Recently, the study of ring spectra and commutative ring spectra has become an important field of study in algebraic topology and homotopy theory. This made it necessary to endow the category of (commutative) ring spectra with a framework in which to do homotopy theory. Early results in this direction were obtained by Elmendorf-Kriz-Mandell-May in [23], where the smash product on S-modules was constructed and a model category structure was put on the category of S-modules, which lifts to one on the category of ring spectra. An important point in this construction is that any S-module is fibrant in this model structure. Later, the examples of symmetric and orthogonal spectra with their corresponding model structures defined by Hovey-Shipley-Smith and Mandell-May-Schwede-Shipley [35, 46] provided examples of model categories where not every object is fibrant. In this context, the work [56] of Schwede-Shipley provided formal criteria in the form of the monoid axiom for when the category of modules in a monoidal model category inherits a model structure. Recently, this has been generalized to a formal criterion for when the category of commutative monoids inherits a model structure by White in [66], making use of a commutative monoid axiom.

In this section, we adapt the arguments from [66] to show that the commutative monoid axiom also allows one to put a model structure on the category of non-unital commutative monoids. A similar result was obtained by Basterra [10], but there the condition that every object is fibrant is used in the analysis. Since this is often not the case in applications, and especially not true for the category of orthogonal spectra with the positive global model structure we apply this theory to in Section 2.2, we instead use the commutative monoid axiom.

B.1 The Commutative Monoid Axiom and General Lifting Results

We first recall the definitions of the monoid axiom and the commutative monoid axiom and give the basic result for lifting model structures to categories of algebras over a monad. Using this, the proof of the existence of a model category of non-unital commutative monoids reduces to an analysis of a certain pushout in this category, as it is also the case for associative monoids [56] and for commutative monoids [66]. In absence of a unit map, this analysis will look slightly different, but follows along the same lines.

Let $(\mathcal{C}, \wedge, \mathbb{S})$ be a symmetric monoidal cocomplete category. We always assume that the symmetric monoidal category is closed, such that $X \wedge _$ is a left adjoint for any $X \in \mathcal{C}$. Then the category of non-unital commutative monoids can be described as the category of algebras for the monad $\mathbb{P}^+: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$, which is defined as $\mathbb{P}^+(X) = \bigvee_{n \ge 1} X^{\wedge n} / \Sigma_n$, where \bigvee denotes the

coproduct in the category \mathcal{C} .

We now assume that \mathcal{C} is a cofibrantly generated model category. Then by lifting the model structure of \mathcal{C} to the category of T-algebras for a monad T, we mean transferring the model structure along the adjunction $\mathcal{C} \xleftarrow{T}_{U} \operatorname{Alg}_{T}$, such that weak equivalences and fibrations in Alg_{T}

are precisely the underlying weak equivalences and fibrations respectively. We say that this model structure on Alg_T is inherited by that of \mathcal{C} . The following lemma, which is part of [56, Lemma 2.3] and [66, Lemma 2.1], gives a condition when Alg_T inherits a model structure from \mathcal{C} .

Here and in the following arguments, if K is any class of morphisms in C, we denote by K-cell the class of all morphisms obtained as transfinite compositions of pushouts of morphisms in C. These morphisms are called regular cofibrations in [56].

Lemma B.1.1. Let C be a cofibrantly generated model category with sets I of generating cofibrations and J of generating acyclic cofibrations. Let T be a monad on C which commutes with filtered colimits. Suppose the domains of T(I) and T(J) are small with respect to T(I)-cell and T(J)-cell respectively, and that T(J)-cell is contained in the weak equivalences. Then Alg_T inherits a model structure from C, where weak equivalences and fibrations are the underlying weak equivalences and fibrations, respectively. It is cofibrantly generated, with T(I) as a set of generating cofibrations and T(J) as a set of generating acyclic cofibrations.

If \mathcal{C} is a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category, then the monads $\mathbb{A}(X) = \bigvee_{n\geq 0} X^{\wedge n}$ and $\mathbb{P}(X) = \bigvee_{n\geq 0} X^{\wedge n} / \Sigma_n$ for associative and commutative monoids commute with filtered colimits, as does \mathbb{P}^+ . Then, in [56, Definition 3.3], the following condition is given such that the above lemma applies to the associative monad \mathbb{A} :

Definition B.1.2. Let C be a monoidal model category. We say that C satisfies the monoid axiom if (acyclic cofibrations $\wedge C$)-cell is contained in the weak equivalences.

Similarly, in [66], a condition for \mathbb{P} to satisfy the condition of the above lemma is given:

Definition B.1.3. Let \mathcal{C} be a symmetric monoidal model category. We say that \mathcal{C} satisfies the commutative monoid axiom if for any acyclic cofibration $f: X \to Y$, the map $f^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n$ is an acyclic cofibration for all $n \ge 0$.

In the above definition, the map $f^{\Box n}$ is a generalization of the pushout product map $f \Box g \colon A \land Y \cup_{A \land B} X \land B \to X \land Y$. Explicitly, we consider the cube

$$W: \mathcal{P}(\{1,\ldots,n\}) \to \mathcal{C}, S \mapsto W_1 \land \ldots \land W_n$$

where

$$W_i = \begin{cases} X & \text{if } i \notin S \\ Y & \text{if } i \in S. \end{cases}$$

On an inclusion $S \subset T$, we set $W(S \subset T) = \varphi_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge \varphi_n$, with

$$\varphi_i = \begin{cases} id & \text{if } i \notin T \setminus S \\ f & \text{if } i \in T \setminus S. \end{cases}$$

This defines a map $f^{\Box n} \colon Q_n = \operatorname{colim}_{\mathcal{P}(\{1,\ldots,n\}) \setminus \{\{1,\ldots,n\}\}} W \to W(\{1,\ldots,n\}) = Y^{\wedge n}$. This is Σ_n -equivariant for the action permuting the elements of $\{1,\ldots,n\}$, hence induces the map $f^{\Box n} / \Sigma_n \colon Q_n / \Sigma_n \to \mathbb{P}^n(Y)$.

We also record here a condition introduced in [66] to study the cofibrations of commutative monoids:

B.2. NON-UNITAL COMMUTATIVE MONOIDS

Definition B.1.4. Let \mathcal{C} be a symmetric monoidal model category. We say that \mathcal{C} satisfies the strong commutative monoid axiom if for any cofibration and acyclic cofibration $f: X \to Y$, the map $f^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n$ is a cofibration or acyclic cofibration for all $n \ge 0$, respectively.

Using these properties, the following results hold (see [56, Theorem 4.1] and [66, Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 3.5]):

Theorem B.1.5. Let C be a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category, such that the domains of the generating cofibrations I are small with respect to $(I \wedge C)$ -cell and the domains of the generating acyclic cofibrations J are small with respect to $(J \wedge C)$ -cell.

- i) If C satisfies the monoid axiom, the category Alg of monoids in C inherits a cofibrantly generated model structure. Moreover, if $f: X \to Y$ is a cofibration in Alg such that X is cofibrant in C, then f is a cofibration in C.
- ii) If C satisfies moreover the commutative monoid axiom, then the category CAlg of commutative monoids in C inherits a cofibrantly generated model structure.
- iii) If C satisfies moreover the strong commutative monoid axiom, then if $f: X \to Y$ is a cofibration in CAlg and X is cofibrant in C, then f is a cofibration in C.

B.2 Non-Unital Commutative Monoids

We now prove the analogous statement to Theorem B.1.5 in the case of non-unital commutative monoids. To do so, we follow the same path as in the unital cases, so we prove the following analogue of [56, Lemma 6.2] and [66, Lemma B.1]:

Lemma B.2.1. Let C be a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category with sets I of generating cofibrations and J of generating acyclic cofibrations, and let $\mathbb{P}^+: C \to CAlg^+$ denote the free non-unital commutative monoid functor. If C satisfies the commutative monoid axiom and the monoid axiom, then any morphism in $\mathbb{P}^+(J)$ -cell forgets to a weak equivalence in C.

If moreover C satisfies the strong commutative monoid axiom, then any morphism in $\mathbb{P}^+(I)$ -cell with domain cofibrant in C forgets to a cofibration in C.

The proof of this lemma relies on the following analysis of certain pushouts in the category CAlg⁺ of non-unital commutative monoids, This is analogous to the statements in the proof of [56, Lemma 6.2] and in [66, Lemma B.2].

Construction B.2.2. Let C be a cocomplete symmetric monoidal category. Let $h: K \to L$ and $p: K \to X$ be morphisms in C, where X is a non-unital commutative monoid with multiplication map $\mu: X \land X \to X$. Consider the pushout

in CAlg⁺, where \tilde{p} is the adjoint to p under the free-forgetful adjunction. We claim that the morphism $f: X \to P$ factors as

$$X = P_0 \xrightarrow{f_1} P_1 \xrightarrow{f_2} \dots \to \underset{n \ge 0}{\operatorname{colim}} P_n = P,$$

where we think of P_n as consisting of words on letters in X and L, where we multiply letters in X by the monoid structure, and have at most n letters from L. Formally, P_n and the morphisms $f_n: P_{n-1} \to P_n$ are inductively defined via pushouts in C of the form

$$(\mathbb{S} \lor X) \land (Q_n / \Sigma_n) \xrightarrow{(\mathbb{S} \lor X) \land h^{\Box_n} / \Sigma_n} (\mathbb{S} \lor X) \land \mathbb{P}^n L$$

$$\begin{array}{c} t_n \downarrow \\ P_{n-1} & \downarrow^{T_n} \\ P_n. \end{array}$$

Here, Q_n is again the colimit of the punctured *n*-cube defined by *h*, as explained after Definition B.1.3.

The vertical morphism

$$t_n : (\mathbb{S} \lor X) \land (Q_n / \Sigma_n) \to P_{n-1}$$

is defined as follows:

We first describe this for n = 1. There, we need to define a morphism $(\mathbb{S} \lor X) \land K \cong K \lor (X \land K) \to X$. On K, we define this as p, and on $X \land K$, we define it as

$$X \wedge K \xrightarrow{X \wedge p} X \wedge X \xrightarrow{\mu} X.$$

For n > 1, we write $(\mathbb{S} \vee X) \wedge (Q_n/\Sigma_n) \cong (Q_n/\Sigma_n) \vee (X \wedge (Q_n/\Sigma_n))$, and then define the map to P_{n-1} on both wedge summands inductively. To simplify notation, let $\varepsilon \in \{0, 1\}$, such that $X^{\wedge \varepsilon} \in \{\mathbb{S}, X\}$. Then we define a map on each vertex of the punctured cube and then argue that this descends to the colimit. This induces a morphism on $X^{\wedge \varepsilon} \wedge (Q_n/\Sigma_n)$, since $X^{\wedge \varepsilon} \wedge _$ preserves colimits.

So let $S \subsetneq \{1, \ldots, n\}$ be a proper subset. On the vertex $X^{\wedge \varepsilon} \land W_1 \land \ldots \land W_n$ of the cube indexed by S, we define a map t_S to P_{n-1} as

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X^{\wedge \varepsilon} \wedge W_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge W_n & \stackrel{\wedge p}{\longrightarrow} X^{\wedge \varepsilon} \wedge W'_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge W'_n & \stackrel{\text{shuffle}}{\longrightarrow} X^{\wedge (n-|S|+\varepsilon)} \wedge L^{\wedge |S|} \\ & \downarrow^{\mu \wedge L^{\wedge |S|}} \\ P_{n-1} & \longleftarrow & f_{n-1} \circ \ldots \circ f_{|S|+1} \end{array} & P_{|S|} \leftarrow & T_{|S|} & X \wedge \mathbb{P}^{|S|}L \leftarrow & \text{pr} & X \wedge L^{\wedge |S|}. \end{array}$$

Here, the map labelled $\wedge p$ applies the map $p: K \to X$ to any factor K inside $W_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge W_n$. There is at least one K, since S is a proper subset of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$. Then, we denote

$$W'_i = \begin{cases} X & \text{if } i \notin S \\ L & \text{if } i \in S. \end{cases}$$

The map $T_{|S|}$ was already constructed by induction, and we restrict it here to the summand $X \wedge \mathbb{P}^{|S|}L$.

We claim that this defines objects P_n for all $n \ge 0$ and morphisms $f_n: P_{n-1} \to P_n$ fitting into pushouts as stated. The arguments are exactly analogous to those carried out in the commutative case at the beginning of [66, Proof of Lemma B.2]. In our case, the factor $X \land _$ may fall away, but this does not change the argument.

Now, we have defined the sequence

$$X = P_0 \xrightarrow{f_1} P_1 \to \dots$$

B.2. NON-UNITAL COMMUTATIVE MONOIDS

We define $P = \operatorname{colim}_{n \ge 0} P_n$. This receives maps $f: X = P_0 \to P$ and $L = \mathbb{P}^1 L \xrightarrow{T_1} P_1 \to P$, hence it fits into a diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
K & \stackrel{h}{\longrightarrow} & L \\
p & & \downarrow \\
X & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & P. \end{array}$$
(B.2.4)

This diagram commutes, since by definition of P_1 , the corresponding diagram with P_1 in the lower right corner commutes, and the above diagram is obtained from this by applying $P_1 \rightarrow P$.

Lemma B.2.5. Let C be a cocomplete symmetric monoidal category. Let $h: K \to L$ and $p: K \to X$ be morphisms in C, where X is a non-unital commutative monoid. Then the object P defined in Construction B.2.2 can be endowed with the structure of a non-unital commutative monoid, such that the morphism $f: X \to P$ is a morphism of commutative monoids and (B.2.4) induces the pushout-square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbb{P}^+ K & \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}^+ h} & \mathbb{P}^+ L \\ & \stackrel{\tilde{p}}{\downarrow} & & \downarrow \\ & X & \xrightarrow{f} & P \end{array}$$

in $CAlg^+$.

Proof. We begin by defining the multiplication. It is induced by compatible maps $P_n \wedge P_m \rightarrow P_{n+m}$. Such a map is defined inductively by using the pushout diagram

where we abbreviated $X_+ = \mathbb{S} \vee X$ and $\hat{Q}_n = Q_n / \Sigma_n$. The upper left span, of which $P_n \wedge P_m$ is the pushout, admits a morphism to the span in the pushout square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X_{+} \land \tilde{Q}_{n+m-1} \longrightarrow X_{+} \land \mathbb{P}^{n+m} L \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ P_{n+m-1} \longrightarrow P_{n+m} \end{array}$$

by multiplying the X_+ -factors in the top row and using the maps $P_{n-1} \wedge P_m \to P_{n+m-1}$ and $P_n \wedge P_{m-1} \to P_{n+m-1}$ provided by the induction hypothesis. Hence, taking pushouts provides the map $P_n \wedge P_m \to P_{n+m}$.

That this map induces a multiplication map $P \wedge P \to P$ which makes P into a non-unital commutative monoid, that $f: X \to P$ is a monoid map and that P is the pushout of the diagram (B.2.3) in CAlg⁺ follows analogous to the proof for unital commutative monoids in [66, Proof of Lemma B.2].

Using this description of pushouts in non-unital commutative monoids, we can now prove B.2.1. The proof is completely analogous to that of [66, Lemma B.1]

Proof of Lemma B.2.1. Let \mathcal{C} be a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category which satisfies the monoid and the commutative monoid axiom. Let F be any map in $\mathbb{P}^+(J)$ -cell. This means that F is a transfinite composition of pushouts f of the form (B.2.3). By the above Lemma B.2.5, f is a (transfinite) composition of pushouts in \mathcal{C} of maps of the form $X_+ \wedge h^{\Box n} / \Sigma_n$, where h is an acyclic cofibration and X is some object in \mathcal{C} . By the commutative monoid axiom, $h^{\Box n} / \Sigma_n$ is an acyclic cofibration. By the monoid axiom, any transfinite composition of pushouts of morphisms of the form $Y \wedge j$ is a weak equivalence, where j are acyclic cofibrations. Since Fis such a transfinite composition, this proves that F is a weak equivalence.

Assume now that \mathcal{C} also satisfies the strong commutative monoid axiom. Let G be a morphism in $\mathbb{P}^+(I)$ -cell with cofibrant domain. Then we can write G as a transfinite composition of maps gwhich arise as pushouts of the form (B.2.3), where h is a cofibration. It suffices to prove that if the domain X of g is cofibrant, then g is a cofibration, since transfinite compositions of cofibrations are cofibrations. We can write g as a transfinite composition of pushouts in \mathcal{C} of maps of the form $X_+ \wedge (h^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n) \cong (h^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n) \vee (X \wedge (h^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n))$. By the strong commutative monoid axiom, $h^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n$ is a cofibration, and since X is cofibrant, also $X \wedge (h^{\Box n}/\Sigma_n)$ is a cofibration. Thus, gis a transfinite composition of cofibrations, hence itself a cofibration in \mathcal{C} .

Using this result, we can invoke Lemma B.1.1 to obtain the model structure on non-unital commutative monoids. By considering the category of R-modules for any commutative monoid R as the base category, we also obtain by the same arguments a model structure on the category of non-unital R-algebras.

Theorem B.2.6. Let C be a cofibrantly generated symmetric monoidal model category, such that the domains of the generating cofibrations I are small with respect to $(I \land C)$ -cell and the domains of the generating acyclic cofibrations J are small with respect to $(J \land C)$ -cell. Let R be a commutative monoid in C.

Suppose that C satisfies the monoid axiom and the commutative monoid axiom. Then the category CAlg_R^+ of non-unital R-algebras inherits a cofibrantly generated model structure from C, in which a morphism is a weak equivalence or fibration if and only if its underlying morphism in C is. If moreover C satisfies the strong commutative monoid axiom, then any cofibration in CAlg_R^+

If moreover C satisfies the strong commutative monoid axiom, then any cofibration in CAlg with domain cofibrant in C forgets to a cofibration in C.

Bibliography

- [1] Michel André. Méthode simpliciale en algèbre homologique et algèbre commutative, volume 32 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1967.
- [2] Michel André. Homologie des algèbres commutatives, volume 206 of Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1974.
- [3] Vigleik Angeltveit. Topological Hochschild homology and cohomology of A_{∞} ring spectra. Geometry & Topology, 12(2):987–1032, 2008.
- Shôrô Araki and Hirosi Toda. Multiplicative structures in mod q cohomology theories. I. Osaka Journal of Mathematics, 2:71–115, 1965.
- [5] Andrew Baker, Helen Gilmour, and Philipp Reinhard. Topological André-Quillen homology for cellular commutative S-algebras. Abhandlungen aus dem Mathematischen Seminar der Universität Hamburg, 78(1):27–50, 2008.
- [6] Michael Barr. Cohomology and obstructions: Commutative algebras. In Sem. on Triples and Categorical Homology Theory (ETH, Zürich, 1966/67), volume 80 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 357–375. Springer, Berlin, 1969.
- [7] Michael Barr. Cartan-Eilenberg cohomology and triples. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 112(3):219–238, 1996.
- [8] Michael Barr and Jon Beck. Acyclic models and triples. In Proc. Conf. Categorical Algebra (La Jolla, Calif., 1965), pages 336–343. Springer, New York, 1966.
- [9] Michael Barr and Jon Beck. Homology and standard constructions. In Sem. on Triples and Categorical Homology Theory (ETH, Zürich, 1966/67), volume 80 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 245–335. Springer, Berlin, 1969.
- [10] Maria Basterra. André-Quillen cohomology of commutative S-algebras. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 144(2):111–143, 1999.
- [11] Maria Basterra and Michael A. Mandell. Homology and cohomology of E_{∞} ring spectra. Mathematische Zeitschrift, 249(4):903–944, 2005.
- [12] Maria Basterra and Michael A. Mandell. The multiplication on BP. Journal of Topology, 6(2):285–310, 2013.
- [13] Jonathan Mock Beck. Triples, algebras and cohomology. Reprints in Theory and Applications of Categories, 2:1–59, 2003. Reprint of the PhD-thesis from 1967.
- [14] Julia E. Bergner. Rigidification of algebras over multi-sorted theories. Algebraic & Geometric Topology, 6:1925–1955, 2006.

- [15] Dominik Bernhardt, Alice C. Niemeyer, Friedrich Rober, and Lucas Wollenhaupt. Conjugacy classes and centralisers in wreath products. *Journal of Symbolic Computation*, 113:97– 125, 2022.
- [16] J. M. Boardman and R. M. Vogt. Homotopy invariant algebraic structures on topological spaces, volume 347 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1973.
- [17] Francis Borceux. Handbook of categorical algebra. 2: Categories and structures, volume 51 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- [18] Serge Bouc. Biset functors for finite groups, volume 1990 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010.
- [19] R. R. Bruner, J. P. May, J. E. McClure, and M. Steinberger. H_{∞} ring spectra and their applications, volume 1176 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986.
- [20] Robert Burklund. Multiplicative structures on Moore spectra. arXiv:2203.14787, March 2022.
- [21] Brian Day. On closed categories of functors. In Reports of the Midwest Category Seminar, IV, volume 137 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 1–38. Springer, Berlin, 1970.
- [22] B. Eckmann and P. J. Hilton. Group-like structures in general categories. I. Multiplications and comultiplications. *Mathematische Annalen*, 145:227–255, 1961/62.
- [23] A. D. Elmendorf, I. Kriz, M. A. Mandell, and J. P. May. *Rings, modules, and algebras in stable homotopy theory*, volume 47 of *Mathematical Surveys and Monographs*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997. With an appendix by M. Cole.
- [24] Nora Ganter. Global Mackey functors with operations and n-special lambda rings. arXiv:1301.4616.
- [25] Murray Gerstenhaber. On the deformation of rings and algebras. II. Annals of Mathematics, 84:1–19, 1966.
- [26] P. G. Goerss and M. J. Hopkins. Moduli spaces of commutative ring spectra. In Structured ring spectra, volume 315 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 151–200. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [27] A. Grothendieck. Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. I. Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques. Publications Mathématiques, 20:259, 1964.
- [28] Markus Hausmann. Global group laws and equivariant bordism rings. Annals of Mathematics. Second Series, 195(3):841–910, 2022.
- [29] M. A. Hill, M. J. Hopkins, and D. C. Ravenel. On the nonexistence of elements of Kervaire invariant one. Ann. of Math. (2), 184(1):1–262, 2016.
- [30] Michael A. Hill. On the André-Quillen homology of Tambara functors. Journal of Algebra, 489:115–137, 2017.

- [31] Michael A. Hill and Kristen Mazur. An equivariant tensor product on Mackey functors. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 223(12):5310–5345, 2019.
- [32] Michael A. Hill, David Mehrle, and James D. Quigley. Free incomplete Tambara functors are almost never flat. *International Mathematics Research Notices*, January 2022. https://doi.org/10.1093/imrn/rnab361.
- [33] Philip S. Hirschhorn. Model categories and their localizations., volume 99 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [34] Mark Hovey. Model categories, volume 63 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- [35] Mark Hovey, Brooke Shipley, and Jeff Smith. Symmetric spectra. Journal of the American Mathematical Society, 13(1):149–208, 2000.
- [36] Luc Illusie. Complexe cotangent et déformations. I, volume 239 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1971.
- [37] Anders Kock. Monads on symmetric monoidal closed categories. *Archiv der Mathematik*, 21:1–10, 1970.
- [38] Anders Kock. Closed categories generated by commutative monads. Australian Mathematical Society. Journal. Series A. Pure Mathematics and Statistics, 12:405–424, 1971.
- [39] Igor Kriz. Towers of E_{∞} -ring spectra with an application to BP. Unpublished preprint, 1993.
- [40] Tyler Lawson. Secondary power operations and the Brown-Peterson spectrum at the prime 2. Annals of Mathematics. Second Series, 188(2):513–576, 2018.
- [41] F. William Lawvere. Functorial semantics of algebraic theories and some algebraic problems in the context of functorial semantics of algebraic theories. *Reprints in Theory and Applications of Categories*, 5:1–121, 2004. Reprinted from Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 50 (1963), 869–872 [MR0158921] and Reports of the Midwest Category Seminar. II, 41–61, Springer, Berlin, 1968 [MR0231882].
- [42] Ethan Jacob Leeman. Andre-Quillen (co)homology and equivariant stable homotopy theory. PhD thesis, University of Texas at Austin, 2019.
- [43] L. Gaunce Lewis, Jr. The theory of Green functors. Unpublished preprint, 1980.
- [44] L. Gaunce Lewis, Jr. When projective does not imply flat, and other homological anomalies. Theory and Applications of Categories, 5(9):202–250, 1999.
- [45] S. Lichtenbaum and M. Schlessinger. The cotangent complex of a morphism. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 128:41–70, 1967.
- [46] M. A. Mandell, J. P. May, S. Schwede, and B. Shipley. Model categories of diagram spectra. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 82(2):441–512, 2001.
- [47] John McCleary. A user's guide to spectral sequences, volume 58 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2001.
- [48] Hiroyuki Nakaoka. Ideals of Tambara functors. Advances in Mathematics, 230(4-6):2295– 2331, 2012.

- [49] Oystein Ore. Theory of monomial groups. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 51:15–64, 1942.
- [50] Irakli Patchkoria and Piotr Pstrągowski. Adams spectral sequences and Franke's algebraicity conjecture. arXiv:211003669, October 2021.
- [51] Piotr Pstrągowski. Chromatic homotopy theory is algebraic when $p > n^2 + n + 1$. Advances in Mathematics, 391:Article 107958, 37, 2021.
- [52] Daniel G. Quillen. *Homotopical algebra*, volume 43 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1967.
- [53] Daniel G. Quillen. On the (co-) homology of commutative rings. In Applications of Categorical Algebra (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XVII, New York, 1968), pages 65–87. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1970.
- [54] Balak Ram. Common factors of $\frac{n!}{m!(n-m)!}$, (m = 1, 2, ..., n-1). The Journal of the Indian Mathematical Club, 1(2):39–43, 1909.
- [55] Stefan Schwede. *Global homotopy theory*, volume 34 of *New Mathematical Monographs*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2018.
- [56] Stefan Schwede and Brooke E. Shipley. Algebras and modules in monoidal model categories. Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society. Third Series, 80(2):491–511, 2000.
- [57] Andrew Senger. The Brown-Peterson spectrum is not $\mathbb{E}_{2(p^2+2)}$ at odd primes. arXiv:1710.09822, October 2017.
- [58] Michael Shulman. Comparing composites of left and right derived functors. New York J. Math., 17:75–125, 2011.
- [59] Wilhelm Specht. Eine Verallgemeinerung der symmetrischen Gruppe. Schriften des mathematischen Seminars und des Instituts f
 ür angewandte Mathematik der Universit
 ät Berlin, 1(1), 1932.
- [60] Michael Stahlhauer. G_{∞} -ring spectra. Master's thesis, University of Bonn, 2018.
- [61] Michael Stahlhauer. G_{∞} -ring spectra and Moore spectra for β -rings. to appear in Algebraic and Geometric Topology, 2022.
- [62] Neil Strickland. Tambara functors. arXiv:1205.2516.
- [63] D. Tambara. On multiplicative transfer. Communications in Algebra, 21(4):1393–1420, 1993.
- [64] Friedrich Ulmer. On cotriple and André (co)homology, their relationship with classical homological algebra. In Sem. on Triples and Categorical Homology Theory (ETH, Zürich, 1966/67), volume 80 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pages 376–398. Springer, Berlin, 1969.
- [65] Peter Webb. A guide to Mackey functors. In Handbook of algebra. Volume 2, pages 805–836. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 2000.
- [66] David White. Model structures on commutative monoids in general model categories. Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 221(12):3124–3168, 2017.